Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178 Filed 01/09/24 Page 1 of 1 PagelD 40993

BTXN 049 (rev. 03/15)

In Re:

Highland Capital Management, L.P.

HIGHLAND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, L.P.

VS.

NEXPOINT ASSET MANAGEMENT; et al

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

Case No.: 19-34054-sgjl11

Debtor(s) Chapter No.: 11

Appellant(s)

Appellee(s)

W DN LN LD LN LN DN LN LN LN LY LN LN

NOTICE OF TRANSMITTAL

| am transmitting:

-

-
-
-
-

v
-

The Motion for leave to Appeal 28 U.S.C. § (USDC Civil Action No. DNC Case).

The Motion for Stay Pending Appeal (USDC Action No. — DNC Case).

The Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

The Motion to Extend Time To File Designation (USDC Civil Action No DNC Case).

On , the Record on Appeal was transmitted. The designation of record or item(s) designated by

were not filed when the record was transmitted. The item(s) were filed on awaiting instructions
from the assigned district judge.

Other Transmitting 233 appellant volumes for a 5th circuit appeal: 23-10911.

Copies of:

TO ALL ATTORNEYS: File all subsequent papers captioned and numbered with the appropriate division of the
United States District Clerk's Office. Any questions concerning this proceeding should be directed to the U.S. Distri
Clerk's Office at (214) 753-2200.

DATED: 1/9/24 FOR THE COURT:

Robert P. Colwell, Clerk of Court

by: /s/J. Blanco, Deputy Clerk

1934054240109000000000006


¨1¤}HV8!)     &£«

1934054240109000000000006


Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 1 of 200 PagelD 40994

Page 106 Page 107

1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 A. ldon't believe so. 2 least going back as far as 2008, would you want to
3 Q. Do you have any information at all to 3 amend your report in any way?

4 support the statement that throughout this period, 4 A. Well, then the sentence wouldn't be

5 Mr. Dondero received loans in lieu of additional 5 true if the loans weren't a form of deferred

6 current compensation other than what Mr. Dondero 6 compensation.

7 specifically told you? 7 So if the facts changed, then the

8 A.  For him specifically, it's relying on 8 report would need to be changed.

9 what Mr. Dondero said. 9 Q. Soletme state it a different way.
10 Q. Okay. 10 Would your opinions change if you
11 You haven't seen any documents that 11 assume thatin the 11 years prior to the

12 support that statement, do you - did you? 12 bankruptcy filing Highland never forgave any loan
13 A. Ihave not-I have not seen any 13 inwhole or in part that it had extended to

14 documents, no. 14 Mr. Dondero.

15 Q. Would your opinions change if you 15 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

16 leamed that for at least the 11 years prior to 16 A. No, I don't - don't think that — |

17 the bankruptcy filing, Mr. Dondero never received 17 don't think that sentence would change that, no.
18 asingle loan in lieu of compensation? 18 Q. Okay.

19 A, I'm-Idon'tunderstand the 19 I'm not talking about the sentence
20 question. I'msory. 20 itself, butif | could prove to you today that
21 Q. Thisis the first paragraph of your 21 there's no written record of Highland ever
22 expert report that we're looking at, right? 22 forgiving a loan to Mr. Dondero, would that have
23 What if | told you that the sentence 23 animpact at all on your opinions?
24 "Throughout this period, he received loans in lieu 24 A. I don't think the written record would
25 of additional current compensation” was false at 25 change my opinion. |think he — he had stated to
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 me thatthe — the - that a lot of these loans 2 description of any loan ever being given to

3 were made as a form of deferred compensation with 3 Mr. Dondero that was forgiven in whole or in part.
4 the intent to be forgiven at some point in the 4 Do you remember all those assumptions?
5 future. 5 A. Ibelieve so.

6 Q. Allright. I'm going to ask you to 6 Q. Okay.

7 assume the following facts: Forthe 11 years 7 If you assume that each of those

8 prior to the petition date, other than the three 8 assumptions is, in fact, true, would you have any
9 loans that were outstanding as of the petition 9 basis at all to conclude that Mr. Dondero received
10 date, Mr. Dondero received three loans from 10 loans in lieu of additional compensation in the

11 Highland. Okay? 11 decade before Highland filed for bankruptcy?

12 So that's assumption No. 1, that 12 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

13 between 2008 and 2019, Mr. Dondero received three 13 A.  Well, in trying to answer the

14 loans from Highland. 14 question, the — | think a lot of the loans here,

15 Assumption No. 2, that Mr. Dondero 15 as | recall, were for different entiies and

16 paid Highland all principal and interest due under 16 different, you know, amounts and situations.

17 allthree loans. 17 So if - if the - either hypothetical

18 Assumption No. 3: The last of those 18 or the assumptions we're making here, that the
19 three loans was taken out in January 2018 and was 19 loans eventually were not forgiven, | don't know
20 paid back in full plus interest in December 2019. 20 ifthe — they were intended to be forgiven and
21 The next assumption: Mr. Dondero has 21 justweren't or we're talking about other loans
22 ftestified that any loan that Highland actually 22 that are outside the three that you — that you
23 forgave would be described in Highland's audited 23 mentioned.
24 financial statements and that in those financial 24 Q. Isitfairto say that neither
25 statements going back to 2008, there's no 25 Mr. Dondero nor the Stinson firm ever shared with
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 you the fact that Mr. Dondero had received three 2 A. ldidn'tthink it was relevant.

3 loans that are not the subject of this litigation? 3 Q. Did you ever ask Mr. Dondero how he
4 A, lwas aware that | believe there were 4 reconciled the payment of principal and interest

5 loans that were not subject to litigation that had 5 due on the notes prior o the petition date but

6 been paid off or other types of things. |was 6 his treatment of the notes pursuant to the

7 aware of that. 7 agreement that's been described to you?

8 Q. Howdid you leam that? 8 A. Ididnot.

9 A.  |think 've seen materials that 9 Q. Areyou curious at all as to why he

10 listed loans that showed principals paid off and 10 paid off some of the notes but not others?

11 soforth, but | think I've been — | know they 11 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

12 were loans — | believe | recall that they were 12 A. Yeah, 'm probably curious. It's

13 loans outside of what's being disputed. 13 convoluted enough, I'm a curious person, so yeah,
14 Q. I'msomy. 14 I'd probably be curious to understand all the ins
15 A. No, lwasdone. I'msory. 15 and outs.

16 Q. Did you ever discuss that with 16 Q. Didit cause you any discomfort that

17 Mr. Dondero? 17 Mr. Dondero paid certain loans off in full but the
18 A. Ididnot. 18 only loans that he didn't pay off in full were the
19 Q. Do you have any knowledge as to why he 19 loans that existed as of the petition date”?
20 paid back some loans and others were supposed to 20 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
21 be treated as compensation? 21 A, Well, isn't that by definition true?
22 A, Ido not know. 22 Ifthey've already been paid off, they couldn't
23 Q. Isthere any reason you didn't 23 exist as of the pefition date, right?
24 disclose in your report that Mr. Dondero had 24 Isn't that just — am | missing
25 received loans that he had paid back”? 25 something?
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 Q. Well, you told me that, from the 2 that statement is what Mr. Dondero told you,

3 review of the documents, you understood that there 3 cormect?

4 were loans that Mr. Dondero had taken out that had 4 A.  Forhimself, that is true, and then

5 been paid offin full. Is that right? 5 the other four executives provided a little bit of

6 A, Yes, I recall that | was aware that 6 history on the use of such loans within the

7 there were loans that had been paid off. |was 7 company.

8 aware of that. 8 Q. Anditdidn't concem you at all that

9 Q. And so paying back the loans is 9 certain loans were paid back and that certain

10 certainly not — would you agree with me that if 10 loans, according to Mr. Dondero, are subject to
11 he —that if he was paying back the loans, then 11 this agreement that he entered into with the

12 he didn't receive the loans in lieu of additional 12 company?

13 current compensation? 13 A.  Ithink that would be something that

14 A. Yeah, when | wrote the report, maybe | 14 if - certainly, | would have asked him about, but
15 should have parsed out that, but | think | was 15 that certainly would be something to - to discuss
16 focusing on that there were loans that were 16 with him, yes.

17 deferred compensation. 17 Q. Butyou haven'tdone that as of today,
18 | guess what we're saying is there may 18 comect?

19 have been other loans that were not deferred 19 A. Ihavenot.
20 compensation. They were more run-of-the-mil 20 Q. And nobody has explained to you why he
21 obligations, so if that's the point we're making, 21 paid back certain loans but certain other loans
22 butlthink what | was trying to address here, 22 were supposed to be provided in lieu of additional
23 that there were loans made that were intended to 23 current compensation, right?
24 be deferred compensation. 24 A, That'sright.
25 Q. And the only basis that you have for 25 Q. Okay.

TSG Reporting - Worldwide

877-702-9580

Appx. 01986




Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 3 of 200 PagelD 40996

Page 114 Page 115
1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON
2 The next sentence in this paragraph 2 compensation.
3 says - and | just want to make sure that I'm 3 Q. And that practice is very important to
4 quoting this correctly — "Consistent with company 4 your opinions, right?
5 practice, the loans were considered a form of 5 A, Well, it - it — as | said earlier,
6 deferred compensation that could be realized over 6 my opinion is about the use of loans in private
7 time as the loans were forgiven and the income 7 financial services companies and what his market
8 recognized by the individuals." 8 value, his compensation, would be.
9 Have | read that correctly? 9 Q. Butactually, the practice that was
10 A. Yes. 10 described to you by Mr. Dondero and these four
11 Q. Why did you include that sentence in 11 former employees, you relied upon to determine
12 your report? 12 that Highland had a practice and that the
13 A.  Well, from talking to the four former 13 forgiveness of the loans in this instance would be
14 executives and himself, he described a company 14 consistent with that practice. Is that right?
15 practice of having using loans as deferred 15 A.  That'sright.
16 compensation. In his words, it was called 16 MR.MORRIS: Let's tum to page 16 of
17 "delayed gratification." 17 the report.
18 So you had these loans that were 18 Q. This s your conclusion, right?
19 intended to provide capital to invest in the 19 A Yes.
20 business, and they would eventually be forgiven 20 Q. Andinthe middle, it says,
21 and then the income would be recognized by the 21 "Additionally, itis my opinion that the loans
22 individual. 22 provided to Mr. Dondero should be considered
23 So the four of them and himself had 23 potential deferred compensation as they were
24 described a company practice of using these loans 24 similar to loans given to other professionals at
25 to-—you know, as a form of deferred 25 thefim."
Page 116 Page 117
1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON
2 Have | read that correctly? 2 the largest loan you have been informed has ever
3 A Yes. 3 been forgiven was $500,000 or thereabouts.
4 Q. Andis the information that supports 4 Do | have that right?
5 your opinion in that sentence based solely on what 5 A. That's what I'm aware of, yes.
6 was told to you by Mr. Dondero and the four 6 Q. And Mr. Dondero has told you that
7 individuals? 7 there's 40 to $50 million in loans that he
8 A. Yes. 8 contends are the subject of an agreement?
9 Q. You have no documents that support 9 A, ldon'tknow if he told me the 40 to
10 thatsentence. Isthat correct? 10 50 million, but | think I've seen that in various
1 A.  That's correct. 11 spreadsheets or numbers. That's the number |
12 Q. Andlassume, as a dutiful expert, you 12 believe - at least that | recall that's in
13 asked for any documentation that might concem or 13 dispute.
14 relate to the prior practice. Is that right? 14 Q. Soisitfairto say that the
15 A. That'sright. 15 aggregate value of the loans that are the subject
16 Q. Justlooking at the sentence itself, 16 to the agreement that Mr. Dondero described for
17 what do you mean by the loans being "similar to 17 you concem loans that are 80 to 100 times larger
18 loans given to other professionals at the firm"? 18 than the largest loan you have been told has ever
19 A. Justthat they would be forgiven. | 19 been forgiven by Highland?
20 mean that deferred compensation at some point 20 A.  Itis much - itis much large than
21 would be —would be forgiven. 21 any loan I'm familiar with, yes.
22 Q. They're certainly not similar in 22 Q. Did anybody ever tell you that
23 amount. Is that fair? 23 Highland had ever forgiven aloan made to a
24 A. No. Theyre much larger. 24 corporate affiliate?
25 Q. Infact, I think you testified that 25 A. That, 'm not aware of, no.
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 Q. Sothere's nothing similar about the 2 entity?

3 loans that were given to the corporate affiliates 3 A. Usually it would, but in these closely

4 as compared to the loans that were forgiven for 4 held corporations, often they're synonymous, so it
5 the four individuals you spoke with. Is that 5 really would depend on the circumstances.

6 comect? 6 Q. Let's—Ilet's spend some time looking

7 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 7 atthe documentation that we have that's been

8 MR. MORRIS: Withdrawn. That's a fair 8 produced in this case conceming this company

9 objection. 9 practice.
10 Q. The fourindividuals that you spoke 10 MR. MORRIS: And so I'd like to put up
11 with, they described for you loans that had been 11 on the screen what's been marked as -
12 given toindividuals. Is that right? 12 premarked as Exhibit 63, which is Highland's
13 A. Yes. 13 2008 audited financial statements.
14 Q. Butthe loan documents that you saw 14 (Exhibit 63, Highland's 2008 audited
15 that had those schedules of loans that were being 15 financial statements, was marked for

16 rolled up, all of those loans related to corporate 16 identification at this time.)

17 entities. Isn't that right? 17 BYMR.MORRIS:

18 A. No. Ithink | mentioned before, | 18 Q. And I'dlike you, as we go through

19 didn'treally focus on that. |looked at the 19 this exercise, Mr. Johnson, to take notes of all
20 loans themselves. So | did not actually focus on 20 ofthe loans that we're going to discuss. There
21 the corporate entities in my perusal of those 21 won't be many, but do you have a pen and a piece
22 documents. 22 of paper with you?
23 Q. Would there be any difference in your 23 A. Ido.
24 expert opinion as to whether or not the loan was 24 Q. Yeah, can|trouble you to just write
25 given to an individual or given to a corporate 25 down, you know, "2008 financial statements," and
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 we're just going to do this for every year through 2 And in paragraph 1, it says that the

3 2018, so you can have a full understanding of the 3 partnership issued a promissory note of $400,000
4 loans that Highland included in its audited 4 toanemployee.

5 financial statements. 5 Do you see that?

6 | assume that you did not rely on this 6 A. Yes.

7 document for your opinions because you didn't have 7 Q. And atthe end of the paragraph, it

8 itatthe time that you prepared your report; 8 says that that promissory note was forgiven.

9 cormect? 9 Do you see that?

10 A, That's right. 10 A. Yes.

11 Q. Okay. 1 Q. Sowe can write down that in 2008,

12 MR. MORRIS: And if we could tum to 12 Highland forgave a promissory note to an employee
13 page 38, please. 13 in the amount of $400,000.

14 I'm sorry, not PDF 38. I'm referring 14 A.  Okay.

15 to the document, No. 38. It shouldn't be 15 Q. The next paragraph, there's a

16 too far. 16 reference to an August 1 promissory note in the
17 This is going to be a little painful 17 amount of $500,000.

18 on the Zoom, Mr. Johnson. | ask for your 18 Do you see that?

19 patience. 19 A Yes.
20 Allright. Stop right there. 20 Q. And atthe end of the year, that

21 Q. Do you see that this portion of the 21 promissory note was still outstanding.

22 Highland's 2008 audited financial statements has a 22 Do you see that?

23 section called "Notes to Affiliates"? 23 A Okay.

24 A Yes. 24 Q. SoNo. 1is 7/31/06, $400,000

25 Q. Okay. 25 forgiven.
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 No. 2 is 8/1/08, $500,000 outstanding, 2 Q. And then on October 15th, there's

3 right? 3 another $500,000 loan made to another employee
4 No. 3, do you see there's a reference 4 that was outstanding at year end.

5 totwo loans that were made in 2 - on May 21, 5 Do | have that right?

6 2007, in the amount of a million dollars each? 6 A.  Okay.

7 A. Okay. 7 Q. Sowould you agree with me thatin

8 Q. Andif you read further, it says that 8 fiscal year 2008, Highland forgave one loan to an
9 during 2008, 30 percent of the outstanding 9 employee in the amount of $400,000 and forgave in
10 principal was owed - was forgiven, leaving 10 partloans to two other employees in the amount of
11 $700,000 due and paying. 11 $300,000 each?
12 So there's two loans that were 12 A. Okay.

13 forgiven in the amount of $300,000 each. 13 Q. Okay.

14 Do | have that right? 14 MR. MORRIS: Let's go to Exhibit

15 A. Okay. 15 No. 64.

16 Q. Then, in the next paragraph, we've got 16 (Exhibit 64, Highland's audited

17  August 20th, 2008, and there's $330,000 loan which 17 financial statements for December 31, 2009,
18 s all outstanding at year end. 18 was marked for identification at this ime.)

19 Do | have that right? 19 BYMR.MORRIS:
20 A. Okay. 20 Q. Anddo you see that this is Highland's
21 Q. Andthe next paragraph, August 1 21 audited financial statements for December 31,
22 there's a $500,000 loan that was given to an 22 20097
23 employee that was all outstanding at year end. 23 A Yes.
24 Do I have that right? 24 Q. Okay.
25 A, Okay. 25 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 33 of
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 the document? 2 Q. Okay.

3 There you go. All right. 3 And you can see that the principal

4 Q. The first one that's described is an 4 amount of the note had been reduced by year end.
5 August 20th, 2008 loan in the amount of $300,000, 5 Do you see that?

6 and that seems to corespond with the fourth loan 6 A. Yes.

7 that we looked at in 2008 because it's also a loan 7 Q. Okay.

8 dated August 20, 2008 in the amount of $330,000. 8 So there's no evidence that this

9 Do you see that? 9 particular note was forgiven in whole or in part

10 A, I'msomy, | lost my train. 10 in 2009, correct?

1" Where is it now? 1 A. That'sright.

12 Q. Sointhe very first paragraph, under 12 Q. And if we look at the next paragraph,

13 "Affiliated Transactions"? 13 there's a reference to an August 1, 2008 note in
14 A. Yeah, okay, | see it now. I'msormy. 14 the amount of $500,000.

15 Q. Okay. 15 Do you see that?

16 This loan, is it fair, if you take a 16 A Yes.

17 look at your notes, this loan corresponds with 17 Q. And that entire amount of principal

18 the —with the loan that was described in the 18 was still outstanding at the end of the year.

19 2008 financials. 19 Do you see that?
20 Do you have that as the fourth item on 20 A. Yes.
21 yourlist, if you look at your list? 21 Q. Sothere's no evidence that this note
22 A. My listis going to be incomplete here 22 was forgiven in whole or in part in 2009, correct?
23 interms of going through this, but I'm trying to 23 A Yes.
24 take notes here, but | believe what you say is 24 Q. And there's no other — we can go
25 true. 25 through the rest of the section, but there's no
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 other notes of any kind that are referred to in — 2 It's interesting, in the

3 in this section of the audited financials. 3 nextto-the-last sentence - let's see if 'm

4 If we can just scroll down to the end 4 reading this correctly — it says, "The note has

5 ofthe affiiated transaction sections, | mean, | 5 specific forgiveness provisions of principal and

6 will tell you that they put the employees up top. 6 interest prior to maturity if certain milestones'

7 Sois it fair to say based on just 7 dates are obtained."

8 what I've shown you that you don't see any 8 Do you see that?

9 evidence that Highland forgave any notes to any 9 A Yes.
10 employees in 20097 10 Q. Sobased on that, would you conclude
11 A. Ithink that's right. 11 in your experience that the note actually had
12 Q. Okay. 12 specific provisions conceming forgiveness?
13 MR. MORRIS: Let's go t0 2010, 13 A.  Yes, that's what that implies.
14 Exhibit 65, please. 14 Q. And based on your experience, would
15 (Exhibit 65, Highland's audited 15 you understand that this note was really a form of
16 financial statements for December 31, 2010, 16 retention note whereby it would be forgiven if the
17 was marked for identification at this time.) 17 person were still employed at the time of the
18 MR. MORRIS: And if we can tum to 18 note's — at the end of the note's term?
19 page 33. 19 A. ltshardtotell. Milestones could
20 BYMR MORRIS: 20 be performance or it - it could go either way,
21 Q. Soifwe look at the first paragraph, 21 butthere's certain provisions that have been
22 do you see there's still a reference to the 22 documented that it will be forgiven either through
23 $330,000 note? 23 time or performance.
24 A, Yep. 24 Q.  Well, it doesn't refer to milestones.
25 Q. Okay. 25 Instead, it refers to milestone dates.
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 Do you see that? 2 financial statements that pertains or concems any
3 A, |-Ithink you're right, just I've 3 loans given to any employee.

4 never seen the word "milestone dates" used, so I'm 4 And you can - you can - not accept

5 not quite sure what they were trying to say, but | 5 my representation, but take that as an assumption
6 think you're probably right. 6 you should make, that there's no reference to any
7 Q. Okay. 7 loan to any employee in those years.

8 Butin any event, you would agree with 8 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to Exhibit 66
9 me that there's nothing in this paragraph that 9 please.

10 suggests that Highland forgave that loan in whole 10 MS. CANTY: It's 69, 2014.

11 orinpartin 2010, correct? 11 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Yep, it's upon

12 A.  Thatsright. 12 the screen.

13 Q. And if we scroll down through the rest 13 (Exhibit 69, Highland's audited

14 of this section, | think — | hope you'll agree 14 financial statements for December 31, 2014,
15 with me that there's no other reference to any 15 was marked for identification at this time.)

16 otherloans given to any employee in 20107 16 BYMR.MORRIS:

17 A. Ithink that's right. 17 Q. Sodo you see that this is the 2014

18 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Letsgoto 18 audited financial reports for Highland Capital

19 Exhibit 66 - 19 Management?
20 Q. Oh, I'mgoing to tell you, 'm 20 A, Yes.

21 skipping, actually, because there's only so much 21 Q. And you may or may not have seen this
22 pain I'm willing to endure. 22 report. Isthat right?

23 We're going to skip 2011, '12, and 23 A. Ithink [ got it.

24 "3, and I'm going to represent to you that 24 Q. When you reviewed the audited

25 there's absolutely nothing in any of those audited 25 financial statements that you were given, did you
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 review them to try to leam any more information 2 Q. And then the next paragraph refers to

3 about the practice that was described to you 3 another loan between the same parties.

4 whereby Highland would forgive loans to employees 4 Do | have that right?

5 inwhole orin part? 5 A. Yes.

6 A. Ihadjustreceived these. | didn't 6 Q. And there's nothing in that paragraph

7 have time to go throughit. 7 that suggests that that loan was forgiven in whole
8 MR. MORRIS: Let's go to page 27, 8 orinpartatany time in 2014, correct?

9 please. 9 A That'sright.

10 Q. Okay. Doyou see that there'sa 10 MR.MORRIS: And let's go to the next
11 section called "Affiliated Transactions" again 1 page, please.

12 that begins at the bottom of page 277 12 Q. Do you see that there's a reference to
13 A. Okay. 13 anote in the first paragraph between Highland and
14 Q. Anddo you see that the first 14 NexPoint that was issued in 2014?

15 paragraph describes a loan between Highland and 15 A Yes.

16 Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors? 16 Q. And there's nothing in that paragraph
17 A. Yes. 17 that suggests the note was forgiven in whole or in
18 Q. Anddoes it appear to you that the 18 part atany time in 2014, correct?

19 loan that was granted in 2014 was fully 19 A Yes.
20 outstanding at year end? 20 Q. Infact, the entirety of the principal
21 A. Yes. 21 amount plus interest was still due at year end,
22 Q. Andthere's no reference in that 22 comect?
23 paragraph to any portion of the loan having been 23 A Yes.
24 forgiven, correct? 24 Q. The next paragraph, do you see it
25 A.  That'sright. 25 refers to a note between Highland and an entity
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 called "HCRE"? 2 thatfair?

3 A Yes. 3 A, Yes.

4 Q. And there's nothing in that paragraph 4 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Let's goto 2015,
5 that suggests that the note or the loan was 5 please.

6 forgiven in whole or in part at any time in 2014, 6 What exhibit are we on?

7 cormect? 7 MS. CANTY: 70is 2015.

8 A. That'sright. 8 MR. MORRIS: |see whatwe did. Okay.
9 Q. There was a modest payment made of 9 (Exhibit 70, Highland's audited

10 principal during the year. 10 financial statements for December 31, 2015,
11 Do I have that right? Is my 11 was marked for identification at this ime.)

12 interpretation a fair interpretation? 12 MR. MORRIS: If we can just go to the
13 A.  That's right. 13 first page, please.

14 Q. And then the last section of this, the 14 BYMR.MORRIS:

15 last paragraph of this section refers to a note 15 Q. Do you see that this is the first page

16 between Highland and an entity called "Highland 16 of the audited financial statements for the year
17 Capital Management Services, Inc." 17 ending 2015 for Highland?

18 Do you see that? 18 A Yes.

19 A. Yes. 19 Q. And you're not relying on this

20 Q. And there's nothing in that paragraph 20 document for any of your opinions, correct?

21 that suggests that any portion of that loan was 21 A That'sright.

22 forgiven in whole orin part in 2014, correct? 22 MR. MORRIS: Can we tum to page 27,
23 A. That'sright. 23 please — | messed this up, sorry.

24 Q. And, in fact, the entire principal 24 Keep going down. Keep going. Keep
25 balance plus interest was due at yearend. Is 25 going.
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 Okay. Stop right there. 2 A. Iwasn'taware of that.

3 Can we just scroll down so we can see 3 Q. Do you see the last paragraph - the

4 what page number we're on? 4 last sentence of the paragraph says, "A fair value
5 Q. Allright. Do you see we're on 5 ofthe partnership's outstanding notes receivable
6 page 29, Mr. Johnson? 6 approximates the carrying value of the notes

7 A Yes. 7 receivable™?

8 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to the top of 8 A. Yes.

9 the affiliates transaction. 9 Q. Do you understand that to mean that
10 Q. Do you see that there's a reference to 10 the fair value of the notes equals to the

11 Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors? 11 principal face amount of the notes?

12 A. Yes. 12 A. The camying value would include the

13 Q. Okay. 13 face amount probably and any unpaid interest, but
14 And do you see there's a reference to 14 yes, it would be the book - the book value, yes.
15 $6.1 million principal and interest being due at 15 Q. And the book value in this case equals
16 the yearend? 16 the unpaid principal and interest due on the note,
17 A, Yes. 17 correct?

18 Q. Andthenthere's a sentence that says, 18 A. Yes.

19 "The partnership will not demand payment on 19 Q. And so as of this time anyway, the
20 amounts owed prior to May 31, 2017." 20 fair value of the notes equaled the unpaid
21 Do you see that? 21 principal and interest due on the note, correct?
22 A. Yes. 22 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
23 Q. Were you aware that Highland had 23 A, Yes. Yes, | think that's right.
24 agreed with its affiiate not to make a demand on 24 Q. There's nothing in that first
25 the payments for a period of time? 25 paragraph that says or suggests that any of the

Page 136 Page 137
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2 loans with HCMFA were forgiven in whole or in part 2 putting the loans together. It would - it

3 in 2015, comect? 3 generally have something to do with the financial
4 A. Right. 4 condition of the borrower and the terms.

5 Q. And the next paragraph relates to 5 Q. Let'slook at the next paragraph.

6 loans with NexPoint Advisors. 6 Do you see it relates to HCRE?

7 Do you see that? 7 A. Yes.

8 A. Yes. 8 Q. And do you see how during 2014 and

9 Q. Okay. 9 '15, HCRE issued promissory notes to Highland in
10 Take your time, but my question is 10 the aggregate amount of $13 million and that

11 whether there's anything in that paragraph that 11 principal amount plus interest was due at the end
12 states or suggests that any portion of the loans 12 ofthe year?

13 between Highland and NexPoint were forgiven in 13 A, Somy, it just says it's payable on

14 whole or in partin 2015? 14 demand, right?

15 A. Ithink that's right, yes. 15 Q. Right.

16 Q. Do you see there was also a statement 16 And the amount is — that was loaned

17 regarding Highland's not demanding payment on the 17 was $13 million, but at year end 2015, the unpaid
18 notes for a couple of years? 18 principal and interest actually equaled

19 A Yes. 19 $13.3 million.

20 Q. Inyour experience and based on your 20 Have | read that correctly?

21 expertise, can you think of a reason why Highland 21 A Yes.

22 would agree not to make a demand on promissory 22 Q. Isthere anything in this paragraph

23 notes? 23 that says or suggests that Highland forgave in

24 A. ltcould be the financial condition of 24 whole or in part any loans that were made to HCRE
25 the borrower that was part of the negotiation 25 inthe year 2014 or'15?
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2 A No. 2 thinkit's likely or highly likely, | would try to

3 MR. MORRIS: Let's go to the next 3 avoid paying down the balance and wait for it to

4 paragraph. 4 be forgiven.

5 Q. Do you see there's a reference to 5 Q. Andis that the advice you would give

6 loans or promissory notes that were issued to 6 tothe maker of a note who owed money that was
7 Highland by HCMSI? 7 subject to a forgiveness agreement?

8 A Yes. 8 A.  Maker of the loan, | would tell them

9 Q. Okay. 9 if—ifthings are looking like you're going to

10 And do you see that the aggregate 10 forgive it, they probably won't want to pay down

11 amount of the notes was $23 million? 11 the principal and the interest if they can avoid

12 A. Yes. 12 it, andif the — it's unlikely it will be

13 Q. Anddo you see that during the years 13 forgiven due to the terms, then they're more

14 ended 2014, Highland Capital Management Services, 14 likely to pay the principal and interest sooner.

15 Inc. repaid $8.1 million in principal? 15 Q. Isthere anything in this paragraph

16 A. Yes. 16 that says or suggests that Highland had agreed to
17 Q. Isitcustomary in the industry to 17 forgive in whole or in part any loan that it had

18 make principal payments or interest payments 18 extended to Highland Capital Management Services?
19 against loans that are the subject to agreements 19 A. ldon'tbelieve so, no.
20 offorgiveness? 20 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Let's gotothe
21 A.  ltreally would depend on the 21 2016 financials.
22 likelihood of it being forgiven. IfIhad aloan 22 Q. Do you see that this is the audited
23 that | thought wouldn't be forgiven, I might pay 23 financial statements for Highland Capital
24 it early because | just don't think the 24 Management, L.P. for the period ending December
25 probability of being forgiven is likely. I 25 31,2016?
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2 A. Yes. 2 that states or suggests that Highland forgave in

3 Q. Okay. And you're not relying on this 3 whole orin part any portion of any loan that it

4 report for any of your opinions, correct? 4 gave to NexPoint?

5 A. That's comrect. 5 A. No.

6 Q. Okay. 6 Q. Looking at the next paragraph, do you

7 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 31, 7 see there's areference to loans between Highland
8 please. 8 and HCRE Partners, LLC?

9 Q. Okay. Do you see notes and other 9 A. Yes.

10 amounts due from affiliates? 10 Q. Isthere any statement or suggestions

1 A. Yes. 11 in that paragraph that Highland forgave in whole
12 Q. The first paragraph relates to loans 12 orin part any loan it made to HCRE Partners, LLC?
13 between Highland and its affiliate HCMFA. 13 A. No.

14 Do you see that? 14 Q. Looking at the next paragraph, do you

15 A, Yes. 15 see there's a reference to loans between Highland
16 Q. Isthere anything in this paragraph 16 and HCMSI?

17 that states or suggests that Highland has forgiven 17 A Yes.

18 inwhole or in part any portion of any loan that 18 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph

19 itmade to HCMFA? 19 that states or suggests that Highland forgave in
20 A. No. 20 whole orin part any loan that it made to HCMSI?
21 Q. Looking at the next paragraph, do you 21 A. No.
22 see that concems loans between Highland and 22 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Canwe gotothe
23 NexPoint Advisors? 23 next paragraph.
24 A, Yes. 24 Q. Do you see there's a reference to
25 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph 25 promissory notes that James Dondero issued to
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2 Highland in the aggregate amount of $14.8 million 2 A Yes.

3 in2016? 3 Q. Okay.

4 A Yes. 4 Do you see the next paragraph relates

5 Q. Okay. 5 toagentleman named Mark Okada?

6 So this is the first time we're seeing 6 A Yes.

7 aloan to Mr. Dondero that's reported in the 7 Q. Do you have any understanding as to

8 financial statements that we've looked at. Is 8 who Mr. Okada is?

9 thatfair? 9 A.  He was the other major shareholder in
10 A. Ithink that's right, yes. 10 Highland.

11 Q. Okay. 1 Q. And do you understand him to be one of
12 And according to this audited 12 the - to be a co-founder with Mr. Dondero of

13 financial statement, Highland loaned Mr. Dondero 13 Highland?

14 $14.8 million in 2016. 14 A. Ibelieve that's right, yes.

15 Do I have that right? 15 Q. Did you make any inquiry as to whether
16 A Yes. 16 ornot Mr. Okada had ever obtained any loans from
17 Q. Andatthe end of the year, he 17 Highland?
18 actually owed principal and interest in the amount 18 A, ldon't—Idon't believe | did.
19 of $14.9 million, correct? 19 Q. Do you know if Highland ever forgave
20 A Yes. 20 any loan in whole or in part that it extended to
21 Q. And there's no statement or suggestion 21 Mr. Okada?
22 inthis paragraph that Highland had forgiven in 22 A, Idon'tknow.
23 whole orin part any portion of the loans that it 23 Q. Are you aware that Mr. Okada paid back
24 had extended to Mr. Dondero. 24 the loan referenced in this paragraph in full plus
25 Do | have that right? 25 interest?
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2 A. lwas notaware of that. 2 Highland in the amount of $23.4 million.

3 MR. MORRIS: Let's just go to the next 3 Okay? Can we make that assumption?
4 page to see if there's anything else here. 4 A.  We canassume that. That's notwhat

5 Q. There's areference to Dugaboy. 5 itsays.

6 Do you see that? 6 Q. Okay. I'm going to ask you to

7 A. Yes. 7 assume -

8 Q. You don't know what Dugaboy is, do 8 A.  Okay.

9 you? 9 Q. -—thatin2016, Dugaboy incurred an

10 A. ldonot. 10 obligation to Highland in the amount of

1 Q. Nobody has ever told you about 11 $23.6 million.

12 Dugaboy. 12 I'm going to ask you to further assume
13 Do I have that right? 13 that the Dugaboy Investment Trust is a trust

14 A. Thatsright. 14 created by Jim Dondero.

15 Q. Soyou weren't aware that Highland 15 I'm going to ask you to further assume
16 loaned $23 4 million to Dugaboy in 20167 16 that the purpose of the trust is to provide living

17 A, Well, that's not — it says they 17 expenses to the beneficiaries.

18 purchased a promissory note due from Dugaboy. 18 I'm going to ask you to further assume
19 Q. Okay. 19 that Mr. Dondero is the beneficiary of that trust
20 So now Dugaboy owes the partnership 20 for his lifetime.

21 $23 4 million, correct? 21 And I'm going to ask you to further

22 A. That's not - atleast my reading of 22 assume that his sister Nancy is the trustee.

23 itis they purchased a note from Dugaboy. 23 If Highland loaned money to Dugaboy,
24 Q. Why don't we assume that what they 24 isthata fact that would have been relevant to

25 meant by that was that Dugaboy provided a note to 25 your analysis?

TSG Reporting - Worldwide 877-702-9580

Appx. 01994




Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 11 of 200 PagelD 41004

Page 146 Page 147
1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON
2 A. ltcould have been. It could have 2 cormect?
3 been. 3 A.  Thatsright.
4 Q. Andwhy could it have been relevant to 4 Q. Soifyou look at your notes and
5 your analysis? 5 refresh your recollection as to what we've been
6 A, Well ifit's in effect a loan to him, 6 through just now, is it fair to say that there's
7 then I would probably consider it similar to the 7 no evidence of Highland forgiving any loan to
8 otherloans, but maybe if | had time to think 8 anybody in the world in whole or in part at any
9 aboutit, it — I might have considered 9 time since 20087
10 differently. 10 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
1 But if | came to the conclusion that 11 A. The ones we've looked through, | think
12 loaning to that — the investment trust or to him 12 you'reright. | think there was forgiveness in
13 personally is essentially the same thing, then | 13 2008. Ithink that's correct.
14 probably would have considered, you know, an 14 Q. And given the amounts of the loans
15 equal - on an equal basis. 15 that we looked atin 2008 — and if you want to
16 Q. Now, neither Mr. Dondero nor Stinson 16 refer to your cheat sheet to refresh your
17 shared with you any information about any loan 17 recollection — does it seem that the loans that
18 that Highland ever extended to Dugaboy, if any. 18 were described in the 2008 audited financial
19 Isthat correct? 19 statements might, in fact, be the very loans that
20 A. Itmay have been in the listing of 20 were described for you by the four individuals you
21 loans - the listing, but | had no separate 21 interviewed?
22 conversation about Dugaboy, no. 22 A.  They could - they certainly could
23 Q. There's nothing in this paragraph that 23 have been, yes.
24 suggests that any loan between Dugaboy and 24 Q. They're consistent with the amount of
25 Highland was forgiven in whole or in partin 2016, 25 the loans that were forgiven as was told by you,
Page 148 Page 149
1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON
2 right? 2 paragraphs, continues to say, quote, at the end,
3 A. Thatis comect, yes. 3 thatfair value of the partnership's outstanding
4 MR.MORRIS: Let's goto2017. 4 notes receivable approximates the carrying value
5 Canwe goto page 30 - 5 ofthe notes receivable.
6 Q. Oh, lapologize, before we do that, 6 Do you see that?
7 did you see that first page, sir? 7 A. Yes.
8 Do you understand that we're looking 8 Q. Okay.
9 atHighland's audited financial statements for the 9 And that sentence is at the end of
10 period ending December 31,20177 10 every paragraph in this section.
1 A. Yes. 1 Do I have that right, if we continue
12 Q. Okay. 12 toscroll there?
13 And this is not a document you're 13 A. Yes.
14 relying on, comect? 14 Q. Okay.
15 A.  Thatis comrect. 15 So looking at the first paragraph
16 Q. Okay. 16 relating to HCMFA, there's nothing in that
17 So now we're at page 30 of the audited 17 paragraph that states or suggests that Highland
18 financial statements, and we're again in the 18 agreed to forgive in whole or in part any loan it
19 section relating to notes and other amounts due 19 had extended to HCMFA, correct?
20 from affiliates. 20 A Yes.
21 And do you see the first paragraph 21 Q. And looking at the second paragraph,
22 relates to notes that Highland Capital Management 22 do you see that it states that Highland combined
23 Fund Advisors has issued to Highland? 23 its outstanding promissory and revolving notes
24 A. Yes. 24 from NexPoint to a single note with a 30-year
25 Q. And this paragraph, like all of the 25 amortization schedule?
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 I'm summarizing. 2 A Yes.

3 A. Yes. 3 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph

4 Q. Andis it fair to assume that that's 4 that suggests or states that Highland has agreed
5 probably one of the notes that recently saw? 5 toforgive in whole or in part any portion of any

6 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 6 loan it ever extended to HCRE?

7 A. Yes. Yes. 7 A. No.

8 Q. Yes? 8 Q. The next paragraph refers to loans

9 A.  Yes, that's comrect. 9 that Highland has extended to Highland Capital
10 Q. Andthe reasonit's correct is because 10 Management Senvices, Inc.

11 it comports with your recollection that there was 11 Do you see that?

12 aroll-up of previously outstanding notes that 12 A. Yes.

13 were combined in one into a 30-year term note, 13 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph

14 right? 14 that states or suggests that Highland has agreed
15 A. Thatis correct. 15 toforgive in whole or in part any portion of any
16 Q. Okay. 16 loan it ever extended to HCMSI?

17 Is there anything in this paragraph 17 A. No.

18 that states or suggests that Highland agreed to 18 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to the next
19 forgive in whole or in part any aspect of any loan 19 paragraph, please.
20 itever gave to NexPoint? 20 Q. Okay. These two paragraphs relate to
21 A.  No, there's not. 21 Mr. Dondero and Mr. Okada.
22 Q. Looking at the next paragraph for 22 Did you see that?
23 HCRE, do you see that there's a description of the 23 A Yes.
24 promissory note that HCRE issued to Highland in 24 Q. And itwasn't up on the screen before,
25 exchange for a loan in December —in 20177 25 soljust want to make it clear that each of those
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2 paragraph ends with the same sentence conceming 2 conclusion to reach that at some pointin 2017,

3 the fair value of the notes approximating the 3 Mr. Dondero made payments against his obligations
4 camying value the notes receivable. 4 to Highland that reduced the amount owing from
5 Do | have that right? 5 14.9 million to 14.5 million at the end of 2017,

6 A Yes. 6 again, assuming that I'm right about 20167

7 Q. Okay. 7 A.  Thatwould be right. Thatwould be

8 Now, remember we saw in the 2016 8 corect, yes.

9 financials that Mr. Dondero had $14.9 million 9 Q. And there's nothing in this paragraph

10 outstanding at year end. 10 that states or suggests that Highland has agreed
1 Do you recall that? 11 toforgive in whole or in part any loan it has

12 A. I don't specifically recall that, 12 ever extended to Mr. Dondero, correct?

13 but - I don't specifically recall that, no. 13 A.  That's correct.

14 Q. [llirepresent to you that the 2016 14 Q. Okay. Solwould like you to note

15 audited financial statements showed that the 15 down, because it's hard to flip back - this is

16 outstanding principal and interest due by 16 the dilemma of virtual depositions — but can you
17 Mr. Dondero under the note that he issued to 17 write down that Mr. Dondero owed Highland

18 Highland was $14.9 million. Okay? 18 principal and interest of $14-and-a-half million

19 A. Okay. 19 attheendof2017?

20 Q. With that representation, do you see 20 A. Okay.

21 that the amount has been reduced by $400,000 at 21 Q. And the next paragraph relates to

22 theendof 20177 22 Mr. Okada.

23 A Yes. 23 There's nothing in there that states

24 Q. Okay. 24 or suggests that Highland has agreed to forgive in
25 And soiis it fair — is it a fair 25 whole orin part any loan Highland had ever
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1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 extended to Mr. Okada, correct? 2 Is there anything in this paragraph

3 A. That's comrect. 3 that states or suggests that Highland ever agreed
4 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Can we continue on 4 toforgive in whole or in part any loan it ever

5 to the next page. 5 extended to Dugaboy?

6 Q. Anddo you see the first paragraph 6 A. No.

7 relates to Dugaboy again? 7 Q. The next paragraph refers to a

8 A Yes. 8 contribution agreement.

9 Q. And it specifically says that during 9 Do you see that?
10 the year ending December 31, 2017, Dugaboy did not 10 A. Yes.
11 issue any new notes to the partnership. 11 Q. Have any idea what a contribution
12 Do you see that? 12 agreementis in this context?
13 A. Yes. 13 A. Notin this context, no.

14 Q. Andthen it states that all 14 Q. Isthat something you might — you

15 outstanding notes accrue interest at the rate of 15 might have asked about had you been told - had
16 2.75 percent. 16 you been given these financial statements, let's
17 Do you see that? 17 say, backin July?

18 A. Yes. 18 A. |-1might have asked about this,

19 Q. Andthen it says that at year end, the 19 vyes.
20 total unpaid principal and interest due was 20 Q. Imean, infact thisis in the
21 approximately $22.8 million and was payable on 21 section of the audited financial statements that
22 demand? 22 isentitled -
23 Have | read that correctly? 23 MR. MORRIS: Ifwould can go back to
24 A Yes. 24 the top — no — I'm sorry — the top of
25 Q. Okay. 25 that section, page — yeah.

Page 156 Page 157
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2 Q. That section is specifically called 2 Q. Okay.

3 "Notes and Other Amounts Due From Affiliates," 3 And the information that's contained

4 right? 4 in this section of the audited financial

5 A Yes. 5 statements specifically pertains to loans to

6 Q. Ifyouwanted to assess whether or not 6 affiiates. Isn't that right?

7 Mr. Dondero was reasonably compensated, wouldn't 7 A. Yes, among other things, but yes.

8 you want to know about all of the notes that 8 Q. Okay.

9 Highland held on behalf of the affiliates that 9 In order to know if Mr. Dondero had

10 were owned and controlled by Mr. Dondero? 10 been compensated in a way equal to his peers
11 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 11 wouldn't you want to know the full extent of

12 A. I-Iwould have -if | had had the 12 amounts loaned to entities he owned and

13 financials, | would have certainly looked through 13 controlled?

14 these things, yes. 14 MR. AIGEN: Objection to form.

15 Q. Andif you had been given this 15 A.  Well, a straight loan to someone is

16  information, wouldn't you want to know the full 16 not generally compensation. If the loan is going
17 extent - | mean — withdrawn. 17 to be forgiven at some point in the future, yes,
18 | think we — | think at the beginning 18 that would have been a relevant — you know,
19 ofthe day - | know we've been going at this for 19 relevant factor, but just a straight loan wouldn't
20 awhile - you specifically told me that you would 20 generally be considered compensation.
21 advise a decision maker to know and understand the 21 Q. IfHighland - let's say
22 full scope of all loans that were given to or for 22 hypothetically Highland — withdrawn.
23 the benefit of the executive before entering into 23 You see NexPoint Advisors on the page,
24 aforgiveness agreement, right? 24 the second box?
25 A. Yes. 25 A Yes.
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2 Q. Highland - let's assume that James 2 Q. Andwould you agree that Highland

3 Dondero owns and controls NexPoint. Okay? 3 enabled him to make that wise investment by giving
4 A, Yes. 4 himthe loan?

5 Q. AsofMay 31,2017, according to 5 A. Theyfaciitated it, but it depends

6 Highland's audited financial statements, it loaned 6 what the terms of the loan are and — so, yes, he

7 NexPoint $30.7 million. 7 would have benefited from his wise investment, and
8 Do you see that? 8 they would have facilitated him doing that by

9 A. Well, I think it's saying it combined 9 loaning the $30 million.

10 allthese notes together and a new note of 30.7, 10 Q. And NexPoint didn't go into the

11 right. 11 marketplace to negotiate for a loan with a third

12 Q. lappreciate that — that precision. 12 party, right?

13 So let me restate the question. 13 A, That, | don't know.

14 According to the audited financial 14 Q. Well, they took the loan from

15 statements, Highland had loaned in the aggregate 15 Highland, correct?

16 $30.7 million to NexPoint, correct? 16 A. ltalready had loans, right, from

17 A. Yes. 17 Highland, yes.

18 Q. Okay. 18 Q. And you understood that Mr. Dondero
19 And what if | told you that NexPoint 19 controlled both NexPoint and Highland at the time,
20 took that money and they invested it and they 20 correct?
21 tumed that money into $100 million, would that be 21 A. Yes.
22 abenefit to Mr. Dondero if you assume that he 22 Q. Okay.
23 owned and controlled the entity? 23 And so is it fair to say based on your
24 A, Well, it's certainly — he made a wise 24 experience and expertise that Highland used -
25 investment with his $30 million loan for sure. 25 withdrawn.
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2 Is it based - is it fair based on 2 Do | have that right?

3 your knowledge and expertise that Mr. Dondero used 3 A. Yes.

4 Highland to increase the value of its affiliated 4 Q. Andyou calculated that based solely

5 companies by providing it with capital? 5 on certain W-2 income, correct?

6 MR. AIGEN: Objection to form. 6 A, W-2s and | think, also, with the

7 A. Yeah, | don't-1guess | would be 7 1040s, | believe, but yeah, it was the W-2s.

8 uncomfortable - I'm not sure | understand the 8 Q. So you did not take into account, for

9 question. I'm sory. 9 example, any benefit that Mr. Dondero received by
10 Q. Okay. 10 using Highland's capital to support his affiliated

1 You did not - your report and your 11 companies, correct?

12 opinions — withdrawn. Let me take this simply. 12 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

13 Your conclusion in your report is that 13 A. Wedid not take into account any

14 Mr. Dondero had eamings from Highland of 14 ownership - using the ownership capital either

15 approximately $3 million for the 7 years prior to 15 for him or for anybody else, that's correct.

16 the petition date; correct? 16 Q. And you didn't try to quantify the

17 A. That's right, from the — from the — 17 benefit to Mr. Dondero from using Highland's

18 yes, from the various entities, yes. 18 capital to support his affiliated companies,

19 Q. And based on your analysis of 19 correct?

20 comparable executives, you believe he should have 20 A.  We made no attempt to -to do it for

21 been eaming $6 million for each of those seven 21 him or for anybody else we might have thought of
22 years, comect? 22 as comparable executives, that's correct.

23 A. Yes, thatis correct. 23 Q. Would you - would you agree with me
24 Q. And the difference between the two 24 thatit was a benefit to Mr. Dondero to have

25 equals $3 million for seven years, or $21 million. 25 access to Highland's capital for the purpose of
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2 supporting his affiliated companies? 2 A. Ibelieve - I believe - | believe it
3 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 3 was Highland as well, yes.
4 A. He - he benefited from having 4 Q. And do you think that when a company
5 significant capital - he certainly benefited as 5 fails, that that's a factor that a decision maker
6 an owner from something significant capital, 6 should take into account when deciding whether or
7 absolutely. 7 notto forgive loans?
8 Q. Okay. 8 Is that part of the financial
9 And how would you - how would you 9 condition that we described earlier?
10 describe that benefit? 10 A.  Absolutely, the condition of the
1 A.  Well, he would get retums on the 11 company, it's both income, capital, and the
12 capital. Either through loans or direct 12 importance of achieving those goals as part of
13 investments as the owner of both Highland and 13 forgiving absolutely should be considered.
14 NexPoint, he would benefit from their successes 14 MR. MORRIS: I've forgotten if I've
15 and, of course, lose from their failures. 15 gone through 2017 yet.
16 Q. Are you aware of any failures? 16 Does anybody recall?
17 A. Ingetting these financials, there 17 Allright. We'll do it again.
18 were a couple of years that were temible. There 18 MS. CANTY: Thisis 2017 onthe
19 were some outstanding years, so it varied during 19 screen.
20 this period. 20 MR. MORRIS: Right. But|have —all
21 So there were certainly a couple of 21 right. I'l just do it again then.
22 years with very disappointing results. 22 Michael starts objecting as asked and
23 Q. And which entity are you referring to 23 answered, Il get the hint.
24 that had those disappointing results? Was that 24 Q. Mr. Johnson, take a look at the first
25 Highland? 25 paragraph.
Page 164 Page 165
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2 Do you see that that — under the 2 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph
3 section "Notes and Other Amounts Due From 3 that states or suggests that Highland has agreed
4 Affiliates," describes loans between Highland and 4 toforgive in whole or in part any loan it ever
5 HCMFAin 20177 5 extended to HCRE Partners, LLC?
6 A. Yes. 6 A. No.
7 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph 7 Q. The next paragraph relates to loans
8 that states or suggests that Highland agreed to 8 between Highland and Highland Capital Management
9 forgive in whole or in part any loan it ever 9 Services, Inc.
10 extended to HCMFA? 10 Do you see that?
11 A. No. 1 A Yes.
12 Q. Looking at the next paragraph, next 12 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph
13 point, do you see that the next paragraph concems 13 that states or suggests that Highland has agreed
14 loans that Highland extended to NexPoint? 14 toforgive in whole or in part any loan it ever
15 A. Yes. 15 extended to Highland Capital Management Services,
16 Q. Isthere anything in that paragraph 16 Inc.?
17 that states or suggests that Highland has agreed 17 A. No.
18 to forgive in whole or in part any note that it 18 Q. The next paragraph relates to
19 ever-any loan it ever extended to NexPoint? 19 Mr. Dondero.
20 A. No. 20 Do you see that?
21 Q. Allright. 21 A. Yes.
2 Looking at the next paragraph, do you 22 Q. Anddo you see that it states that
23 see the next paragraph describes loans between 23 Mr. Dondero didn't obtain any new loans from
24 Highland and HCRE Partners, LLC? 24 Highlandin 20177
25 A, Yes. 25 A Yes.
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2 Q. Anddo you see that — 2 Yes, stop right there.

3 MR. MORRIS: Michael, I'm boring you, 3 Q. Do you see —-do you see the balance

4 because you should be asking as asked and 4 sheet, sir?

5 answered because there's that $14.5 million 5 A. Yes.

6 number that | know Mr. Johnson wrote down, 6 Q. Do you see that near the bottom

7 right? So we have done this before. Okay? 7 there's aline item showing notes and other

8 Let's go to the 2018 audited 8 amounts due from affiiates?

9 financials. 9 A. Oh,yeah-I'msory - yes.

10 MS. CANTY: This is Exhibit 34. 10 Q. And do you see that Highland has

1 MR. MORRIS: Thank you very much. 11 carried on its balance sheet $173.4 million in
12 (Exhibit 34, Highland's audited 12 notes and other amounts due from affiiates?

13 financial statements for December 31, 2018, 13 A Yes.

14 was marked for identification at this time.) 14 Q. Do you understand that the affiliates

15 MR. MORRIS: And if we can go to the 15 are owned and controlled by Mr. Dondero?

16 first page. 16 A.  Owned and controlled? | think

17  BY MR MORRIS: 17 Mr. Okada owned some of - he certainly controlled
18 Q. Do you see that this is a - the first 18 them. Idon't know if he had 100 percent

19 page of Highland's audited financial statements 19 ownership of all of them. He certainly controlled
20 for the period ending December 31, 20187 20 the affiliates we're talking about.
21 A Yes. 21 Q. Atthe time that you prepared your
22 MR. MORRIS: Before we go to - before 22 report, did you know that Highland's affiliates
23 we go to the affiliate loans, can we just 23 owed it $174 million as of the end of 20187
24 tumn to the — | think it's the first 24 A. | don't think | was aware of that, no.
25 substantive page, the balance sheet. 25 Q. Isthata fact that you would have

Page 168 Page 169
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2 wanted to be aware of before you prepared your 2 But you weren't told about the

3 report? 3 totality of the loans, correct?

4 A. I'mnotsure. I'mnotsure. 4 A. I did not know the totality, no.

5 Q. Well, I think you testified that if 5 Q. Did you know that more than 15 percent
6 you were advising a decision maker, you would 6 of Highland's assets were tied up in notes and

7 advise them to try to obtain as much information 7 other amounts due from affiliates?

8 as they could conceming any loans that had been 8 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

9 extended by the employer to or for the benefit of 9 A. | did not know that.

10 the executive, correct? 10 Q. Isthata fact that you would have

1 A.  Thatis correct. 11 liked to have known about before you issued your
12 Q. Andis there any reason for you to 12 report?

13 believe that this $173.4 million didn't relate to 13 A. As|answered before, I'm not sure.

14 loans that were made by the employer to or for the 14 I'm not sure.

15 benefit of the executive and Mr. Okada? 15 Q. Do you think this is a fact that the

16 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 16 decision maker should have known about before he
17 A. Yeah,|don't-atleast that 17 or she entered into the forgiveness agreement?
18 174 million would say they're notes from 18 A, Ithink — as | testified before, |

19 ffiliates, but the affiliates is also the 19 think the decision makers certainly understand the
20 businesses. 20 totality of the loans that are potentially being
21 So I'm not — | certainly would want 21 forgiven, absolutely.
22 tobe aware of that. Whether it would have 22 Q. Do you think the decision maker could
23 changed my report, I'd have to — I'd have to 23 have done his or her job without knowing that the
24 think about. 24 employer had extended over $173 million to the
25 Q. Okay. 25 executive before entering into the agreement?
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2 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 2 bankruptcy, the net loss attributable to Highland

3 A. Well, | think — at least | 3 was more than $73 million, at the bottom of the

4 understand, the way it's stated here in the 4 page?

5 financials, those are to the businesses. 5 A. Yes.

6 So | think the — a decision maker 6 Q. Isthatafactthat you knew of at the

7 should know, you know, the totality of the loans 7 time that you prepared your report?

8 being forgiven and the decision maker probably 8 A. Ididnot.

9 should have some idea of the various - as | 9 Q. Isthata fact that you would have
10 testified earlier, about the financial condition 10 liked to have known about before you prepared your
11 of the company, which would include these notes 11 report?
12 from affiliates. 12 A.  lwould have liked to have seen all of
13 MR. MORRIS: Let's — can we scroll 13 these financial statements before | prepared my
14 down a page or two? 14 report, absolutely.

15 Okay. Stop right - alittle 15 Q. Isthe fact that Highland lost

16 further - no, go to the top of this page. 16 $73 million in 2018 relevant to your analysis at

17 Q. Do you see that this page is the 17 all?

18 consolidated income statement? 18 A. I'd have to think about it, but |

19 A Yes. 19 certainly would have wanted to know about it.
20 Q. And you're familiar with income 20 Q. And you were told by Mr. Dondero that
21 statements. Is that right? 21 the forgiveness agreement was entered into in
22 A. Yes. 22 either December of 2018 or January or February of
23 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Canwe gotothe 23 2019, correct?
24 bottom, please? 24 A, Itsinmy report. | can'tremember
25 Q. Do you see thatin the year before 25 ifitwaslate'17 or'18 orlate '18 and '19.

Page 172 Page 173
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2 Sitting here, | don't recall which, but it was 2 idea about the condition of the company,

3 told atime frame. It was either late one year or 3 absolutely.

4 earythenext. | don'trecall the — 4 Q. Do you have any reason to believe that

5 Q. We're not going to put it back up on 5 the decision maker had any information about the
6 the screen, but I'l just try to refresh your 6 financial condition of the company before agreeing
7 recollection that on page 6 of your report, you 7 on behalf of Highland to enter into a forgiveness

8 had stated, "l understand from Mr. Dondero that 8 ofloans with the potential value of 40 to

9 the 2018 loans that are the subject of this suit 9 $50 million?

10 were modified by an agreement in late 2018 or 10 A.  Ihave no information about that.

11 early 2019." 1 MR. MORRIS: Can we go back to the
12 Does that refresh your recollection as 12 balance sheet for a second?

13 to the timing of the purported agreement that was 13 Q. Do you see how the assets exceed the
14 described to you? 14  liabilities and there's partners' capital of about

15 A, Yes, I think that's right, yep. 15 $371 million?

16 Q. And do you understand that this 16 A Yes.

17 $74 million loss relates to the period ending in 17 Q. That partners' capital assumes that

18 December 20187 18 the value of the notes and other amounts due and
19 A. Yes. 19 dffiliates equals $173.4 million, correct?
20 Q. And do you think the decision maker 20 A. That's one of the assumptions, right,
21 should have known about the financial condition of 21 yes.
22 the company when he or she entered into the 22 Q. And there's nothing on the balance
23 agreement on behalf of Highland in late 2018 or 23 sheet that discloses potential litigation
24 early 20197 24 liability, correct?
25 A.  The decision maker should have had an 25 A.  No, there's nothing on here, on the
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2 balance sheet, no. 2 A. That, Idon'tknow. |don'tknow what

3 Q. Did anybody ever give you any 3 PwC would have done with the litigation risk.

4 information about potential litigation risk that 4 But if we're just looking at the line

5 Highland faced in 2018 and '19? 5 items here, | don't see a reserve for litigation,

6 A. Ithink in preparing my report, | was 6 but that might be in the footnotes or so forth.

7 aware of litigation around this company. | think 7 Butas written here, the balance sheet seems to
8 there had been an arbitration award that was 8 suggest that there is no — there's nothing on
9 outstanding, so | was aware of any significant 9 here for litigation risk.

10 litigation risk and litigation expenses ongoing. 10 Q. Okay.

11 lwas aware of that. 11 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page - |
12 Q. Okay. 12 think it's 28.

13 Soisitfair to say that the 13 Q. Amount - you see, "Notes and Other
14 statement of partners' capital on this page, to 14 Amounts Due From Affiliates"?

15 the best of your knowledge, assumes the recovery 15 A Yes.

16 in full - assumes, among other things, the 16 Q. There's notes from HCMFA.

17 recovery in full of the notes and other amounts 17 Do you see that?

18 due from affiliates in the amount of 18 A Yes.

19 $173.4 million? 19 Q. Wellljust do it the same way.

20 A. That's one of the assumptions that 20 Can you take a look at that paragraph
21 goes into this balance sheet, yes. 21 and let me know if you see anything in there that
22 Q. Andisitfairto say that the 22 states or suggests that Highland agreed to forgive
23 statement of partners' capital doesn't take into 23 inwhole orin part any loan it ever extended to
24 account at all litigation risk? 24 HCMFA?
25 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 25 A, ldon'tsee that, no.
Page 176 Page 177
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2 Q. Okay. 2 notes receivable?

3 Same question for the next paragraph, 3 A. Yes.

4 can you tell me if you see anything in the second 4 Q. Sothisis as late as - for the

5 paragraph that states or suggests that Highland 5 financial statements that are dated as of - I'm

6 has agreed to forgive in whole or in part any loan 6 somy.

7 iteverextended to NexPoint? 7 This is - these statements refer —

8 A. Idon't-1don'tsee that there 8 withdrawn.

9 either. 9 These statements concem Highland's
10 Q. Next paragraph, is there anything in 10 audited financial statements for the period ending
11 the next paragraph that states or suggests that 11 December 31, 2018, correct?

12 Highland has agreed to forgive in whole or in part 12 A. Yes.

13 anyloan it ever extended to HCRE Partners? 13 Q. Okay. Let's continue to scroll down.

14 A. No, I don't see that. 14 Do you see there's a reference to Jim
15 Q. The next paragraph, is there anything 15 Dondero having issued new promissory notes for
16 in the next paragraph that states or suggests that 16 $14.9 milion in 2018?

17 Highland has agreed to forgive in whole or in part 17 A. Yes.

18 any note it ever extended to Highland Capital 18 Q. Okay. Soifyouadd the 14.9 with the
19 Management Services, Inc.? 19 14.5thatwas due —if you could write this
20 A. No, | don't see that. 20 down - at the end of 2018, that would be a total
21 Q. And do you see that with respect to 21 of $29.4 million.

22 these four paragraphs, each of them still contains 22 Do | have that right?

23 asits last sentence the statement that the fair 23 A. Ibelieve that's right, yes.

24 value of the partnership's outstanding notes 24 Q. Okay.

25 receivable approximates the carrying value the 25 But at the end of the year, he
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2 actually owed just a hair less than that, 2 forgiveness of any loan extended to him in whole
3 $29.2 million. 3 orinpart?

4 Do you see that? 4 A. That's correct.

5 A. Yes. 5 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Can we go down to
6 Q. Okay. 6 the next page, please.

7 Is it fair to conclude that at some 7 Q. Okay. And then you have the same
8 pointin 2018, Mr. Dondero made a modest payment 8 statement about Dugaboy and the contribution
9 of principal and interest against the loans that 9 agreement.

10 were outstanding to Highland? 10 Do you see that?
11 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 11 A, Yes,|seeit.
12 A. That - that appears what's going on, 12 Q. Isthere anything in either paragraph
13 vyes. 13 that states or suggests that Highland has agreed
14 Q. Andthere's certainly nothing in this 14 toforgive in whole or in part any loan it ever
15 paragraph that states or suggests that Highland 15 extended to Dugaboy or pursuant to - in
16 agreed to forgive in whole or in part any loan it 16  connection with the contribution agreement?
17 ever extended to Mr. Dondero, correct? 17 A, No.
18 A, Thatsright. 18 Q. Okay.
19 Q. And the next paragraph again relates 19 Are you familiar with the concept of
20 toMr. Okada. 20 subsequent events?
21 Do you see that? 21 A. Sure.
22 A. Yes. 22 Q. And what's your understanding of the
23 Q. And there's nothing in that paragraph 23 concept of subsequent events for purposes of
24 that states or suggests that Mr. Okada had - had 24 audited financial statements?
25 reached an agreement with Highland on the 25 A, Inthe footnotes, often they'll talk
Page 180 Page 181
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2 about events that happen shortly after the end of 2 Q. Whyis it your hope that it would

3 thefiscal year and before the reports or things, 3 happen?

4 and usually, they'll appear in the footnotes and 4 A.  Well, as | testified earlier, |

5 talk about events that a shareholder should be 5 recommend to clients, and sometimes they follow,
6 aware of that have happened following the 6 todocument things in writing, and if it's in

7 financial year end and the issues of the 7 writing, it would usually or hopefully would show

8 financials. 8 upin the audited financial statements.

9 Q. It'snotjust the shareholders, it's 9 Q. Would you always recommend your client
10 anybody who uses or relies on the financial 10 toinform its auditors of any agreement relating
11 statements should have that information. Is that 11 to the forgiveness of loans made to executives?
12 fair? 12 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

13 MR. AIGEN: Objection. 13 A.  lwould certainly recommend — if it

14 A.  Anybody who — yeah, well said, anyone 14 was anissue, | would certainly recommend to
15 who relies on it, the subsequent event is 15 clients that they report to the finance team,

16 material — is material enough that you should 16 which would then talk to the auditors, about how
17 be - you she take into account and be aware of. 17 to disclose material loans to executives and if
18 Q. Now, if Mr. Dondero had entered into 18 they were going to be forgiven.

19 the forgiveness agreement in late 2018, would you 19 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Can we scroll
20 have expected it to have been described in the 20 down - | apologize, | don't know the page
21 section that we just looked at? 21 number, but there's a section of this report
22 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 22 conceming subsequent events.

23 A.  Iwould hope it would show up in the 23 Okay. Right there.

24 reported financials. | would hope that would 24 Q. Do you see on page 38 of Highland's
25 happen, yes. 25 2018 audited financials there's Section 15
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2 entitled, "Subsequent Events™? 2 the financials came out.

3 A. Yes. 3 Q. IfMr. Dondero had entered into his

4 MR. MORRIS: Okay. If we could just 4 forgiveness agreement in early 2019, would you
5 show Mr. Johnson that portion and continue 5 have expected that agreement to have been

6 on to page 39. 6 disclosed in the subsequent event section of the
7 Q. Okay. And do you see - now that 7 audited financial report?

8 you've got the whole section on the screen, do you 8 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

9 see in the next-to-the-last paragraph there's a 9 A. Aslsaid earlier, | would hope it

10 reference to HCMFA having issued promissory notes 10 would be — I would hope that it would be

11 tothe partnership in the aggregate amount of 11 documented and | would hope that if it was - in
12 $7.4 million during the course of 2019 through the 12 this case, was significant, that it would have

13 date of the report? 13 been informed and probably shown up in a section
14 A. Yeah,yes. Yes, |see that. 14 like this.

15 Q. Isityour understanding with 30 years 15 Q. Butyoudon'tseeitshowupina

16 in the industry that the auditors would require 16 section like this, do you, sir?

17 the disclosure of material transactions that occur 17 A. Idon'tseeithere, no.

18 after the date of the report but prior to its 18 MR. MORRIS: Canwe gotothe, |

19 issuance? 19 think, second or third page of the document?
20 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 20 Yeah, the signature page, yeah.
21 A, I'm not familiar with the exact 21 Q. Do you see that that's
22 accounting rules of what qualifies as subsequent 22 PricewaterhouseCoopers' signature on the audited
23 event, but my expectation would be that material 23 financial report for the period ending
24 events that occurred after the end of the year 24 December 31,20187?
25 would be disclosed in a section like this before 25 A. Youmean,"19-nor'18-I'm

Page 184 Page 185
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2 somy —-yes, | see PwC. 2 $29.4 million, at least according to the audited

3 Q. Right. 3 financial statements, right?

4 And do you see it's dated June 3, 4 A.  |think that's true from Highland. |

5 20197 5 don'tknow if that included the different

6 A. Yes. 6 affiiates, but | think that's an accurate figure

7 Q. Andis it your understanding that the 7 from Highland.

8 subsequent event section covers the period 8 Q. And do you understand that Mr. Dondero
9 January 1, 2019 until June 3,2019? 9 has borrowed money from other ffiliates as well?
10 A.  I'mnot - again, I'm not an expert on 10 A. Ibelieve that's true, yes.

11 exactly the iming of the subsequent events, but 11 Q. Do you have any understanding of the
12 it—itwould have - it covers some of the 12 magnitude of his borrowing from those affiliates?
13 period — some or all the period before they 13 A. |believe in this case there's, |

14 issued. |don'tknow when they have a cutoff, but 14 believe, something like 40 to $50 million at

15 it covers certainly at period after the end of the 15 stake, but | don't know the interplay of the

16 year before these are finalized. 16 different — the different amounts.

17 Q. Okay. Sojustto shiftgears - you 17 Q. Just maybe I'm confused, but are you
18 can take this down, please. 18 talking about the money loaned from Highland to
19 Just a few more questions and we will 19 affiliates or are you talking about money loaned
20 have a short break for lunch, and | hope | won't 20 from affiliates to Mr. Dondero?
21 have a lot more after that, just to give you a 21 A. |- Mr. Dondero owes — that he owes,
22 sense of where we are. 22 ifI'm phrasing it correctly.
23 We just saw, based on the 2018 audited 23 Q. Allright. Look, I don'twant to
24 financials, that as of the end of that year, 24 confuse this, so let's try and keep this simple.
25 Mr. Dondero had loans outstanding of approximately 25 We just saw in the 2018 audit report
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2 thatas of the end of the year, he personally had 2 Q. Do you know if Mr. Dondero or anyone
3 obligations to Highland of $29.4 million, right? 3 acting on his behalf ever informed the bankruptcy
4 A Yes. 4 court that some or all of the loans were subject
5 Q. Okay. 5 toforgiveness?
6 And there was nothing in the audited 6 A. That, | don't know.
7 financial statements that suggested that any 7 Q. Did you - did you ask anybody?
8 portion of that was subject to forgiveness, 8 A. No.
9 cormect? 9 Q. Ifyou were advising a client — if
10 A. That's correct. 10 you were advising a debtor in bankruptcy - no -
11 Q. Okay. 11 withdrawn.
12 And you're aware that Highland was a 12 If you were advising the maker of
13 debtor in bankruptcy. Is that right? 13 certain notes that were held by a debtor in
14 A. Itwentinto bankruptcy. |don't 14 bankruptcy, would you advise that client to tell
15 recall the date of the filing, but it certainly 15 the Court of any agreements that existed that -
16 went into bankruptcy. 16 pursuant to which the notes might be forgiven?
17 Q. Did you - did you - do you know - 17 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
18 are you aware that it filed for bankruptcy in 18 A. Iwould certainly - if it wasn't
19 October of 2019. 19 obvious already, | would have certainly advised
20 A. Thats the time frame. That's what | 20 the client to inform whoever if there are terms
21 believed, yes. 21 thatwould be favorable to them, absolutely.
22 Q. Justafew months after 22 Q. And why would you do that?
23 PricewaterhouseCoopers signed off on the 2018 23 A.  Well, if | was an executive or an
24 audit, right? 24 entity that had forgiveness provisions that might
25 A, Yes. 25 benefit me and someone else who's not a banker or
Page 188 Page 189
1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON
2 bankruptcy judge wasn't aware of it, | would 2 compensation consultant, would you question
3 suggest that they inform them rapidly that these 3 whether there was really an agreement in the first
4 favorable provisions were in place. 4 place?
5 Q. Canyou think of any reason why the 5 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
6 executive wouldn't disclose the favorable 6 A. Of course | would question it, and |
7 provisions that were in place? 7 often question clients about decisions that |
8 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 8 wished they hadn't made, but yeah, certainly, |
9 A. Having seen some bankruptcies, | think 9 would question it.
10 people forget, people make bad decisions. In the 10 Q. Andwhat if you knew in the
11 chaotic situations that happen, people often 11 hypothetical that the individual was represented
12 ignore things. But | —the most logical one 12 by multtiple law firms, would that cause you to
13 would be the confusion or chaos. 13 question it even further?
14 Q. Letme give you a hypothetical: 14 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
15 There's an executive who owes a bankrupt entity 15 A.  No, | would expect in a situation like
16 $30 million in its individual capacity, and the 16 that, he would be represented by a bunch of law
17 debtor discloses in its disclosure statement and 17 firms, but | would certainly question that. It
18 its plan of reorganization its intention to 18 seems convenient. That doesn't mean it's not
19 collect that $30 milion as part of its plan of 19 true, though, which | often find clients that make
20 reorganization. 20 very unfortunate decisions, so - but | would
21 If the executive doesn't stand up and 21 certainly question it.
22 say, Hold your horses, I've got an agreement 22 Q. Okay. Justa few more questions
23 pursuant to which those notes might be forgiven, 23 before we break.
24 and only makes that disclosure after litigation is 24 So we spent a lot of time, and |
25 commenced, in your experience as an executive 25 really appreciate your patience, Mr. Johnson,
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2 going through many of Highland's audited financial 2 anownership interest in any of the makers under
3 statements, but | just want to know, with the 3 any of the notes atissue here, correct?

4 caveat that you're relying on only what | showed 4 A.  That, you're getting — I'm not sure |

5 you, with that caveat, would you agree with me 5 understand - ownership - that, | don't know.

6 thatbased on our review Highland has not forgiven 6 Q. Okay. Okay.

7 aloan to anyone in the world since around 20097 7 But we can agree that, based at least

8 A. Yeah, that's what it appeared from the 8 on Highland's audited financial statements, you're
9 financials, | guess. 9 comfortable concluding that Highland hasn't
10 The only thing that makes me pause is 10 forgiven a loan to anybody or any entity since
11 I'd want to look at the — again, the similar 11 2009, correct?
12 documents for the affiliates and see if there's 12 A.  That's the only thing, and the things
13 stuffin there as well. Butin the documents that 13 you showed me have been disclosed, that's right.
14 you showed, that appeared to be, you know, what is 14 Q. And based on what | showed you, you're
15 recorded in these financials. 15 comfortable in concluding that the largest loan

16 Q. And Highland — the - Highland 16  that Highland ever forgave was $500,000. Is that
17 capital Management, L.P. is the only payee on the 17 fair?

18 notes that you're aware of, comrect? 18 A. That's what it appears, that's right.

19 A. Ibelieve so. |believe that's right. 19 Q. Okay.
20 Q. And Highland Capital Management, L.P. 20 And based on what | showed you, you're
21 was the only entity that was in bankruptcy. Is 21 comfortable excluding that Highland has never
22 thatright? 22 forgiven a loan to Mr. Dondero, correct, or at
23 A. |believe that's right. 23 least through 20087
24 MR. AIGEN: Objection to form. 24 A, And as reported in the financials,
25 Q. Andyou're not aware that Highland has 25 that appears to be correct, yes.

Page 192 Page 193
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2 Q. And based on the information that I've 2 AFTERNOON SESSION

3 given you and the financials that we looked at, 3 (Time noted: 1:32 p.m.)

4 you're comfortable concluding that at no time 4 BYMR.MORRIS:

5 since at least 2008 has Highland ever forgiven in 5 Q. Good aftemoon, Mr. Johnson.

6 whole orin part any loan that it ever extended to 6 A. Hello.

7 any affiiate, right? 7 Q. Did you speak with anybody during the
8 MR. AIGEN: Objection to form. 8 break about the substance of your testimony today?
9 A. That's — that's what's in the 9 A. No.

10 financials, yes. 10 MR. MORRIS: Okay. I'dlike to put up
1 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Soit's 10'clock. 1 on the screen a document that has been

12 Let's break until 1:30. And | hope, you 12 premarked as Exhibit 70 — you know what, |
13 know, | have another 60 or 90 minutes. 13 apologize, not 70, 73.

14 Thank you very much. 14 (Exhibit 73 Exhibit 73, Demonstrative,

15 (Luncheon recess taken from 1:02 p.m. 15 was marked for identification at this time.)

16 until 1:32 p.m.) 16 BYMR.MORRIS:

17 17 Q. Mr. Johnson, are you able to view the
18 18 document that's been premarked as Exhibit 33
19 19 that's up on the screen?
20 20 A. Yes. Yes,|can.

21 21 Q. SolI'mgoing to represent to you that

22 22 thisis a - this is what we call a "demonstrative
23 23 exhibit," right?

24 24 This isn't a document that was

25 25 prepared in the ordinary course of business. It's
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2 asummary of other information that we've produced 2 Do you see that?

3 inthis litigation, and | will represent to you 3 A. Yes.

4 that we have produced in this litigation, among 4 Q. Okay.

5 other things, bank statements that show the 5 And do you recall from the financials

6 transfer of money on behalf of Mr. Dondero against 6 thatin 2018, Mr. Dondero had borrowed an

7 acouple of outstanding notes. 7 additional $14 million and change?

8 And, you know, Mr. Dondero's counsel 8 A Yes.

9 can, you know, take the documents that were 9 Q. Okay.
10 produced with this to make sure that it's 10 'l represent to you that the
11 accurate, but | believe it to be accurate, and | 11 January 18, 2018 note in the principal amount of
12 just want to ask you some questions about this - 12 $7.9 milion was among the new loans that he
13 about the information that's contained in this 13 obtainedin 2018.

14 document. 14 Were you ever informed that in 2017,

15 | assume you've never seen this 15 '18, and '19, Mr. Dondero was making payments of
16 before, right? 16 principal and interest due on loans that he had

17 A. ldon't-1may have seen something 17 obtained from Highland?

18 similar. | don't believe I've seen this exact 18 A. I don'tthink | discussed that with

19 thing, no. 19 anybody. |think | had noticed that - these loan
20 Q. Were you — do you remember before we 20 amounts changing around, that something was going
21 looked back and there was that $14.9 million loan 21 oninterms of payment, but | don't think |
22 thatwas reflected in the — in the financials? 22 discussed that with anybody.
23 A. Yes. 23 Q. Before completing your report, would
24 Q. And [l represent to you that's 24 you have liked to have known about Mr. Dondero's
25 what's the restructured note in Column C and D. 25 payment history, if any?
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2 A.  Yeah, that would have been something | 2 A. Yes.

3 would have liked to have known, yes. 3 Q. Okay.

4 Q. Because that would relate to the whole 4 And do you see the total is

5 concept of whether or not there was a prior course 5 approximately $23.7 milion?

6 offorgiveness. Is that right? 6 A. Yes.

7 A. lwould - yeah, that would have 7 Q. [Ifyou exclude the first three

8 been - that would have been helpful to know. 8 payments that were made in 2017 and '18, they

9 Q. Imean, it's —you wouldn't dispute 9 total about $3.3 million or $3.4 million.

10 thatif, in fact, this chart is correct and 10 Is my math roughly correct?

11 Mr. Dondero was making payments in 2017, '18, and 1 A, Yes, itlooks that way.

12 '19 against those notes, that those notes were not 12 Q. Okay.

13 likely to be subject to any forgiveness agreement, 13 Sois it fair then to just —if you

14 correct? 14 deduct that from the total, to say that

15 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 15 Mr. Dondero made principal and interest payments
16 A. As | testified before, you could have 16 against those two notes in 2019 in excess of

17 aloan forgiveness that you would make payments 17 $20 milion?

18 on. Itreally would depend on the circumstances 18 A. Thatlooks correct, yes.

19 and what you thought the probability of the 19 Q. Okay.
20 forgiveness happening, but answering your 20 Now, do you see the last payment was
21 question, yes, | would have liked to have known 21 made, if you look at the Row 16, on December 23,
22 aboutthis. 22 2019?
23 Q. According to this chart, if you just 23 A. Yes.
24 focus - you see the Column G, "Total Received in 24 Q. Okay.
25 Respect of Retired Notes"? 25 And do you understand that that's
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2 after the pefition date? 2 Q. Anddo you seein Column G, it shows
3 A, Yes, that would be. 3 that once the portion of the payment was applied
4 Q. And according to this chart anyway, in 4 tothe January 2018 note, the total that was

5 Column B, the payment that was made on that date 5 applied was about 319,000 and change?

6 was approximately $783,000? 6 A. Yes. Okay.

7 A, Yes. 7 Q. Andthen there's an asterisk in

8 Q. And that money was applied to 8 Column H next to that total received on that date.
9 outstanding principal and interest that was due 9 Do you see that?

10 under the January 18, 2018 note. 10 A. Yes.

11 Do you see that? 11 Q. Okay.

12 A Yes. 12 And if you look at the footnote, it

13 Q. Okay. 13 says the difference between the total paid on

14 And do you see how the principal 14 December 23, 2019 and the amount applied to the
15 balance of $7.9 million was paid exactly as of 15 January 18, 2018 note was applied in three

16 December 23,2019? 16 different ways.

17 A.  I'msonmy, | don'tunderstand. The 17 Do you see that?

18 7.9was - 18 A. Yes.

19 Q. Was the principal amount of the note, 19 Q. Anddo you see that it was applied
20 right? 20 against principal and interest due on three other
21 And 'l represent to you that the 21 notes that Mr. Dondero took in 2018?
22 January '18 note was given by Mr. Dondero to 22 A Yes.
23 Highland in exchange for 17. - for a $7.9 million 23 Q. Were you aware, until | showed you
24 loan on the same day. Okay? 24 this, that Mr. Dondero had made payments of
25 A, Okay. 25 principal and interest against the notes that he
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2 contends are subject to the forgiveness agreement? 2 interest.

3 A. I don'tthink | was aware of that. 3 Q. Okay. Idon'twantto double count.

4 Q. Isthata fact that you would have 4 Letme try and doit again.

5 liked to have known before you completed your 5 Do you see the total Dondero payment
6 report? 6 amountin Column B is $24.143 million.

7 A.  lwould have probably liked to have 7 A. Yes.

8 known that, yes. 8 Q. Ifwe simply deduct from that

9 Q. Andwhy is that? 9 $677,000, do you come out to roughly

10 A.  The statement | made in the report 10 $23-and-a-half million?

11 around the practice of the company to forgive 1 A.  Yes, thatsright. That's right.

12 loans, | would have had to perhaps rethought that. 12 Q. And that $23-and-a-half million was

13 This would have been — this would have been 13 paid in the 370-day period between December 18,
14 information that | would have liked to have known, 14 2018 and December 23, 2019, correct?

15 yes. 15 A. ldon'twantto be a stickler here,

16 Q. Infact, this page shows that, you 16 but if you look to the payment amount of

17 know, if we exclude the payment made in late 2017, 17 24 million, | think you were trying to say that

18 from December 2018 to December 2019, Mr. Dondero 18 the end of '18-'19, so you'd subtract those first
19 paid approximately $23-and-a-half milion again 19 three payments in that Column B, I think, which
20 principal and interest due on 5 different notes. 20 gets you to about $20 million.
21 Have | characterized that fairly based 21 So it looks like in 19 — it's north
22 onthis chart? 22 of $20 million.
23 A.  Ithink you may have double counted in 23 Q. Okay.
24 your arithmetic, but the point is he made 24 And if we add the payments that were
25 significant payments against principal and 25 made on December 18, 2018 and December 19, 2018,
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2 you come up with about 23 to $23-and-a-half 2 subject to a - you know, a forgiveness agreement,
3 million, right? 3 which, as | testified earfier, you know, could

4 A.  Something like that, that's right. 4 happen, butit would certainly be a fact you'd

5 Q. And that's about a one-year period 5 want to - you know, you'd want to consider.

6 that straddles the petition date, to the best of 6 Q. And tell me the understanding - your

7 your knowledge, right? 7 opinion as to the circumstances under which you

8 A. Yes. Yes,itdoes. 8 think a maker under notes would rationally make a
9 Q. And so those payments, according to 9 payment of principal and interest against notes
10 this chart - and, again, I'm asking you to assume 10 that were the subject of a forgiveness agreement?
11 the accuracy of this chart — according to this 11 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

12 chart, for the approximately one-year period from 12 A, Well, I think, as | testified earlier,

13 December 2018 to December 2019, Mr. Dondero made 13 1think someone would think to themselves, what is
14 principal and interest payments of approximately 14 the likelihood of those notes being forgiven?

15 23 to $23-and-a-half million against 5 different 15 If they believe they're not likely to

16 promissory notes that were held by Highland, 16 be forgiven, and if they're a senior executive of

17 comect? 17 the company and the company perhaps needs the
18 A. Yes, | believe that's true. 18 money, they might make those payments. A rational
19 Q. Andisitfair to say that that 19 executive or borrower could make those payments
20 information conflicts with the concept of Highland 20 believing that, perhaps, the likelihood of the
21 having a practice of forgiving loans? 21 things being forgiven is not high and/or the
22 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 22 company needs the money.
23 A.  Well, as | said earlier, it doesn't 23 Q. Did - did anybody give you any
24 mean that the loans weren't forgivable. It means 24 explanation as to why Mr. Dondero made
25 he made payments against loans that may have been 25 approximately $23-and-a-half million of payments
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2 against premium - against principal and interest 2 Mr. Johnson's report, Exhibit 627

3 due on these 5 notes? 3 And if we can go to page 3, please.

4 A. No, they did not. 4 Q. Thisis the introduction of your

5 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge and 5 report, right?

6 understanding was Mr. Dondero in control of 6 A. Yes.

7 Highland throughout that period December 2018 7 Q. And now that we've done the work we

8 until the end of 20197 8 have so far today, 'm going to point you to the

9 A.  I'mnot-I'm not sure about what 9 sentence towards the end of the first paragraph

10 happened in bankruptcy, but certainly from the 10 that says, "Throughout this period, he received

11 period up until the filing of the bankruptcy, he 11 loans in lieu of additional current compensation.”
12 was in control. 12 Do you see that?

13 Q. Okay. 13 A. Yes.

14 Do you know — if you look at the 14 Q. Andthe "he" there refers to

15 restructure note, the January 18, 2018 note, and 15 Mr. Dondero, correct?

16 the notes that are referred to in Rows 21, 22, and 16 A Yes.

17 23, are you able to identify which of them, if 17 Q. Knowing what you know now, do you

18 any, are subject to the modification agreement 18 stand by that statement?

19 described if your report? 19 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
20 A. I cannot identify them, no. 20 MR. MORRIS: Withdrawn.
21 Q. So you don't know which, if any, were 21 Q. Knowing what you know now, do you
22 the subject - were subject to the agreement. 22 believe that statement is accurate?
23 Do I have that right? 23 A. I'd have to rethink about t. |
24 A. lcan'tidentify them, no. 24 haven't heard anything that would say what he told
25 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Can we go back to 25 me was not frue.
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2 Q. Have you seen any evidence that 2 or affiiates other than Highland?

3 Mr. Dondero ever received a loan in lieu of 3 A. Wel, I -inthis case, everything is

4 additional current compensation? 4 kind of inter - intertwined here, so when | talk

5 A. Besides his — his assertions to me, 5 about loans, the loan could have potentially come
6 I've seen no written documentation, no. 6 from an affiliate or some other organization since
7 Q. And, in fact, the audited financial 7 these all were co-owned.

8 statements that we looked at did, in fact, 8 So we went through the Highland thing,
9 disclose the loans that were forgiven to the 9 sothe loans to Mr. Dondero could have been made
10 individuals that you spoke with, correct? 10 by - potentially could have been made by an

11 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 11 affiliate or some other entity.

12 A. Yes. 12 Q. Do you have knowledge of any affiliate
13 Q. There was nothing in any of the 13 everforgiving any loan to Mr. Dondero?

14 audited financial statements that we saw that 14 A. ldonot.

15 showed that any loan was ever given to Mr. Dondero 15 Q. Do you have knowledge of any affiliate
16 that was forgiven, correct? 16 ever forgiving in whole or in part any loan to

17 A.  Inthe Highland financials we looked 17 anyone in the world?

18 at—and | guess when that was asked before, | 18 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

19 had the caveat around the affiliated companies, 19 A. |-1don't have any knowledge of
20 butin the Highland financials that we went 20 thateither.
21 through, there was nothing disclosed of that. 21 Q. And your report does not depend in any
22 Q. Highland - does the practice of other 22 way, sir, on whether or not affiliates forgave
23 entities in terms — is that — withdrawn. 23 loans to any of its employees, correct?
24 When you described the practice, are 24 MR. AIGEN: Objection to form.
25 you describing the practice of firms or entities 25 A, That's correct.
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2 Q. Looking at the last sentence, there's 2 that sentence is accurate?

3 areference to company practice. 3 Withdrawn.

4 Do you see that? 4 Based on everything we've talked about
5 A Yes. 5 and looked at today, are you confident that

6 Q. That company practice would not 6 Mr. Dondero accurately disclosed to you the

7 include the forgiveness of any loans from the year 7 subject of this agreement?

8 2009 until the end of 2018, correct? 8 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

9 A.  None - none of those would have 9 A.  I'msonmy, could you repeat that?

10 been - none of those were disclosed in the 10 Q. Sure.

11 financials we looked at. 1 Mr. Dondero told you that the 2018

12 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 6, 12 loans were the subject of a modification

13 please? 13 agreement, correct?

14 Q. Yeah, I'mlooking at the first 14 A. Yes.

15 sentence of the second bullet point: | understand 15 Q. Would you stake your professional

16 from Mr. Dondero that the 2018 loans that are the 16 reputation on the accuracy of what he told you?
17 subject of the suit were modified by an agreement 17 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.

18 inlate 2018 or early 2019 under which the loans 18 A. |-Iheard himclearly. |can't

19  would be forgiven upon the sale and over cost of 19 vouch for his word, but he told me - what is

20 substantially of any of three portfolio companies. 20 written there is what — is what he told me

21 Have | generally categorized that 21 happened. And | asked that question.

22 statement comrectly? 22 Q. lappreciate that.

23 A, Yes. 23 So--

24 Q. Based on everything that we've talked 24 A. Iwasn'tfinished. I'm sory.

25 about and looked at today, are you confident that 25 Q. lapologize.
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2 A.  Solasked that question, you know, 2 mean it's not —it's not frue.

3 pretty specifically, so that — | understood that 3 Q. Would the lack of disclosure to the

4 that's what he said. 4 bankruptcy also call it into question -

5 And I'm somry to interrupt you. I'm 5 MR. AIGEN: Objection to form.

6 somy. Goahead. 6 Q. —inyouropinion?

7 Q. That's okay. 7 A. Certainly, as | testified before,

8 So what you've reported in this 8 people often in chaotic situations don't do the

9 sentence is what you were told. Is that fair? 9 things that are even to their advantage.

10 A. Yes, | was told by Mr. Dondero about 10 So certainly that raised — that

11 the modification of the loans. 11 raises questions about, again, did he disclose

12 Q. And you don't have any information or 12 things that may have been even to his advantage in
13 evidence to support that statement other than what 13 abankruptcy situation.

14 he told you, correct? 14 Q. Would the existence of the agreement
15 A. I've seen no other document, no. 15 be called into question if you assumed that the

16 Q. Does the absence of documentation 16 decision maker never told anybody in the world
17 cause you to question the reliability of what 17 that he or she had entered into the agreement on
18 Mr. Dondero told you as described in that 18 behalf of the company?

19 sentence? 19 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
20 A.  Well, as | testified before, | think 20 A.  Certainly. The lack of disclosure is
21 it certainly would bring it into question, but as 21 areasonable question to ask, Why didn't you
22 |testified before, | have other clients that 22 disclose?
23 don't document important things as well. Soit 23 But as I've said a couple times now,
24 would certainly — not the lack of documentation 24 that I've got private clients that over time have
25 would bring it into question, but that doesn't 25 notdisclosed things, and as | testified earlier,

Page 212 Page 213

1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 | admonish them to write things down and disclose 2 Q. They didn't mention any other entity,

3 them, and they often don't. 3 cormect?

4 Q. Looking back at the document on the 4 A. That, | don'tremember. |don't

5 screen, the next-to-the-last sentence of that 5 believe so.

6 paragraph says, "Based on interviews from prior 6 Q. You wrote Highland, right?

7 employees, the use of forgivable loans was a known 7 A Yes.

8 business practice at Highland, and there was a 8 Q. And you haven't seen any documents

9 clear expectation similar loans would be 9 that support the known business practice that they
10 forgiven." 10 described for you, correct?

1 Do you see that? 1 A.  Ihave seen no written documentation,
12 A Yes. 12 no.

13 Q. Okay. 13 Q. When you referred to a "clear

14 The prior employees are the four 14 expectation," whose expectation are you referring
15 people we talked about before, right? 15 to?

16 A Yes. 16 A.  The recipient of the loan, that's what

17 Q. And they told you about the four loans 17 1 was referring to.

18 that they had that were forgiven in whole orin 18 Q. Andwhen you used the phrase "similar
19 part, correct? 19 loans," do you mean similar to the ones that were
20 A.  And | would answer that, yes, they 20 forgiven by the four employees - the four former
21 said it, and Mr. Dondero mentioned it as well. 21 employees that you interviewed?
22 Q. Andthey told that there was a use of 22 A. I meantjust that there was a loan of
23 forgivable loans as a nonbusiness practice at 23 asignificant period of time and it would be
24 Highland, right? 24 forgiven over time. That's what | was trying to
25 A. Yes. 25 getatthere.
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2 Q. Now that you have seen — withdrawn. 2 this, Mr. Dondero rationally could have said to

3 Now that | have shown you the 3 himself, Il repay the loans because the company
4 demonstrative exhibit that reflects payments by 4 needs the money and/or the odds of selling one of
5 Mr. Dondero against 5 different promissory notes 5 these three assets in a reasonably timely manner
6 inthe 12-month period between December '18 and 6 may be unlikely, but I'm just speculating on what
7 December 19, do you believe that he had a clear 7 he - he may have thought.

8 expectation that his loans would be forgiven? 8 Q. Okay.

9 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 9 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 16,
10 A. I-Idon't—1Idon't—-he hasn't 10 please?

11 told me what his expectation — | don't - | would 11 Q. Justtofinish this up, in the middle,

12 just be speculating about what his expectations 12 itsays, "ltis my opinion that the loans provided
13 were. 13 to Mr. Dondero should be considered potential
14 Q. Well, paying - paying more than 14 deferred compensation as they were similar to
15 $23 million in a 12-month period is inconsistent 15 loans given to other professionals at the firm."

16 with any expectation that the loans would be 16 Have | read that correctly?

17 forgiven. 17 A. Yes.

18 Would you give me that? 18 Q. After our questions today and looking
19 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 19 atthe documents is that still your opinion?
20 A.  Well, | think | testified before that 20 A Well, I think it goes back to what
21 you could forgive - you could make payments 21 Mr. Dondero told me. If what Mr. Dondero told me
22 against the loan if you thought the probability of 22 is accurate, it - his statement continues to be
23 achieving the goals were not highly likely and/or 23 true, that these loans were intended to be
24 the company needed the money. 24 forgiven, and that that would have been similar to
25 So on a private situation, such as 25 the other four executives that | interviewed.
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2 Q. So that sentence and your opinion is 2 firm. They have an unusual stature in the

3 dependent 100 percent on the accuracy of what 3 industry and so forth.

4 Mr. Dondero told you, correct? 4 So when you look at large or outsized

5 A.  [fMr. Dondero, you know, was 5 pay packages, they're often delivered to founders
6 inaccurate, then that sentence will be inaccurate 6 of similar financial firms.

7 aswell 7 Q. Have you done any analysis to

8 Q. Andis there anything that we looked 8 determine what the founder’s premium would be in
9 attoday, like the financial statements or the 9 this case?

10 payment history for the 12-month period from 10 A. lhavenot.

11 December 2018 to December 2019, that calls you to 11 Q. You're not offering any opinion as to

12 question the accuracy of what he told you? 12 what the founder's premium should be, correct?
13 A. Idon't—-Idon't—Ibelieve it 13 A. I have not done that work, no.

14 still could very well be true, so | don't - | 14 Q. You haven't attempted to quantify what
15 don't—1don't believe that - | don't believe | 15 the founder's premium is, correct?

16 would have changed that sentence based on what 16 A.  Again, | haven't done that work.

17 I've heard today. 17 Q. Isthere a particular reason why you

18 Q. Yourreport refers in several places 18 didn't attempt to quantify or analyze the

19 toafounder's premium. 19 founder's premium that you referred to in your
20 Do | have that phrased right? 20 report?

21 A, Yes. Yes,itdoes. 21 A. Well, when | wrote the report in May,
22 Q. What's afounder's premium? 22 | didn't have available some of the things we've
23 A.  Inmany or most financial services 23 talked about today, | just didn't feel that that

24 companies, founders get paid more than comparable 24 was appropriate.

25 executives elsewhere. They're the face of the 25 So | took what | thought was a
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2 conservative view of what the market rate with him 2 Q. Isitfairto say that somebody else

3 would be, and then it could obviously be 3 might differ with you and apply either a 4-year

4 supplemented at some future point with additional 4 period, for example, or a 10-year period?

5 information or facts. 5 A. Reasonable people might have a

6 Q. Butas you sit here today, you haven't 6 different point of view, yes.

7 done any analysis to try to update your report to 7 Q. Did you rely on any particular

8 quantify a founder's premium, comect? 8 methodology or industry study in reaching your
9 A. lhave not. 9 decision to use a seven-year period?
10 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 19 of 10 A. No.
11 Mr. Johnson's report. 11 Q. Isthere any article that you're aware

12 Q. Rightthere at the top, you've got 12 of or any presentation anybody has ever made
13 Exhibit C. That's Mr. Dondero's actual 13 whereby they — they suggested that when doing an
14 compensation for the period 2013 to 2019. 14 analysis of this type, one ought to the use a

15 Do I have that right? 15 seven-year look-back period?

16 A. Yes. 16 A. |-Idon't—I'm not aware of

17 Q. Whydid you use that seven-year 17 any —-any study like that.

18 period? 18 Q. And the reason that the timeline is

19 A, ltwas after the financial crisis. It 19 important, of course, is it because you're just
20 seemed more stability in the business. It seemed 20 multiplying the difference between Mr. Dondero's
21 like areasonable period to look at. 21 compensation as reflected in this chart -
22 Q. Isthere any - is the decision to use 22 withdrawn.
23 the seven-year period from 2018 t0 2019 a 23 The reason why the time period is
24 subjective decision that you made on your own? 24 important, because you're taking the average of
25 A. Tobe-Idon'tremember. 25 Mr. Dondero's annual compensation during the
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2 seven-year period and comparing it with the 2 the - anyway, that was the point.

3 average for your comps and multiplying it by 3 Q. Andif areasonable mind decided that,
4 seven, comrect? 4 you know, the look-back period should be a bit

5 A, Well, I'm looking at his average pay 5 shorter, only 5 years, then the delta would only

6 overthe period. | wanted a long enough period to 6 be $15 million, right?

7 be representative and looking at what the market 7 A.  Assuming the same facts, the 3 million
8 rate would have been over that period, so yes, you 8 and the 6 million, that's right.

9 arithmetically will come up with a difference over 9 Q. And if somebody thought it ought to be
10 that period. 10 10 years, then the delta be would be $30 million,
1 Q. And your difference is $21 million, 11 right?

12 right? 12 A. Itcould be, but | don't know what his

13 A Yes. 13 pay was prior to 2013. Maybe that wouldn't be
14 Q. And your difference is $21 million 14 accurate. But yes, assuming the facts are the
15 because you compared Mr. Dondero's average of 15 same, that would be - that would be accurate.
16 $3 million with what you determined to be the 16 Q. Okay. Butone of the three factors —
17 industry average of $6 million, you took the 17 sothere are 3 factors in the $21 million. It's

18 difference of 3 and multiplied it by the 7 years 18 Mr. Dondero's average compensation during the
19 and you got to $21 million, correct? 19 7-year period, correct?
20 A.  Insimple fashion, that's right. 20 A Yes.
21 Q. Isthere any other fashion in which my 21 Q. And it's the industry average as
22 description of what you did is incorrect? 22 you've determined for the seven-year period,
23 A. No. Ithink that's accurate, but the 23 correct?
24 point was that he had been underpaid from a W-2 24 A, WEell, just to be picky, it's not the
25 perspective during this period and, you know, 25 industry average. It's what | think the market
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2 was for his particular role, which was 6 million, 2 Q. Okay.

3 butyes, it's 3 million and 6 million. 3 And why did you decide that this

4 Q. Thankyou. Thank you for the 4 analysis should incorporate Mr. Dondero's Highland
5 clarification. 5 Capital Management W-2 income?

6 And then the third factor in reaching 6 A. Thatis his reported employee

7 the $21 million is multtiplying the difference 7 compensation.

8 between those first two numbers by 7, correct? 8 Q. The nextline relates to NexPoint

9 A. Exactly. 9 Residential Trust W-2 income.
10 Q. And you determined to use 7, correct? 10 Do you see that?
11 A. Yes. 11 A. Yes.
12 Q. And you made that determination based 12 Q. You've only included income for 2018.
13 on your subjective judgment, correct? 13 Do I have that right?

14 A. Yes. 14 A. Thatsright.

15 Q. And you're not aware of any — any 15 Q. Why did you decide that it was

16 guideline, any analysis, any peer-reviewed 16 appropriate to include NexPoint Residential Trust
17 article, any presentation, anything in the world 17 W-2 income in your analysis?

18 that caused you to select 7 years. You just based 18 A. ltwasaW-2. Ithink he was paid as

19 that on your own experience. Is that fair? 19 an employee, and that should be recognized here.
20 A. Thatsfair. 20 Q. And how come you only disclosed the
21 Q. Okay. 21 income for2018?
22 Soif you look at the chart, you've 22 A.  That's the only one we have W-2 for.
23 gotthree different line items. The firstis 23 Q. Okay.
24 "Highland Capital Management W-2 Income," correct? 24 How about NexPoint Advisors' W-2
25 A. Yes. 25 income, why did you decide to include that in this
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2 analysis? 2 here, but what | think you did is you went and did
3 A, Again, it was employee income. 3 some research and you tried to identify executives
4 These businesses are so intertwined 4 who had similar responsibilities to Mr. Dondero —-
5 that | included his pay for, you now, his 5 Mr. Dondero and you reviewed what information was
6 activities at NexPoint. 6 in the public domain to try to ascertain what

7 Q. Okay. 7 their total compensation was for each of the years
8 And did you not go back prior to 2016 8 2013 through 2019.

9 because you didn't have any W-2 income for that 9 Is that generally correct?

10 entity? 10 A.  Yes, that's generally correct.

1 A. Didn'thave a W-2 income. 11 Q. And looking at this chart, this chart

12 Q. Do you know if Mr. Dondero received 12 at the bottom of page 21 only relates to 2019.

13 any other W-2 income from any other 13 Do | have that right?

14 Highland-related affiliate? 14 A, Yes.

15 A.  We were not - | was not aware that 15 Q. And you have one, two, three, four,

16 there was any others. 16 five, six, seven comps.

17 Q. Ifyou were aware of other W-2 income 17 Do | have that right?

18 that Mr. Dondero received from a Highland 18 A Yes.

19 Aaffiliate, would you have included it in this 19 Q. And the first portion of the analysis
20 analysis? 20 shows the total base salary cash bonus for the
21 A, Iwould have included it, yes. 21 total amount of total cash that was paid to each
22 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Let's godown to 22 executive by their employer in 2019. Is that
23 page 21, and if we can go to the bottom of 23 right?
24 the page. 24 A. That'sright.
25 Q. Allright. So correct me if 'm wrong 25 Q. Now, Mr. Dondero received
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2 substantially more cash than any of these 2 Q. Inyour expert opinion, is it

3 executives in 2019, correct? 3 appropriate to include the value of the stock

4 A. ldon'trecall his actual cashiin 4 options when trying to assess the total

5 2019. That, | don't know, sitting here. 5 compensation of an executive comparable to

6 Q. And then the next part of the analysis 6 Mr. Dondero?

7 relates to stock options and restricted shares. 7 A. Yes, itwould be.

8 Let's take them one at a time. 8 Q. Did you ask Mr. Dondero or anybody

9 What are stock options for purposes of 9 acting on his behalf whether he ever received any
10 your analysis? 10 stock options of any kind?
11 A.  It'sthe value of a - of an award 11 A. Ididnot.

12 made, and this is their disclosed value of the 12 Q. Soisitfair to say that your

13 ability to exercise a - a — an option to 13 analysis does not take into account the value of
14 purchase the company's stock at a fixed price. So 14 any stock options that Mr. Dondero may have
15 if on the day of grant the company is trading at 15 received?

16 $25, you're granted options to purchase the stock 16 A. I'was not aware that he received any,
17 at$25. 17 soitwould not have included it, no.

18 You don't have to exercise. The stock 18 Q. And nobody told you that he received
19 increases in value at some point within a 10-year 19 any, correct?
20 period, you can exercise those options and realize 20 A. No.
21 again. 21 Q. Andyou didn't ask, correct?
22 The numbers shown here reflect their 22 A. I don'trecall whether | asked or not,
23 disclosed value in their proxy statement, so use 23 but|didn't see it anyway.
24 Black-Scholes or some other method to value the 24 Q. The next column relates to restricted
25 prospective value of these options. 25 shares.
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2 Do you see that? 2 Q. Soisitfairto say that your

3 A Yes. 3 analysis does not take into account any restricted
4 Q. What are restricted shares? 4 shares that Mr. Dondero may have received during
5 A.  It's the grant of shares with time 5 the 7-year period of your — of your analysis?

6 vesting. So you receive $100,000 worth of stock 6 A.  Well, he would have if either options

7 inthe company, and then that vests over, say, a 7 were the restricted shares. Ifthey had tumed

8 3-or4-yearperiod. Soit's a fixed number of 8 into actual shares, they would have shown up in
9 shares that vest on the passage of ime. 9 his W-2.

10 Q. Andin your professional and expert 10 So if there were things that didn't

11 opinion, do you believe that the value of 11 show up in his W-2, then yes, | would have been
12 restricted shares should be considered when 12 unaware of it.

13 assessing the total compensation received by 13 Q. Okay.

14 executives comparable to Mr. Dondero? 14 And is the total long term just the

15 A. Yes. 15 addition really of the stock options and the

16 Q. Did you ask Mr. Dondero or anybody 16 restricted shares?

17 acting on his behalf whether he had ever received 17 A Yes.

18 restricted shares during the 7-year period you 18 Q. Okay.

19 were analyzing? 19 Allright. So let's look at a few
20 A. | don'trecall asking that, no. 20 more documents. I'm almost done here.
21 Q. Did Mr. Dondero or anybody on his 21 MR. MORRIS: Can we go back up to the
22 behalf ever disclose to you any restricted shares 22 page with Mr. Dondero's chart, 19.
23 that Mr. Dondero may have received? 23 Yeah, there we go.
24 A. I'm notaware that he received any. 24 Q. Okay. So you included the NexPoint
25 No one told me anything about it. 25 Residential Trust W-2 income, correct?
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2 A Yes. 2 the top of the document.

3 Q. And the only reason that you limited 3 Q. Do you see that Mr. Dondero had W-2
4 yourself to 2018 is because you hadn't found any 4 income in 2019 of approximately $1.5 million?

5 W-2income related to that entity during your 5 A. Yes, | believe that's right.

6 diligence, right? 6 Q. Okay.

7 A. That'sright. 7 So for consistency, your report should

8 MR. MORRIS: Can we please put up 8 be amended - the chart on paragraph 19 should be
9 what's been marked as Exhibit 67. 9 amended to include the number that's in box 1 of
10 (Exhibit 67, 2019 W-2 , was marked for 10 the W-2 under W-2 income from NexPoint Residential
1 identification at this time.) 11 Trustin 2019; correct?

12 BYMR MORRIS: 12 A. Ifl've missed it, then it should be

13 Q. Do you see that thisis a 2019 W-2 13 included, yes.

14 made out to Mr. Dondero from NexPoint Residential 14 MR. MORRIS: Can we go - can we put
15 Trust, Inc.? 15 up Exhibit 67-27?

16 A Yes,yes. 16 (Exhibit 67-2, 2017 W-2 , was marked

17 Q. Okay. Andif we go to the bottom of 17 for identification at this time.)
18 the page, do you see it says, "Expert No. 1"? 18 BYMR.MORRIS:
19 A. Yes, |seethat. 19 Q. Do you see that this is a 2017 W-2
20 Q. Thisis, infact, a document that was 20 issued by NexPoint Residential Trust, Inc. to
21 provided to you before you completed your report, 21 Mr. Dondero?
22 right? 22 A. Yes.
23 A, |believe that that appears to be 23 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to the bottom
24 right. 24 of the page?
25 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Let's goback to 25 Can we just see the Bates number?
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2 Oh, hold on, I know what | have to do. 2 consistent, that $625,000 should have been

3 Yeah, there you go. 3 included in your report in the chart on page 19,

4 Q. Do you see that i's Bates stamped 4 correct?

5 page 9377 5 A. Ibelieve that's right.

6 A, Yes,|seethat. 6 Q. Okay.

7 Q. Does that indicate that that document 7 So those two entries alone are

8 was provided to you before you completed your 8 approximately $2.5 million, or more than

9 report? 9 10 percent of the $21 million difference that you
10 A. I don'tknow what the Bates number 10 calculated, correct?

11 means, but | see the 937. 1 A.  Yes, | believe that's right.

12 Q. Well, I'l represent to you, sir, that 12 Q. Okay.

13 if we went to page 25 of your report, this 13 MR. MORRIS: Can we please put up
14 document would be listed among those that you were 14 Exhibit No. 687

15 given before you completed your report. 15 (Exhibit 68, compensation and benefit
16 MR. MORRIS: Can we go back up to the 16 statement for 2016, was marked for

17 top of the document? 17 identification at this time.)

18 Q. Do youseeinBoxNo. 1, it discloses 18 BY MR. MORRIS:

19 wages of approximately $625,000? 19 Q. Okay. Sowhat's on the screen, sir,
20 A Yes,|seethat. 20 is a compensation and benefit statement that |
21 Q. Andthat's the corrected information, 21 will represent to you was prepared by Highland in
22 right? 22 the ordinary course of its business for years for
23 A. Yes. 23 every employee - | think for every employee in
24 Q. Okay. 24 the organization.
25 So looking at this now, in order to be 25 And if we go down to the bottom, you
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2 can see that this document was produced to 2 Q. And that award of $1.2 million relates

3 Mr. Dondero's lawyers previously. 3 t050,000 restricted stock units of NXRT.

4 And if we can scroll back up, do you 4 Do you see that?

5 see that there's reference in the middle to a 2016 5 A. Yes.

6 deferred compensation award? 6 Q. Andyou testified earlier that

7 MR. AIGEN: Hey, John, I think you 7 restricted stock is something that should be taken
8 tried to scroll down to show the Bates 8 into account when assessing the total compensation
9 label, but | don't think it went far enough. 9 of an executive, correct?

10 | just want to write down what the 10 A. Yes.

1 Bates label was so | can have it for my 11 Q. And NXRT, do you know what that symbol
12 records. 12 represents?

13 MR. MORRIS: Sure. 13 A. I don'tthink I've seen that symbol.

14 MR. AIGEN: Orif you can read it into 14 Q. Okay. IfIrepresented to you that it

15 the record, that will work, too. 15 is the symbol for the NexPoint Residential Trust
16 MR. MORRIS: Sure. 16 that we were just looking at — the W-2s that we
17 It's D-CNL003585. 17 were just looking at, do you think that this

18 MR. AIGEN: Thank you. 18 $1.2 million should be taken into account in

19 Q. Anddo you see that he's got total 19 Mr. Dondero's 2016 total compensation since it is
20 compensation listed there of $2.3 million? 20 restricted stock units that were given to himin
21 A, Yes,|seethat. 21 thatyear?
22 Q. Okay. 22 A.  I'd certainly have to consider that,
23 Do you see that there's a reference to 23 vyes.
24 adeferred compensation award? 24 Q. Okay.
25 A. Yes. 25 But you weren't given this
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2 information, correct? 2 myreport, no.

3 A. I don'tthink I've seen this. 3 Q. You would have - this number -

4 Q. Okay. 4 withdrawn.

5 MR. MORRIS: Can we please go to 5 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to the bottom
6 Exhibit 50, 5-0. 6 of the page, please?

7 (Exhibit 50, compensation and benefit 7 Just for the record, this is document

8 statement for 2017, was marked for 8 with Bates No. D-CNL003587.

9 identification at this time.) 9 And if you can scroll back up.

10 BYMR MORRIS: 10 Q. IfMr. Dondero received restricted

1 Q. [lllrepresent to you that this is 11 stock units of NexPoint Residential Trustin 2017
12 Mr. Dondero's compensation and benefit statement 12 for the performance - for his performance during
13 for2017. 13 that year in an amount of $1.55 million that's —

14 Do you see there's another reference 14 that's compensation that you would have included
15 to approximately $1.55 million in restricted stock 15 in your report had you known about it at the time,
16 units that were granted to him for the 2017 16 cormect?

17 performance year? 17 A.  Probably would have, yes.

18 A Yes,|seethat. 18 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Canwe goto

19 Q. And nobody told you that Mr. Dondero 19 Exhibit 51, please.

20 had received any stock options prior to today, 20 (Exhibit 51, compensation and benefit

21 cormrect — withdrawn. 21 statement for 2018, was marked for

22 Nobody told you that Mr. Dondero had 22 identification at this time.)

23 received restricted stock units of NXRT before 23 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Thisis

24 today, correct? 24 Mr. Dondero's compensation and benefits
25 A. lwas not aware of this when | wrote 25 statement for 2018.
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2 If we can go to the bottom. 2 identification at this time.)
3 And it has Bates No. D-CNL003588. 3 BYMR.MORRIS:
4 And if we can scroll back up, please. 4 Q. Andwhen you say you would have looked
5 BYMR.MORRIS: 5 atthe awards, if you assume that they are
6 Q. According to this compensation and 6 restricted stock units of NexPoint Residential
7 benefits statement, Mr. Dondero received almost 7 Trust, is there any basis on which you would not
8 $1.7 million in restricted stock units of NXRT for 8 have included those restricted — the value those
9 the 2018 performance year. 9 restricted stock units in an analysis of
10 Do you see that? 10 Mr. Dondero's total compensation, just as you did
11 A. Yes,|do. 11 for the other executives that are your comps?
12 Q. Were you told that Mr. Dondero 12 A.  lwantto know what the terms of the
13 received restricted stock units of NXRT for the 13 awards were. | don't know how NXRT was valued, so
14 2018 performance year? 14 | would want to — more information about - this
15 A. lwas not aware of that. 15 is as employee statement, so | don't know how
16 Q. Had you known that prior to issuing 16 accurate it would be, but | would certainly — if
17 your report, would you have included that in your 17 I'd have been aware of this, would certainly want
18 assessment of Mr. Dondero's total compensation for 18 to consider what those awards were worth, you
19 the year 20187 19 know, what a comparable like-to-like comparison
20 A. Iwould have looked at those awards, 20 would be.
21 yes. 21 Q. Okay.
22 MR. MORRIS: Let's go to Exhibit 52, 22 The next document that we have on the
23 please. 23 screen is Exhibit 52, which is Mr. Dondero's
24 (Exhibit 52, compensation and benefits 24 compensation and benefits statement for 2019.
25 statement for 2019, was marked for 25 And if we go to the bottom, we will
Page 240 Page 241
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2 seeithas Bates No. D-CNL003589. 2 A. |-1don'tknow what amount of the 5
3 Do you see that, sir? 3 milion 6. Ithink, as | said before, I'd want to
4 A. Yes. 4 know more about these entities and what — what -
5 Q. Andif we scroll back up, you'll see 5 you know, how they were valued and so forth, but
6 that Mr. Dondero received in 2019 a deferred 6 I'd certainly want to be aware of it in coming up
7 compensation award of approximately $5.6 million 7 with an aggregated figure for its compensation.
8 in the form of various grants of what appear to be 8 Q. Asyousit here right now, based on
9 stock? 9 the documents we've looked at so far, your
10 A.  Yes, the number on the page is 5 10 $21 million is subject to some questions. Is that
11 million 6, yes. 11 fair?
12 Q. And you weren't told that Mr. Dondero 12 A. ltsfair. Certainly, the cash
13 had received any grants of stock as part of a 13 amounts that he was paid should be added back, and
14 deferred compensation award in 2019, correct? 14 then we have these series of deferred comp awards
15 A. Iwas not aware of that, no. 15 that I'd have to consider how do we include some
16 Q. Buthad you - had you known about the 16 orall of it value.
17 deferred compensation award, you certainly would 17 Q. Butyou weren't told about any of
18 have asked the questions, right? 18 these awards before you prepared your report,
19 A. Iwould have asked questions, yes. 19 correct?
20 Q. Andisitfairto say as you sit here 20 A. lwas notaware of them.
21 right now that just as you included the restricted 21 Q. And you don't have any information as
22 stock and the stock options in your comps, you 22 you sit here today that you're aware of that
23 would have included this $5.6 million in your 23 relates to any of these awards except what I'm
24 analysis of Mr. Dondero's 2019 compensation? 24 showing you, right?
25 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 25 A.  I'mnotaware of the terms of these
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2 awards, no. 2 And do you see there's a reference to

3 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Letsgoto 3 Highland Capital Management PTE LTD?

4 Exhibit 67-3, which is Mr. Dondero's 2013 4 A. |seethat, yes.

5 Form 1040. 5 Q. Do you have any idea what that entity

6 (Exhibit 67-3, 2013 Form 1040, was 6 is?

7 marked for identification at this time.) 7 A. Idon't-Idon'tknow.

8 MR. MORRIS: And if we can go to PDF 8 Q. Have you ever heard of it before?

9 page 279 of 335. 9 A. ldon'tbelieve so.

10 BYMR.MORRIS: 10 Q. Inyour review of Mr. Dondero's tax

11 Q. Do you see you received Mr. Dondero's 11 retums, did you ever notice that he had received
12 Forms 1040 for the period 2013 through I think 12 W-2 income from that firm?

13 either 2019 or 2020, right? 13 A. Ifllooked atit, | don't recall.

14 A. Yes, | believe so. 14 Q. Based on the name of the entity by

15 Q. Did you take the time to look at the 15 itself, is it fair to conclude in the absence of

16 statements supporting his 1040s that relate to 16 contrary information that any W-2 income he

17 wages received? 17 received from an entity called Highland Capital
18 A. lwentthroughit, yes. 18 Management PTE LTD should have been included in
19 Q. Do you see on statement 12 there's a 19 your report?
20 reference to Highland Capital Management PTE LTD? 20 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
21 A. I'msorry, where are we on the page? 21 A. That-that, | don'tknow. That, |
22 Q. We're looking at the top. It's 22 don'tknow.
23 statement 12. 23 Q. Allright. Mr. Johnson, I'm going to,
24 A, Okay. 24 you know, save us all the pain and tell you that
25 Q. Okay. 25 ifwelooked at Mr. Dondero's Forms 1040 for the

Page 244 Page 245

1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 period from 2013 to 2019, Mr. Dondero reported 2 | think of the $8 million you referred

3 receiving W-2 income from Highland Capital 3 to, Ithink about 5 or 6 milion was made in the

4 Management PTE LTD in every single year. 4 year of bankruptcy, which | would certainly put

5 And | will also represent to you that 5 probably, in the work we do, put a question mark
6 the aggregate amount of those payments were 6 nextto, but you certainly pointed out some

7 approximately a half a million dollars, and that 7 omissions that should be included.

8 ifwe added up the value of the payment - the W-2 8 So the $21 million analysis would

9 payments from Highland Capital Management PTE LTD, 9 certainly look like it would get somewhat smaller,
10 along with the NexPoint Residential Trust W-2 10 but I would - sitting here, the 8 million you

11 income that we looked at, along with the value of 11 mentioned, that looks like about 4 or 5 million

12 the stock options, that we would come up with a 12 was a deferred comp award made in the year of
13 number in excess of $13 million, with that 13 bankruptcy, which I'd probably put a question mark
14 representation, how comfortable are you that your 14 around.

15 $21 million accurately states the difference 15 But it does look like, to some degree,

16 between what Mr. Dondero received in the 7-year 16 the $21 million difference that I've calculated

17 period from 2013 through 2019 and what he would 17 would be reduced.

18 have received if he had received the comparable 18 Q. Have you done any analysis to

19 market compensation for similarly situated 19 determine whether or not Mr. Dondero passed
20 executives? 20 through any personal expenses through the
21 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 21 business?
22 A.  Ithink you pointed out some 22 A, That, | don't know.
23 adjustments that would need to be made. |think, 23 Q. Isthat something that you would
24 as | testified before, | would need to go back and 24 consider if you had the information available, you
25 look at the value of those awards. 25 know, whether or not he passed personal expenses
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2 onthrough the business? 2 business owners often do, | probably wouldn't
3 A.  WEell, it should be - it should be 3 include it.
4 disclosed in his W-2, if he's - if he's filling 4 Q. Your comparable individuals in 2019,
5 outaW-2 or other income, but if it wasn't 5 are those CEOs of public companies?
6 reported on his taxes or there's a W-2, | wouldn't 6 A. The real comparison here, the
7 know about it. 7 $6 million figure, is primarily not CEOs of public
8 Q. lappreciate that you wouldn't know 8 companies. The small asset management companies
9 aboutit. 9 that we list are not — neither paid that high in
10 I'm just asking you if you were trying 10 the roles, as we say in the report, are
11 toassess the value that Mr. Dondero received from 11 meaningfully different.
12 serving as Highland's CEO, would you take into 12 I think the real reference point is
13 account, if you had the information available and 13 people who manage similar assets mostly in the
14 you could quantify it, the value of any personal 14 private domain. So | think many of those CEOs,
15 expenses that - that he ran through the business? 15 founders, owners, would — the issue we're talking
16 A.  Iwould be reluctant to do that just 16 about, would pass on allegedly personal expenses
17 because many private business owners do a similar 17 through the business.
18 thing, so it would not be fair to Mr. Dondero or 18 Q. How about - we talked about this a
19 any other executive in his position to only do one 19 little bit earlier.
20 side of that trade. 20 You're aware that Highland doesn't
21 Soif | said $6 million was the 21 have an ownership interestin HCRE or Highland
22 appropriate level that many private business 22 Capital Management Fund Advisors or NexPoint or
23 owners do similar things, so if there's something 23 Highland Capital Management Service, right?
24 particularly unusual, | might want to be aware of 24 A.  I'm sormy, are you saying Highland
25 it, butifit was the normal course of what 25 doesn't have an ownership interest?
Page 248 Page 249
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2 Is that what you're saying? | just 2 was in control, Highland also provided services to
3 want to make sure | heard correctly. 3 Highland Capital Management Services, Inc. as well
4 Q. Yes. 4 as HCRE Partners, LLC?
5 A. |believe that's true yes. 5 A. Ithink  was aware of that as well.
6 Q. And you're also aware that Mr. Dondero 6 Q. And were you aware that neither of
7 directly or indirectly owns at least the majority 7 those entities had any shared services agreement
8 interest in each of these four entities, right? 8 with Highland?
9 A. I'maware of the NexPoint and 9 A. That, I'm not sure | was aware of.
10 Advisors. The real estate, I'm not sure I've ever 10 Q. Are you aware that neither of those
11 heard about the ownership, but certainly, at least 11 entities ever provided any cash payment to
12 several of those, he's the controlling or sole 12 Highland for services rendered?
13 owner. 13 A, Ihave no knowledge of that.
14 Q. Are you aware that - that Highland 14 Q. Isitfairto say that your analysis
15 Capital Management — withdrawn. 15 doesn't take into account the value that HCRE and
16 Are you aware that Highland provided 16 HCMS received by getting services from Highland
17 services to Highland Capital Fund Advisor as 17 without paying for them?
18 NexPoint pursuant to certain shared services 18 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form.
19 agreements? 19 A.  Iam not familiar with what services
20 A, Iwas aware of that. 20 they received, so | don't - | don't know how to
21 Q. And are you aware that until sometime 21 handle that.
22 inlate 2020, HCMFA and NexPoint made payments to 22 Q. Let's assume that HCMS and HCRE
23 Highland in exchange for those services? 23 received back-office services similar to what
24 A.  Ithink | was aware of that, yes. 24 HCMFA and NexPoint contracted and paid for. Okay?
25 Q. Are you aware that when Mr. Dondero 25 Can we - can we make that assumption?
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2 A. Okay. 2 A.  Itdoes not take that into account,

3 Q. Okay. 3 no.

4 And let's assume that neither of those 4 Q. And you didn'tdo any diligence to try

5 entities, HCRE or HCMS, ever paid any money to 5 to determine whether or not Highland had provided

6 Highland in exchange for those services. Okay? 6 services without receiving payment in retum with

7 A. Okay. 7 respect to HCMS and HCRE, correct?

8 Q. Asthe person in control of those 8 A. 1did no such analysis.

9 entities, do you think it would be appropriate to 9 Q. Okay.

10 try to quantify the benefit that Mr. Dondero 10 MR. MORRIS: Can we take —it's 2:45.

11 received through his ownership of HCRE and HCMS as 11 Let's take a 5-minute break, a short break.

12 aresult of Highland's providing services to those 12 I may be done.

13 entities without compensation? 13 (Recess taken from 2:45 p.m. until

14 MR. AIGEN: Objection, form. 14 250pm)

15 A. Atahigh level, I think if Highland 15 MR. MORRIS: | have no further

16 was providing meaningful services that had value 16 questions of this witness at this ime.

17 1o those entities and Highland wasn't getting 17 Thank you very much, Mr. Johnson, for

18 something back in retum, you would want to try to 18 your time and your patience.

19 understand how big that was. 19 THE WITNESS: Thank you, and also say

20 Q. Okay. 20 hi to Laura Johnson for me.

21 But that's not an issue that you 21 MR. MORRIS: | sure will. I'm sure

22 analyzed, correct? 22 'l be speaking to her this afteroon.

23 A ltisnot. 23 MR. AIGEN: Alan, you're not

24 Q. And your $21 million delta doesn't 24 completely done yet. | have one or two

25 take into account that issue at all, correct? 25 questions | wanted to ask you, just to clear
Page 252 Page 253

1 ALAN JOHNSON 1 ALAN JOHNSON

2 something up. 2 awful lot for -- for the role they play.

3 THE WITNESS: Okay. 3 MR. AIGEN: That's all | have.

4 EXAMINATION 4 MR. MORRIS: Just a couple of

5 BY MR. AIGEN: 5 questions, Mr. Johnson.

6 Q. You talked about the founder's premium 6 EXAMINATION (CONTINUED)

7 earlier. 7 BY MR. MORRIS:

8 Can you just again explain what that 8 Q. You didn't make any disclosure

9 means? 9 concerning a founder's premium, correct?

10 A. Founder's premium in a private firm 10 A. No, | have not done that work.

11 like this is the amount that a founder typically 11 Q. You did not conduct any analysis

12 gets paid in excess of what a non-founder or 12 concerning a founder's premium, correct?

13 ordinary executive gets paid. 13 A. | have not.

14 Q. And | know you don't have a specific 14 MR. AIGEN: Object to form.

15 number but do you have an opinion on what the 15 Q. And your report contains no opinion as

16 general founder's premium would be in this 16 to what you believe the founder's premium should

17 marketplace? 17 be in this case, correct?

18 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form of 18 A. Thatis correct.

19 the question. 19 MR. MORRIS: Okay. No further

20 A. A premium could be very significant. 20 questions. Thank you very much.

21 It could be two or even three times what the -- 21 THE WITNESS: Thank you.

22 what a typical executive might get paid. 22 MR. MORRIS: Have a good day. Take

23 Q. And what's that based on? 23 care all.

24 A. Just working with these 24 (Whereupon the proceedings were

25 founder-dominated firms, they often get paid an 25 concluded at 2:53 p.m.)
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2 000 2 CERTIFICATE

3 I, ALAN JOHNSON, the witness herein, 3 I, AMY A. RIVERA, a Certified Shorthand

4 do hereby certify that the foregoing 4 Reporter, Registered Professional Reporter,

5 testimony of the pages of this deposition to 5 Certified LiveNote Reporter, and Notary Public of

6 be a true and correct transcript, subject to 6 the State of New York, do hereby certify that prior

7 the corrections, if any, shown on the 7 to the commencement of the examination ALAN JOHNSON,
8 attached page. 8 was duly sworn by me to testify the truth, the whole
9 9 truth and nothing but the truth.

10 ALAN JOHNSON 10 | DO FURTHER CERTIFY that the foregoing is
11 Subscribed and sworn to before me this 11 atrue and accurate transcript of the testimony as

12 day of 12 taken stenographically by and before me at the time,
13 13 place and on the date hereinbefore set forth.

14 14 | DO FURTHER CERTIFY that | am neither a
15 15 relative nor employee nor attorney nor counsel of

16 16 any of the parties to this action, and that | am

17 17 neither a relative nor employee of such attorney or
18 18 counsel, and that | am not financially interested in
19 19 the action.
20 20
21 21 Notary Public of the State of New York
22 22 My commission expires December 6, 2021
23 23 License No. XI00939
24 24 Dated: November 2, 2021
25 25

Page 256 Page 257

1 1

2 INDEX 2 EXHIBITS (Continued)

3 WITNESS PAGE 3 NUMBER DESCRIPTION PAGE
4 ALAN JOHNSON 4 Exhibit 63 Highland's 2008 audited 119

5 By Mr. Morris 6, 253 5 financial statements

6 By Mr. Aigen 252 6 Exhibit 64 Highland's audited 123

7 7 financial statements

8 8 for December 31, 2009

9 EXHIBITS 9 Exhibit 65 Highland's audited 126

10 NUMBER DESCRIPTION PAGE 10 financial statements

11 Exhibit 34 Highland's audited 166 11 for December 31, 2010

12 financial statements 12 Exhibit 67 2019 W-2 230

13 for December 31, 2018 13  Exhibit 67-2 2017 W-2 231

14 Exhibit 50 Compensation and 236 14 Exhibit 67-3 2013 Form 1040 242

15 benefit statement for 15 Exhibit 68 Compensation and 233

16 2017 16 benefit statement for

17 Exhibit 51 Compensation and 237 17 2016

18 benefit statement for 18 Exhibit 69 Highland's audited 129

19 2018 19 financial statements
20 Exhibit 52 Compensation and 239 20 for December 31, 2014

21 benefits statement for 21 Exhibit 70 Highland's audited 133

22 2019 22 financial statements
23  Exhibit 62 Expert report 76 23 for December 31, 2015
24 24  Exhibit 73 Demonstrative 193

25 25
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Page 258
ERRATA SHEET FOR THE TRANSCRIPT OF:
Case Name: In Re: HIGHLAND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT,
L.P.

Dep. Date: November 2, 2021
Deponent: Alan Johnson
Reason codes:

1. To clarify the record.

2. To conform to the facts.

3. To correct transcription errors.
Page_ Line___ Reason
From to
Page __ Line___ Reason
From to
Page _ Line___ Reason
From to
Page_ Line___ Reason
From to
Page __ Line___ Reason
From to

ALAN JOHNSON
Subscribed and sworn to before me
this  day of 2021.
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Page 1
1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLAS DIVISION

AOWN

IN RE:

Chapter 11
HIGHLAND CAPITAL
MANAGEMENT, L.P., CASE NO.
19-34054-SGl11

Debtor.

HIGHLAND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, L.P.,

Plaintiff,
VS. Adversary
Proceeding No.

11 HIGHLAND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 21-03000-SGl

FUND ADVISORS, L.P.; NEXPOINT
12 ADVISORS, L.P.; HIGHLAND

INCOME FUND; NEXPOINT
13 STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES FUND;

NEXPOINT CAPITAL, INC.; and
14 CLO HOLDCO, LTD.,

S © ® N o

15 Defendants.

16

17 REMOTE VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF
18 FRANK WATERHOUSE

19 October 19, 2021

20

21

22

23

24 Reported by: Susan S. Klinger, RMR-CRR, CSR
25 Job No: 201195

TSG Reporting - Worldwide 877-702-9580
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Page 2 Page 3

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 2 APPEARANCES:

3 3 (All appearances via Zoom.)

4 October 19, 2021 4 Attorneys for the Reorganized Highland Capital

5 9:30 am. 5 Management:

6 6  JohnMorris, Esq.

7 7 Hayley Winograd, Esg.

8 8 PACHULSKI STANG ZIEHL & JONES

9 Remote Deposition of FRANK WATERHOUSE, 9 780 Third Avenue

10 held before Susan S. Klinger, a Registered 10 New YOI’k, New York 10017

11 Merit Reporter and Certified Realtime Reporter 11 Attorneys for the Witness:

12 of the State of Texas. 12 Debra Dandeneau, Esq_

13 13 Michelle Hartmann, Esq.

14 14 BAKER McKENZIE

15 15 1900 North Pearl Street

16 16 Dallas, Texas 75201

17 17 Attomeys for NexPoint Advisors, LP and

18 18 Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors,

19 19 LP.
20 20  Davor Rukavina, Esq.
2 21 AnNguyen, Esq.
22 22 MUNSCH HARDT KOPF & HARDD
23 23 500 North Akard Street
2 24 Dallas, Texas 75201-6659
25 25

Page 4 Page 5

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 Attomeys for Jim Dondero, Nancy Dondero, HCRA, 2 INDEX

3 and HCMS: 3

4 Deborah Deitsch-Perez, Esq. 4 WITNESS PAGE

5 Michael Aigen, Esq. 5 FRANKWATERHOUSE

6  STINSON 6 EXAMINATION BY MR. MORRIS 10
7 3102 Oak Lawn Avenue 7 EXAMINATION BY MR. RUKAVINA 256
8 Dallas, Texas 75219 8 EXAMINATION BY MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ 352
9 9 EXAMINATION BY MR. MORRIS 377
10 Attomeys for Dugaboy Investment Trust: 10 EXAMINATION BY MR. RUKAVINA 387
1 Warren Hom, Esq. 11 EXAMINATION BY MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ 393
12 HELLER, DRAPER & HORN 12

13 650 Poydras Street 13 EXHIBITS

14 New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 14 No. Page

15 15 Exhibit2 NPA et al Amended Complaint 142

16 Attomeys for Marc Kirschner as the trustee for 16 Exhibit 33 6/3/19 Management 91

17 the litigation SunTrust: 17 Representation

18 Deborah Newman, Esq. 18 Exhibit 34 HCMLP Consolidated Financial 94

19  QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN 19 Statements
20 51 Madison Avenue 20 Exhibit 35 HCMFA Incumbency Certificate 151
21 New York, New York 10010 21 Exhibit 36 Email string re 15(c) 170
22 22 Exhibit 39 HCMLP Operating Results 2/18 226
23 Also Present: 23 Exhibit 40 Summary of Assets and 236
24 Ms. La Asia Canty 24 Liabilities
25 25 Exhibit41 12/19 Monthly Operating Report 258
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1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 Exhibit 45 HCMFA Consolidated Financial 135 2 PROCEEDINGS

3 Statements 3 VIDEOGRAPHER: Good moming,

4 Exhibit 46 NexPoint 2019 Audited 218 4 Counselors. My name is Scott Hatch. I'ma
5 Financials 5 certified legal videographer in association

6 6 with TSG Reporting, Inc.

7 Exhibit A1 Emails 11/25 328 7 Due to the severity of COVID-19 and

8 Exhibit A2 Emails 12/31 338 8 following the practice of social

9 Exhibit A6 Emails 1/12 341 9 distancing, | will not be in the same room

10 Exhibit A7 Promissory Notes 297 10 with the witness. Instead, | will record

11 Exhibit A9 Email, 8/31 307 11 this videotaped deposition remotely. The
12 Exhibit A10 Acknowledgment from HCMLP 302 12 reporter, Susan Klinger, also will not be

13  Exhibit A11 HCMLP Schedule 71A 309 13 inthe same room and will swear the witness
14 14 remotely.

15 15 Do all parties stipulate to the

16 16 validity of this video recording and remote
17 17 swearing, and that it will be admissible in

18 18 the courtroom as if it had been taken

19 19 following Rule 30 of the Federal Rules of
20 20 Civil Procedures and the state's rules
21 21 where this case is pending?
22 22 MR.HORN: Yes.
23 23 MS. DANDENEAU: Yes.
24 24 MR.MORRIS: Yes. John Moris. |
25 25 would just try to do a negative notice

Page 8 Page 9

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 here, as we did yesterday. If anybody has 2 Counsel, please introduce

3 aproblem with what was just stated, can 3 yourselves.

4 you state your objection now? 4 MR. MORRIS: John Morris, Pachulski
5 Okay. No response, so everybody 5 Stang Ziehl & Jones for the reorganized

6 accepts the stipulation and the instruction 6 Highland Capital Management, L.P., the

7 that was just given. 7 plaintiff in these actions.

8 VIDEOGRAPHER: Thank you. This is 8 MS. DANDENEAU: Deborah Dandeneau
9 the start of media labeled Number 1 of the 9 from Baker McKenzie. My partner, Michelle
10 video recorded deposition of Frank 10 Hartmann, is also in the room with me,

11 Waterhouse In Re: Highland Capital 11 representing Frank Waterhouse individually.
12 Management, L.P., in the United States 12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Deborah

13 Bankruptcy Court for the Northem District 13 Deitsch-Perez from Stinson, LLP,

14 of Texas, Dallas Division, Case Number 14 representing Jim Dondero, Nancy Dondero,
15 21-03000-SGl. 15 HCRA, and HCMS.

16 This deposition is being held via 16 MR. HORN: Warren Hom with Heller,
17 video conference with participants 17 Draper & Hom in New Orleans representing
18 appearing remotely due to COVID-19 18 Dugaboy Investment Trust.

19 restrictions on Tuesday, October 19th, 2021 19 MR. RUKAVINA: Davor Rukavina with
20 atapproximately 9:32 a.m. My name is 20 Munsch Hardt Kopf & Harr in Dallas
21 Scott Hatch, legal video specialist with 21 representing NexPoint Advisors, LP and
22 TSG Reporting, Inc. headquartered at 228 22 Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors,
23 East 45th Street, New York, New York. The 23 LP.
24 court reporter is Susan Klinger in 24 MR. AIGEN: Michael Aigen from
25 association with TSG Reporting. 25 Stinson, and | represent the same parties
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2 as Deborah Deitsch-Perez. 2 we're here today for your deposition in your

3 MS. NEWMAN: This is Deborah Newman 3 individual capacity?

4 from Quinn Emanuel. We represent the 4 A Yes.

5 litigation - Marc Kirschner as the trustee 5 Q. Did you review and - did you

6 for the litigation SunTrust. 6 receive and review a subpoena that Highland
7 MR. MORRIS: |think that is 7 Capital Management, L.P., served upon you?
8 everybody. 8 A Yes.

9 VIDEOGRAPHER: Thank you. Wil the 9 Q. You have been deposed before; right?
10 court reporter please swear in the witness. 10 A Yes.

1" FRANK WATERHOUSE, 1 Q. How many times have you been

12 having been first duly swom, testified as 12 deposed?

13 follows: 13 A.  About three or four times.

14 EXAMINATION 14 Q. Okay. And | defended you in one

15 BY MR.MORRIS: 15 deposition; isn't that right?

16 Q. Please state your name for the 16 A.  Thatis correct.

17 record. 17 Q. Sothe general ground rules for this
18 A Mynameis Frank Waterhouse. 18 deposition are largely the same as the

19 Q. Good moming, Mr. Waterhouse. I'm 19 depositions you have given before. And thatis
20 John Morris, as you know, from Pachulski Stang 20 | willask you a series of questions, and it is
21 Ziehl & Jones. You understand that my firm and 21 important that you allow me to finish my
22 | represent Highland Capital Management, L.P.; 22 question before you begin your answer; is that
23 isthatright? 23 Aair?
24 A Yes. 24 A Yes.
25 Q. Okay. Anddo you understand that 25 Q. Anditisimportant that | allow you

Page 12 Page 13
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2 tofinish your answers before | begin a 2 opportunity to review any portion of the

3 question, but if | fail to do that, will you 3 document that you think you need in order to
4 letme know? 4 fully and completely answer the question.

5 A lcancertainly do that. 5 So I would ask you to let me know if

6 Q. Okay. Do you understand that this 6 there is a portion of a document that you need
7 deposition is being videotaped? 7 toseeinorder to fully and completely answer
8 A Yes. 8 the question. Can you do that for me?

9 Q. You understand that | may seek to 9 A Yes

10 use portions of the videotape in a court of 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Morris, | would
11 law? 1 just note that we do have hard copies of
12 A, |did notknow that, until you just 12 the documents that you sent, so if you can
13 said that. 13 justrefer to the exhibit number as

14 Q. Okay. And you are aware of that now 14 reflected in the documents that you sent,
15 before the deposition begins substantively; is 15 Mr. Waterhouse will be able to look at the
16 that right? 16 hard copies of those documents.

17 A Yes. 17 MR. MORRIS: | appreciate that,

18 Q. Sounlike | think the other 18 and - and | will encourage him to do so.
19 depositions that you have given, this one is 19 There will be other documents that we did
20 being given remotely. So that presents some 20 not send to you that we'll be using today
21 unique challenges, at least as compared to a 21 though.
22 deposition that is taken in-person. 22 Q. Okay. With that as background, if
23 From time to ime we're going to put 23 there is anything that | ask you, sir, that you
24 documents up on the screen, Mr. Waterhouse. 24 don'tunderstand, will you let me know?
25 And itis important that | give you the 25 A Yes.
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2 Q. Okay. Areyou currently employed? 2 A I-1-Imight Ijust—I
3 A Yes. 3 don'trecall.
4 Q. Bywhom? 4 Q. Okay. Does Skyview Group provide
5 A The Skyview Group. 5 any services to any entity directly or
6 Q. When did you become employed by the 6 indirectly owned or controlled by Jim Dondero?
7 Skyview Group? 7 A Yes.
8 A Ibelieve March 1st of 2021. 8 Q. Canyou name —is that pursuant to
9 Q. Do you have aftitle at Skyview? 9 written contracts?
10 A Yes. 10 A Yes.
11 Q. Whatis your title? 1 Q. And do you know how many contracts
12 A Mytitle is chief financial officer. 12 exist?
13 Q. Doyou reportto anybody in your 13 A Approximately six or so.
14 role as CFO? 14 Q. Andis the Skyview Group made up of
15 A Idon't no. 15 individuals who were formerly employees of
16 Q. No. Isthere a president ora CEO 16 Highland Capital Management, L.P.?
17 of Skyview? 17 A No.
18 A Yes. 18 Q. Do you know how many —how many —
19 Q. Whois that? 19 how many employees does Skyview have?
20 A. Thatis Scott Ellington. 20 A.  Approximately 35.
21 Q. Butyoudon'treport to 21 Q. And can you tell me how many of
22 Mr. Ellington; is that right? 22 those 35 are former officers, directors, or
23 A ldon'tthink so. 23 employees of Highland Capital Management, L.P.?
24 Q. Does Skyview Group —- 24 A. I don't know the exact number.
25 MS. DANDENEAU: Excuse me, we — 25 Q. Isitmore than 20?
Page 16 Page 17
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2 A Yes. 2 these questions for any purpose other than
3 Q. Isitmore than 307 3 thislitigation. Ithink you understand
4 A.  Idon'tknow. 4 fully why I'm asking the questions, and |
5 Q. Canyou tell me what portion of 5  justhave a couple more, if you will bear
6 Skyview - Skyview's revenue is derived from 6  withme.
7 entities that are directly or indirectly owned 7 MS. DANDENEAU: Okay.
8 or controlled by Jim Dondero? 8 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Can we have an
9 MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Morris, | mean, 9 agreement that an objection by one is an
10 you called Mr. Waterhouse here individually 10 objection for any other party here?
1 for purposes of his testimony in connection 1 MR.MORRIS: Sure. would -1
12 with the noticed litigation. | have given 12 would encourage that, sure.
13 yousome leeway to ask him some background 13 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Thank you.
14 information about Skyview Group, but this 14 MR.MORRIS: It can't be sustained
15 is not a substitute for a deposition in 15 or overruled more than one time, so...
16 connection with any other pending disputes 16 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, can you answer my
17 that exist. And —and we agreed to accept 17 question, please.
18 the subpoena on the basis of he - this is 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Do you want to
19 testimony that he is giving in connection 19 repeat it, Mr. Morris, for his benefit?
20 with the noticed litigation. 20 MR.MORRIS: Sure.
21 I really think that you are now 21 Q. Canyou - canyou tell methe
22 going a little bit far afield from the 22 approximate portion of Skyview's revenue that
23 purpose of this deposition. 23 is derived from entities that are directly or
24 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Itis--I'mnot 24 indirectly owned or controlled by Mr. Dondero?
25 intending to use these — the answers to 25 A. I don't know the exact number.
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2 Q. Isitmore than 75 percent? 2 A 2011or2012

3 A Yes. 3 Q. Did you serve as Highland's CFOon a
4 Q. Isitmore than 90 percent? 4 continuous basis from in or around 2011 or 2012
5 A Idon'tknow. 5 until early 20217

6 Q. Okay. Can | refer to Highland 6 A Yes.

7 Capital Management, L.P., as Highland? 7 Q. During that entire time you reported

8 A Yes. 8 directly to Jim Dondero; correct?

9 Q. Allright. And you previously 9 A. | —-Idon'tknow.

10 served as Highland's CFO; correct? 10 Q. Isthere anybody else you reported
1 A Yes. 11 to - withdrawn.

12 Q.  When did you join Highland? 12 Did you report to Mr. Dondero for

13 A ldon'trecall the exact date. 13 some portion of the time that you served as
14 Q. Canyou tell me what year? 14 CFO?

15 A 2006. 15 A Yes.

16 Q. When did you — in what year did you 16 Q. Isthere a portion of time that you

17 become Highland's CFO? 17 don't recall who you reported to?

18 A, Idon'trecall the exact date. 18 A. Yes.

19 Q. I'mnotasking you for the exact 19 Q. What portion of time do you have in
20 date. I'masking you if you recall the yearin 20 your mind when you can't recall who you
21 which you were appointed CFO. 21 reported to?
22 A. | don'trecall the exact year. 22 A.  Fromthe 2011 to - for
23 Q. Canyou tell me which yearsitis 23 approximately a year or two.
24 possible that you were appointed to CFO of 24 Q. Okay. Soisitfairto say that you
25 Highland? 25 reported to Mr. Dondero in your capacity as CFO

Page 20 Page 21
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2 from at least 2014 until the time you left 2 Q.  Who might you have reported to in

3 Highland? 3 your capacity as CFO before you started

4 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 4 reporting to Mr. Dondero?

5 A. I don'twant to speculate the exact 5 A.  That would have been Patrick Boyce.
6 orwhat year that changed or -- so | would like 6 Q. Areyouaware that Highland filed

7 to stick with my testimony. 7 for bankruptcy on October 19th, 20197

8 Q. Canyou recall when you began 8 A, Yes.

9 reporting to Mr. Dondero? 9 Q. And we refer to that as the petition

10 A Idon'trecall. 10 date?

1 Q. Canyou - can you give me an 1 A. Yes.

12 estimate of what year you think you might have 12 Q. Okay. Do you hold any professional
13 began reporting to Mr. Dondero? 13 licenses, sir?

14 A lwilgoback to my prior 14 A Yes

15 testimony. 15 Q. Can you tell me what professional

16 Q. Okay. Thereis no-you have no 16 licenses you hold?

17 ability to tell me when you began reporting to 17 A. I'macertified public accountant.

18 Mr. Dondero. 18 Q. Okay. Anything else?

19 Do | have that right? 19 A No.

20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 Q. Do you have any other professional
21 A. ldon'trecall 21 licenses or certificates?

22 Q. Okay. Do you recall who you might 22 A When you say "professional license,"
23 have reported to before you began reporting to 23 thatis not education?

24 Mr. Dondero? 24 Q. Tellme-sure. Anything other

25 A Yes. 25 thanadriver's license.
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2 Do you have any other license or 2 A Yes

3 certificate or certification? 3 Q. Wereyou ever employed by HCMFA?
4 A.  Are you asking, like, where | went 4 A.  Notthat| recall.

5 toschool and the - 5 Q. Wereyou ever--did you ever hold

6 Q. lamnot. lamnot. |didn'tsay 6 the title of an officer or director of HCMFA?

7 education. |didn't ask about degrees. 7 A Yes.

8 Do you know what a license is? 8 Q. Whattitle did you hold?

9 A. Well, yeah, | mean, a license is 9 A.  Treasurer.

10 something you get after you receive a certain 10 Q. Whendid you become the treasurer of
11 level of proficiency. 11 HCMFA?

12 Q. Do you have any licenses or 12 A. Idon'trecall.
13 certifications other than your CPA? 13 Q. Canyoutell me the year?

14 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection, form. 14 A Idon't-Idon'tknow the year.

15 | assume you mean professional 15 Q. Canyou approximate the yearin

16 licenses, Mr. Morris; correct? 16  which you became the treasurer of HCMFA?
17 Q. Can you answer my question, sir? 17 A Idon'tknow.

18 A, Mr. Moris, I'm thinking. | 18 Q. Canyou tell me ifit was before or

19 don't— I don't think | have any others. 19 after 20167
20 Q Areyou familiar with an entity 20 A Idon'trecall
21 called Highland Capital Management Fund 21 Q. Areyou still the -- do you know if
22 Advisors? 22 you're still the treasurer of HCMFA today?
23 A Yes. 23 A Today, | am the acting treasurer for
24 Q. Were you ever - can we refer to 24 HCMFA.
25 thatentity as HCMFA? 25 Q. Isthere adistinction between

Page 24 Page 25
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2 treasurer and acting treasurer? 2 the treasurer of CF- — HCMFA for the first

3 A. Isaid "acting treasurer" as | am an 3 time?

4 employee of Skyview, as you previously 4 A Idon't-Imean, there would be

5 stated - or asked. 5 some documents, some legal documents. | don't
6 Q. Butyou are the treasurer of HCMFA 6 know where those are.

7 today; correct? 7 Q. How many times have you been

8 A. lam -1am the acting treasurer 8 appointed the treasurer of HCMFA?

9 for HCMFA. 9 A.  ldon'tknow.

10 Q. How did you become the treasurer of 10 Q. Was itmore than once?

11 HCMFA? 1 A. Idon'tknow.

12 A Areyouasking how | became the 12 Q. Canyou tellme any period of time

13 treasurer of HCMFA today? 13 since 2016 that you did not hold the title of

14 Q. How did you become appointed to 14 treasurer of HCMFA?

15 serve as the treasurer of HCMFA? 15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
16 A, Well,in - in —in what time 16 A. Idon'trecall.

17 capacity? 17 Q. What are your duties and

18 Q. Thefirsttime that you were 18 responsibilities as the treasurer of HCMFA?
19 appointed. 19 A Myduties are to do the best job
20 A. Firsttime. |believe | was asked 20 that! can as the -- as an accountant and
21 toserve as treasurer for HCMFA the first time. 21 finance guy.
22 Q. Bywho? Whoasked you to do that? 22 Q. Whatspecific duties and
23 A. Idon'trecall. 23 responsibilities do you have as the treasurer
24 Q. Isthere anything that would refresh 24 of HCMFA?
25 your recollection as to who appointed you as 25 A. My duties are to do the best job
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2 that | can as the accounting and finance person 2 A Idon't-Idon'tknow.

3 for HCMFA. 3 Q. Youdon'tknow?

4 Q. Asthe accounting and finance person 4 You're the treasurer of HCMFA but

5 for HCMFA, do you have any particular areas of 5 you don't know if HCMFA has a chief financial
6 responsibility? 6 officer.

7 A Yeah,itis to manage the accounting 7 Do | have that right?

8 and finance function for HCMFA. 8 A Thatsright.

9 Q. Would thatinclude - do you have 9 Q. Okay. Have you heard of a company
10 responsibility for overseeing HCMFA's annual 10 called NexPoint Advisors?

11 audit? 1 A. Yes.

12 A Canlplease elaborate on my prior 12 Q. We will refer to that as NexPoint.

13 question? 13 Okay?

14 Q. Ofcourse. You-you are giving 14 A Okay.

15 answers. I'm asking questions. 15 Q. Were you ever employed by NexPoint?
16 A. Okay. Yes,sothe —it—likel 16 A. ldon'trecall.

17 said, it is to manage the accounting finance 17 Q. Did you ever hold any title with

18 aspect, but | am, as we discussed, the 18 respect to the entity known as NexPoint?

19 treasurer. Thatis - being treasurer is what 19 A Yes.
20 gives me that — that management function. 20 Q. What titles have you held in
21 Q. Does anybody report to you in your 21 relation to NexPoint?
22 capacity as treasurer of HCMFA? 22 A.  Treasurer. |think it was only
23 A ldon'tbelieve so. 23 treasurer.
24 Q. Does HCMFA have a chief financial 24 Q. Can you tell me the approximate year
25 officer? 25 you became the treasurer of NexPoint?

Page 28 Page 29

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 A. Idon'tknow. 2 Q. And you serve as an officer of

3 Q. Are you still the treasurer of 3 HCMFA; correct?

4 NexPoint today? 4 A Ithink we went over that with my

5 A. lamthe acting treasurer for 5 testimony. Yes, I'm the acting treasurer for

6 NexPoint. 6 HCMFA.

7 Q. When did your itle change from 7 Q. Andyou are an officer of NexPoint;

8 treasurer to acting treasurer? 8 correct?

9 A. ldon'tknow. 9 A.  Ithink — I am the acting treasurer

10 Q. Did your duties and responsibilities 10 for NexPoint Advisors.

11 change at all when your title was changed from 1 Q. And - and who appointed you acting
12 treasurer to acting treasurer? 12 treasurer of NexPoint Advisors?

13 A. Idon't—1don't believe so. 13 A. I don't recall specifically.

14 Q. Whydid- 14 Q. Do you have any recollection of who
15 A. Istill manage the finance and 15 might have appointed you the treasurer of

16 accounting function for NexPoint. 16 NexPoint?

17 Q. Why did your tile change from 17 A Imean,it—it—Idon'trecall

18 treasurer to acting treasurer? 18 exactly who it was.

19 A.  Idon't—I'musing the term 19 Q. Who were the possibilities?
20 "acting treasurer" as I'm a Skyview employee. 20 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
21 ldon't-Idon'tknow —again, |ama—as 21 form.
22 | am the Skyview employee. 22 Q. Youcananswer.
23 Q. Okay. 23 A.  Someone in the legal group for
24 A. And we - we provide officer 24 NexPoint. The other officers as well.
25 services. 25 Q. Have you heard of a company called
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2 Highland Capital Management Services, Inc.? 2 responsibilities as the acting treasurer for

3 A Yes. 3 HCMS and the acting treasurer for NexPoint the
4 Q. We will refer to that as HCMS. 4 same as your duties and responsibilities in

5 Okay? 5 yourrole as the acting treasurer of HCMFA?

6 A HCMS. Okay. 6 A Moreorless.

7 Q. Were you ever employed by HCMS? 7 Q. Haveyou everheard of a company

8 A No 8 called HCRE Partners, LLC?

9 Q. Have you ever held any titles in 9 A, Yes.

10 relation to HCMF - | apologize — HCMS? 10 Q. Anddo you understand that that

1 A Yes. 11 entity is now known today as NexPoint Real
12 Q. Whatfitles have you held in 12 Estate Partners?
13 relation to HCMS? 13 A. 1 did not know that.

14 A Treasurer and acting treasurer. 14 Q. Allright. Can we referto HCRE

15 Q. Whendid you first become treasurer 15 Partners as HCRE?

16 or acting treasurer of HCMS? 16 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
17 A. | don'trecall the exact dates. 17 Did you mean NexPoint Real Estate
18 Q. Canyourecall-canyou 18  Partners, Mr. Moris?

19 approximate the year that you became the 19 MR. MORRIS: No.
20 treasurer of HCMS? 20 MS. DANDENEAU: Oh.
21 A. ldon't—1don'tknow. 21 MR. MORRIS: He said he wasn't
22 Q. Are you still the treasurer of HCMS 22 familiar that it was succeeded by that
23 today? 23 entity. So-
24 A. | amthe acting treasurer for HCMS. 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Okay.
25 Q. Andareyourduties and 25 MR.MORRIS: - let's go with what
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2 the witness knows. 2 collectively as the retail funds; is that okay?

3 Q. You're familiar with an entity 3 A Okay.

4 called HCRE Partners, LLC; correct? 4 Q. Each of the retail funds is govemed

5 A Yes. 5 by aboard; correct?

6 Q. Okay. Sothatis the entity that we 6 A Yes.

7 will refer to as HCRE. If you're aware of any 7 Q. And do you know the people who serve
8 successor, thatis great. If not, let's just 8 on the boards of the retail funds?

9 define it as such. 9 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
10 Have you ever been employed by HCRE 10 A. Idon'tknow all of them.

11 orany entity that you know to have succeeded 1 Q. Do you know whether the same people
12 HCRE? 12 serve on the board of each of the retail funds
13 A No. 13 aswe've defined that term?

14 Q. Did you ever serve as an officer or 14 A Which - so when you say "retail

15 director of HCRE or any successor? 15 funds" - again, | want to be — what retail

16 A. Notthatlrecall. 16 funds are you referring to, because there are
17 Q. Okay. Canwe refer to NexPoint and 17 --there are several distinctions?

18 HCMFA as the advisors? 18 What retail funds are you using when
19 A Yes. 19 you refer to them?
20 Q. Ingeneral, the advisors provided 20 Q. Thatis why - thatis why | tried
21 investment advisory services to certain retail 21 todefine the terms. So let me do it again.
22 funds; correct? 22 Retail funds for the purposes of
23 A Yes. 23 this deposition means any retail fund to which
24 Q. And we will refer to the retail 24 either of the advisors provides advisory
25 funds that are served by the advisors 25 services. Okay?
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2 A Okay. 2 respect to each retail fund.
3 Q. Okay. Sodoyouknow whetherthe 3 Actually, let's do it a different
4 same people serve on the board of each of the 4 way. |withdraw the question.
5 retail funds? 5 Can you give me one title you have
6 A. Idon'tknow. 6 in relation to any retail fund?
7 Q. Wereyou ever employed by any of the 7 A Yes.
8 retail funds? 8 Q. Whattitle — what title can you
9 A No 9 give me?
10 Q. No? 10  A. Principal executive officer.
11 A No. 1 Q. Do you serve as principal executive
12 Q. Okay. Do you have any fitle with 12 officer for each of the retail funds?
13 respect to any of the retail funds? 13 A No.
14 A Yes. 14 Q. Can you identify for me the retail
15 Q. Whattitles do you hold - 15 funds in which you serve as the principal
16 withdrawn. 16 executive officer?
17 Do you have the same titles with 17 A.  Yes. Highland Funds 1, Highland
18 respect to all of the retail funds or do 18 Funds 2, Highland Income Fund, Highland Global
19 they - or just something else? 19  Allocation Fund.
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 Q. I'msomy,you said "Global
21 Q. Withdrawn. 21 Allocation Fund"?
22 Do you have the same title with 22 A Yes.
23 respect to each of the retail funds? 23 VIDEOGRAPHER: Excuse me,
24 A. No. 24 Mr. Morris. This is the videographer. I'm
25 Q. Tellme which title you have with 25  concemed about the lighting in the
Page 36 Page 37
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2 witness' camera. 2 A 2021.
3 Do you want to go off the record and 3 Q. Didyou ever hold any title with
4 make some adjustments? 4 respect to any of the four funds you have just
5 MR. MORRIS: Sure, but just for this 5 identified other than principal executive
6 purpose. | don'twant to take a break. We 6 officer?
7 juststarted. 7 A. Idon'trecall.
8 MS. DANDENEAU: Yeah, that s fine. 8 Q. Isitpossible that you held a
9  Thatisfine. We're going to put you on 9 position or a title with the four funds you
10 mute. 10 justidentified prior to 20217
1 MR. MORRIS: Al right. 11 A. Yes.
12 MS. DANDENEAU: I'm going to try to 12 Q. Butyoudon'trecallif you did or
13 open up some of the shades. 13 not; do | have that right?
14 VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the 14 A, No. You-Ithought you asked, did
15 record at 10:08 a.m. 15 I'hold other titles.
16 (Recesstaken 10:08 am.to 10:11 a.m.) 16 Q. Didyou hold any title at the four
17 VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the 17 retail funds for which you now serve as
18 record at 10:11 a.m. 18 principal executive officer at any time prior
19 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, when did you become 19 1020217
20 the principal executive officer of the four 20 A Yes.
21 retail funds that you just identified? 21 Q. Whattitles did you hold?
22 A. Idon'trecall. 22 A. Idon'trecall all the titles.
23  Q Doyou recall the approximate year 23 Q. Do you recall any of the titles?
24 that you became the principal executive officer 24 A. Yes.
25 of the four funds? 25 Q Whattitles do you recall holding at
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2 those four retail funds before 20217 2 treasurer of the advisors, you also serve as

3 A.  Principal executive officer. 3 the principal executive officer of these four

4 Q. Were you the principal executive 4 retail funds; correct?

5 officer of the four retail funds that you have 5 A Yes.

6 identified? 6 Q. Didyou ever hold any tile with

7 A Sorry, could you repeat the 7 respect to any other retail fund?

8 question? 8 A.  Notthat| recall.

9 Q. Were you the principal executive 9 Q. During the period that you served as
10 officer for each of the four retail funds that 10 Highland's CFO, from time to time Highland

11 you have identified? 11 loaned money to certain of its officers and

12 A Yes. 12 employees; correct?

13 Q. Whendid you become the principal 13 A Yes.

14 executive — withdrawn. 14 Q. During the period that you served as
15 Can you give me the approximate year 15 Highland's CFO, from time to time Highland
16 that you became the principal executive officer 16 loaned money to certain —

17 for each of the four retail funds you've 17 A Letme-let me retract that,

18 identified? 18 sorry, that — you asked during the time | was
19 A. Idon'trecall. 19 CFO, Highland loaned moneys to employees. |
20 Q. What are your duties and 20 don't—-1don't recall that during my tenure
21 responsibilities as the principal executive 21 of CFO.
22 officer of these four retail funds? 22 Q. You have no recollection during the
23 A ltisto manage the finance and 23 time that you were the CFO of Highland of
24 accounting positions. 24 Highland ever loaning any money to any officer
25 Q. Soatthe same time you serve as the 25 ordirector of Highland?
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2 A. I don't recall during my tenure of 2 loaned money to certain corporate affiliates;

3 Highland or my - as CFO of Highland - yeah, 3 cormrect?

4 ifthere are any loans as CFO of Highland. 4 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
5 Q. I'mjusttalking about officers and 5 A. What are corporate affiliates?

6 employees right now. You have no recollection 6 Q. How about the ones that are in

7 of Highland ever making a loan to any of its 7 Highland's audited financial statements under
8 officers or employees during the time that you 8 the section entitled Loans to Affiliates. Why

9 servedas CFO. Do | have that right? 9 don'twe start with those. Do you have any

10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 10 understanding of what the phrase "affiliates"
1 A.  Sol thought you were saying 11 means?

12 officers and employees as CFO, right, so there 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
13 were - | mean, okay, yes. 13 A. lunderstand what affiiates are,

14 Q. lwould ask you to listen carefully 14 yet affiliates can have different meanings in

15 tomy question. IfI—if I'm not clear, let 15 different contexts, so...

16 me know, but I'm really trying to be as clear 16 Q. Why don't you —why don't you tell

17 aslcan. 17 me what your understanding of the term

18 A. I'mlistening as carefully as | can, 18 "dffiliate” is in relation to Highland Capital

19 and you are asking very specific questions in a 19 Management, L.P.
20 timeline. And I'm trying to answer your 20 A. Isthata—itdepends onthe
21 questions as specifically as | can, and | 21 context.
22 apologize if - if I'm going back. 1am --you 22 Q. How about the context of making
23 are asking very specific questions. Thank you. 23 loans?
24 Q. During the period that you served as 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
25 Highland's CFO, from time to time Highland 25 A. I didn't make the determination of
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2 who an effiliate was or is at the time those - 2 definition -

3 Ididn't—that wasn't my job to make a 3 Q. |said owned and/or controlled.

4 determination of who an affiliate is. 4 A. Idon't—again, I'm not - I'm not

5 Q. Allright. Soas the CFO of 5 thelegal expert. | don't think it controls -

6 Highland, do you have any ability right now to 6 he controls Dugaboy, so again, I'm not the

7 tellme which companies that were directly or 7 legal person.

8 indirectly owned and/or controlled by 8 Q. [I'mnotasking you foralegal

9 Mr. Dondero in whole or in part received loans 9 conclusion, sir. I'm asking you for your

10 from Highland Capital Management, L.P.? 10 knowledge, okay, as the CFO - the former CFO
11 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 11 of Highland Capital Management, other than
12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection, form. 12 NexPoint, HCMFA, and HCMF — HCMS, can you
13 A Yes. 13 think of any other entities that were owned

14 Q. Okay. Identify every entity that 14 and/or controlled directly or indirectly in

15 you can think of that was directly or 15 whole orin part by Jim Dondero who received a
16 indirectly owned and/or controlled by 16 loan from Highland Capital Management, L.P.?
17 Mr. Dondero in whole or in part that received a 17 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
18 loan from Highland Capital Management, L.P. 18 A HCRE.

19 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal 19 Q. Anyothers?
20  conclusion. 20 A Thatis—thatis all | can think
21 A.  NexPoint Advisors, Highland Capital 21 of.
22 Management Fund Advisors, HCM Services, 22 Q. And you're aware that from time to
23 Dugaboy. Sorry, | don't think — Dugaboy 23 time while you were the CFO, Highland loaned
24 doesn't fit that definition. You said owned 24 money to Jim Dondero; correct?
25 and controlled. |don't think that that 25 A Yes.
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2 Q. Okay. Can we refer to the four 2 identified tendered notes to Highland; correct?
3 entities that you just named and Mr. Dondero as 3 MR. RUKAVINA: Hey, John, will you

4 the affiliates? 4 justgive me arunning objection to legal

5 A.  So that would be Jim Dondero, 5 conclusion to HCM -

6 NexPoint Advisors, Highland Capital Management 6 MR.MORRIS: No. No, if you want to

7 Fund Advisors, and HCRE. 7 object -

8 Q AndHCMS? 8 MR. RUKAVINA: | will object every

9 A AndHCMS, okay. 9  time. Objecttolegal conclusion.

10 Q. And can we refer to the loans that 10 MR.MORRIS: Thatis fine.

11 were given to each of those affiliates as the 1 A.  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

12 offiliate loans? 12 Q. Are you aware that each of the -

13 A Yes. 13 that each of the affiliates, as we have defined
14 Q. Andisitfairto say that each of 14 the term, gave to Highland a promissory note in
15 the affiliates were the borrowers under the 15 exchange for the loans?

16 ffiliate loans as we're defining the term? 16 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection to the

17 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal 17 extent that calls for a legal conclusion.

18 conclusion. 18 A, ldon't.

19 A.  The borrowers are whoever were on 19 Q. No, you don't know that?
20 thenotes. |don't—1don'tknow. I'mnot 20 A.  No, they didn't - you said they
21 the legal person. 21 exchanged a promissory note for a loan. |
22 Q. Butyou- 22 don't—-1don't understand that question, so |
23 A, ldon'tknow. 23 said no.
24 Q. Youdo know, as Highland's former 24 Q. Atthe time of the bankruptcy
25 CFO, that each of the affiliates that you have 25 filing, did Highland have in its possession
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2 promissory notes that were signed by each of 2 statethatnow.

3 the affiliates? 3 MS. DANDENEAU: You know, and,

4 A Yes. 4 Mr. Morris, | really object to that. |

5 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge, 5 mean -

6 during the time that you served as Highland's 6 MR. MORRIS: Okay.

7 CFO, did Highland disclose to its outside 7 MS. DANDENEAU: - Mr. Waterhouse
8 auditors all of the loans that were made to 8  justtold you he's trying to listen to your

9 Affiliates? 9  questions and answer them carefully, and
10 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, that calls 10 you have no basis for saying that.

11 for a legal conclusion. 11 MR. MORRIS: Okay.

12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: | also couldn't 12 MS. DANDENEAU: This does not —
13 hearyou, John, because there was some 13 thisis notan experienced witness, so he's
14 garbling on - on the - on the call. 14 trying to do the best he can.

15 MR. MORRIS: Folks, I've got to tell 15 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, during the time that
16 you this is not going well, and I'm 16 you served as Highland's CFO, did Highland
17 reserving my right - 17 disclose to its outside auditors all of the

18 MS. DANDENEAU: John, it was just 18 loans that it made to each of the affiliates

19 the end of that question. It was just the 19 that you have identified?
20  endofthatquestion. |couldn't hear it 20 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal
21 either. Sorry, if you could repeat it, 21 conclusion.
22 please. 22 A Yes.
23 MR. MORRIS: Thatis less than an 23 Q. To the best of your knowledge, while
24 hour into this, but folks are trying to run 24 you were Highland's CFO, were all of the
25  outthe clock, and so I'm just going to 25 Aaffiliate loans described in Highland's audited
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2 financial statements? 2 conclusion.

3 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal 3 A, Yes.

4 conclusion. 4 Q. Youare notaware of any loan that

5 A.  When an audit was performed, any 5 any ffiliate ever obtained from Highland where
6 loans that were made by Highland to the 6 the affiliate did not give a promissory note in

7 dffiliates were disclosed to auditors. 7 retum; is that fair?

8 Q. Are you aware of any loan that was 8 A.  Yes, I'mnotaware.

9 made to any affiliate that was not disclosed to 9 Q. And to the best of your knowledge,

10 the auditors? 10 did Highland loan to each affiliate an amount
11 A, I'mnot aware. 11 of money equal to the principal amount of each
12 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge, did 12 promissory note?

13 each of the affiliates who were - 13 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal

14 (inaudible) - loaned from Highland execute a 14 conclusion.

15 promissory note in connection with that loan? 15 A Yes.

16 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal 16 Q. During the time that you served as

17 conclusion. 17 CFO, did Highland ever loan money to

18 A.  Sorry, you — halfway through the 18 Mark Okada?

19 question it got muffled. 19 A I-Ildon'trecall
20 Can you repeat that again? 20 Q. Did you ever see any promissory
21 Q. To the best of your knowledge, did 21 notes executed by Mark Okada?
22 every affiiate execute a promissory note in 22 A ldon'trecall
23 connection with each loan that it obtained from 23 Q. Do you know if Highland ever forgave
24 Highland? 24 anyloan that it ever made to Mr. Okada?
25 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal 25 A. Idon'trecall.
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2 Q. Do you recall if Mr. Okada paid back 2 loan?

3 all principal and interest due and owing under 3 Q. Withoutgivinga—-letme aska

4 any loan he obtained from Highland? 4 better question. I'm sorry, Mr. Waterhouse.

5 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 5 Are you aware of any loan that

6  form. 6 Mr. Dondero obtained from Highland where he
7 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 7 didn't give a promissory note in retum?

8 A. ldon'trecall. 8 A, I'mnotaware.

9 Q. Doyou recall whether - during your 9 Q. During the time that you served as

10 time as CFO, whether Highland ever loaned money 10 Highland's CFO, did Highland ever forgive any
11 to Jim Dondero? 11 loans, in whole or in part, that it made to

12 A Yes. 12 Mr. Dondero?

13 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge, did 13 A NotthatI'm aware.

14 Mr. Dondero sign and deliver to Highland a 14 Q. Atthe time that you served as

15 promissory note in connection with each loan 15 Highland's CFO, did Highland ever forgive any
16 that he obtained from Highland? 16 loan, in whole or in part, that it made to any

17 A Ifyouare referming to the 17 affiiate as we've defined the term today?

18 promissory notes that, you know, part of 18  A. NotthatI'm aware.

19 Highland's records, yes. 19 Q. During the time that you served as
20 Q. Okay. You're notaware of any loan 20 Highland's CFO, did Highland ever forgive, in
21 that Mr. Dondero took from Highland that wasn't 21 whole orin part, any loan that it ever made to
22 backed up by — by a promissory note with a 22 any officer or employee?
23 face — with a principal amount equal to the 23 A Highland forgave loans to officers
24 amount of the loan; correct? 24 and employees. It may not have been at the
25 A Amlaware that Jim Dondero took a 25 time when my title was CFO.

Page 52 Page 53

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 Q. Okay. And so | appreciate the 2 that were of — you know, that were deemed

3 distinction. 3 immaterial, those items may not have been

4 Is it fair to say that, to the best 4 disclosed by the team to the auditors.

5 of your knowledge, Highland did not forgive a 5 Q. lappreciate that.

6 loan that it made to an officer or employee 6 Do you have an understanding as to

7 after2013? 7 what the level of materiality was?

8 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 8 A ldontrecall

9 A ldon'trecall 9 Q. Asthe CFO of Highland, to the best
10 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge, did 10 of your knowledge, did Highland disclose to its
11 Highland disclose to its auditors every 11 outside auditors every loan that was forgiven,
12 instance where it forgave, in whole or in part, 12 inwhole or in part, that was material as that
13 aloan that it had made to one of its officers 13 term was defined by the outside auditors?

14 oremployees? 14 A Yes

15 A No. 15 Q. And do you recall where — do you

16 Q. Can you think of - can you - can 16 recall where the definition of materiality can

17 you identify any loan to an officer or employee 17 be found for - for this particular purpose?

18 that was forgiven by Highland, in whole orin 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
19 part, that was not disclosed to Highland's 19 A No. You-Idon'tdetermine
20 outside auditors? 20 materiality.
21 A.  Look, I don't recall all of the 21 Q. Okay. I'mjustasking you if you
22 loans and the loan forgiveness. |just know as 22 can help me understand where itis, but | think
23 part of the audit process there is a 23 we will find itin a few minutes.
24 materiality concept. 24 You are aware that Highland has
25 So if there were loans to employees 25 commenced lawsuits against each of the
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2 dffiliates, as we've defined the term, to 2 Mr. Dondero we will call Mr. Dondero. Okay?
3 collect under certain promissory notes; is that 3 A Okay. Thankyou. Asyou can see,

4 right? 4 Mr. Moris, there is a lot of entities - a lot

5 A Yes. 5 here. Ijustwantto be clear.

6 Q. Andare you familiar with the notes 6 Q. Okay. Now, the affiliates of

7 thatare issue — atissue in the lawsuits? 7 Mr. Dondero signed promissory notes that are
8 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 8 not subject to the lawsuit.

9 A Generally familiar. 9 Do you understand that?

10 Q. Canwe referto the lawsuits that 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
11 Highland has commenced against the affiliates 11 A.  The affiliates and Mr. Dondero

12 collectively as the lawsuits? 12 signed -

13 A Yes. And, again, the affiliates are 13 Q. Youknow what? | will skip it.

14 NexPoint, HCMFA, HCMS, and HCRE. 14 Thatis okay. Okay.

15 Q. AndMr. Dondero? 15 From time to time while you were

16 A.  Okay. Seeg, thatis a new —and now 16 Highland's CFO, payments were applied against
17 Mr. Dondero is included in your affiliate 17 principal and interests that were due under the
18 definition. 18 notes that were tendered by the affiliates and
19 Q. ljust- 19 Mr. Dondero; correct?
20 A Ithought affiliates — | thought 20 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection to the
21 affiiates were just the four prior entities, 21 extent that calls for a legal conclusion.
22 soljustwantto be clear. 22 A Yes.
23 Q. |appreciate that. So let's - 23 Q. Did Highland have a process where -
24 let's keep them separate and let's refer to the 24 whereby payments would be applied against
25 four corporate entities as the affiliates, and 25 principal and interest against the notes that
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2 were given by the affiliates and Mr. Dondero? 2 A. Did | approve the payments? |

3 A Yes. 3 approve - | approve - if there was cash — if

4 Q. Can you describe the process for me? 4 there was cash being repaid on a note payment,
5 A.  The process, payment should be 5 yes, | approved in the general sense of being

6 applied as laid out in the - in the promissory 6 made aware of the payment and the amount.
7 note. 7 Q. And are you the person who

8 Q. From time to time were payments made 8 authorized Highland's employees to effectuate
9 that were not required under the promissory 9 those payments?

10 notes? 10 A Yes.

1 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 1 Q. When you gave the instruction to

12 A Yes. 12 effectuate the payment, did you obtain

13 Q. Who was responsible for deciding 13 Mr. Dondero's prior approval?

14 when and how much the payments would be made 14 A. Imean,it—Imean,it—it

15 with respect to each of the notes that were 15 depends.

16 issued by the affiliates and Mr. Dondero? 16 Q. Canyou think of any instance where
17 A. Who was responsible for deciding how 17 you directed Highland's employees to make a
18 much was paid prior to the due date? 18 payment of principal or interest against any

19 Q Yes. 19 note that was tendered by an affiliate or
20 A. Idon't know. 20 Mr. Dondero that Mr. Dondero did not approve of
21 Q. Did you approve of each payment that 21 inadvance?
22 was made against principal and interest on the 22 A. |l can'trecall specifically.
23 notes that were given by the affiliates and 23 Q. Can you identify - withdrawn.
24 Mr. Dondero? 24 Did Mr. Dondero ever tell you that a
25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 25 payment that was made against principal and
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2 interest due under one of the notes that was 2 A Idon'trecall specifically.
3 tendered by an affiliate or himself should not 3 Q. Doyourecall what year it was?
4 have been made? 4 A Yes.
5 A Yes. 5 Q. Whatyeardid the conversation with
6 Q. Canyou identify the payment for me? 6 Mr. Dondero take place that you just described?
7 A.  Itwould be for - for NexPoint 7 A 2020.
8 Advisors. 8 Q. Okay. Do youremember if it was
9 Q. Okay. And when did Mr. Dondero tell 9 December 20207
10 you that a payment that you had initiated on 10 A lt—it—-Idon't—-Idon't
11 behalf of NexPoint should not have been made? 11 recall what month specifically, but it would
12 A. lwasn'tinitiating payment. It was 12 have been November or December.
13 in the context of the — | think you used this 13 Q. Andwe're talking here about a
14 term, "the advisors," so NexPoint Advisors and 14 payment of principal and/or interest that was
15 Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors had 15 due - withdrawn.
16 overpaid on certain agreements with Highland 16 We're talking here about a payment
17 Capital Management, L.P. And as a part of that 17 of principal and interest that was applied
18 process, the advisors - what | was told at the 18 against NexPoint's note; correct?
19 time were in talks and negotiations and 19 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
20 discussions with Highland Capital Management, 20 A ldon'trecall what that payment
21 L.P., on offsets in relation to those 21 consisted of.
22 overpayments. 22 Q. Isitpossible that the payment you
23 Q. Whendid this conversation take 23 have in mind related to the shared services
24 place? 24 agreement?
25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
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2 A. No. 2 A.  Yes, generally.
3 Q. Are you certain that the payment — 3 Q. Canyou identify any loan that was
4 that the payment that you have in mind related 4 ever made to an affiliate or to Mr. Dondero
5 to the promissory note that NexPoint issued in 5 that Mr. Dondero did not approve of in advance?
6 favor of Highland? 6 A.  Other than the ones that are in
7 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 7 dispute, I'm not aware.
8 A Yes. 8 Q. Do you believe that Mr. Dondero did
9 Q. Okay. Other than that one payment, 9 not approve of each of the loans that are in
10 can you identify any other instance where 10 dispute in advance of the time that the loan
11 Mr. Dondero told you that a payment should not 11 was made?
12 have been applied against principal and 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
13 interest under any promissory note tendered by 13 A. Given whatis in the dispute, you
14 any affiliate or Mr. Dondero? 14 know, and — and - and the way things might —
15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 15 yeah, Imean...
16 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 16 Q. lamnotasking about the dispute,
17 form. 17 and it was probably my mistake to follow you
18 A, Notthat I recall. 18 there.
19 Q. Thankyou very much. 19 Were you aware of every loan made by
20 Do you know if Mr. Dondero approved 20 Highland to each of its affiliates and
21 inadvance of each loan made to each affiliate 21 Mr. Dondero while you were the CFO at the time
22 and himself during the time that you were the 22 eachloan was made?
23 CFO? 23 A.  Was | aware of every loan, yes.
24 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 24 Q. Okay. And if you put yourself back
25 form. 25 intime, do you recall that any of the loans
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2 that were made to one of the affiliates or 2 that was made against principal and interest on
3 Mr. Dondero during the time that you were the 3 any note tendered by any affiliate or

4 CFO was made without Mr. Dondero's prior 4 Mr. Dondero that you didn't know about in

5 knowledge and approval? 5 advance?

6 A.  Notthat | recall. 6 A. ldontrecall

7 Q. Thankyou. Infact, doyou-as 7 Q. Otherthan Mr. Dondero - withdrawn.
8 the CFO, would you have allowed Highland to 8 Did anybody at Highland have the

9 loan money to an ffiliate or to Mr. Dondero 9 authority to make a payment against principal
10 without obtaining Mr. Dondero's prior approval? 10 and interest due under a loan given to the

11 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 11 affiliates and Mr. Dondero without your

12 A. |can't-there was so many times 12 knowledge and approval?

13 overthe years, | can't speak for every single 13 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
14 one, but generally, yes, | - | spoke to him. 14 A.  Sorry, there was - to make a

15 Q. You-you never—you never— 15 payment on an affiliate loan, what you are

16 withdrawn. | will just take that. 16  saying would it require my knowledge and

17 Can you recall any payment that was 17 approval, yes.

18 ever made against principal and interest on a 18 Q. Okay. | appreciate that. Thank

19 note that was issued in favor of Highland by an 19 you.
20 affiliate or Mr. Dondero that you personally 20 Did anybody at Highland have the
21 did not know about in advance? 21 authority, to the best of your knowledge, to
22 A. There are so many through the years, 22 effectuate aloan to an affiliate without
23 ldon't—1don't—1don't recall every 23 Mr. Dondero's prior knowledge and approval?
24 single one. 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
25 Q. Okay. Canyou identify any payment 25 A lcan'tspeakforall but
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2 generally, yes. 2 A.  Notthat| recall.

3 Q. Did you personally communicate with 3 Q. Are you aware that Mr. Dondero and

4 Mr. Dondero to let him know each time a payment 4 the affiliates — withdrawn.

5 of principal or interest was being made against 5 Are you aware that Mr. Dondero

6 any note that was tendered by an affiliate or 6 NexPoint, HCRE, and HCMS all contend that they
7 Mr. Dondero to Highland? 7 donot have to pay on any of the notes they

8 A. Idon't-are you saying, did | let 8 issued because they are subject to an oral

9 Mr. Dondero know if a payment was made on any 9 agreement between Mr. Dondero and Nancy
10 Aaffiiate or loan to Mr. Dondero? | mean, 10 Dondero, in her capacity as the frustee of the
11 not - not every - no. 11 Dugaboy Investment Trust?

12 Q. Letme askit this way: Did you 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
13 have a practice of informing Mr. Dondero when 13 A. Ididn't-1didn't—- 1 didn't

14 payments were made against principal and 14 know that it was all notes.

15 interest on any note that was tendered by an 15 Q. Okay. Areyou - did you everleam
16 affiiate or Mr. Dondero? 16 that there was an oral agreement between Jim
17 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 17 Dondero and Nancy Dondero pertaining to any
18 form. 18 notes issued by any affiliate or Mr. Dondero?
19 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 19 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
20 A No,ldidnot. 20  form.
21 Q. Did Mr. Dondero ever tell you that a 21 A Yes.
22 payment of principal or interest had been made 22 Q. Do you have any understanding as to
23 against a note that was tendered by an 23 the terms of that agreement?
24 offiliate or himself that he had been unaware 24 A Yes.
25 of? 25 Q. Whatis your understanding of the
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2 terms of the agreement? 2 Q. Do you know anything about -- do you
3 A Thatthere were certain milestones 3 know what promissory notes the agreement

4 that had to be reached. 4 covered?

5 Q. Do you have any understanding of the 5 A ldont

6 terms of the agreement between Mr. Dondero and 6 Q. Do you know if - if Jim and Nancy

7 Nancy Dondero conceming any of the notes 7 Dondero entered into one agreement or more than
8 issued by the affiliates or Mr. Dondero other 8 one agreement?

9 than that there have to be milestones reached? 9 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
10 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 10  fom.

1 form. 1 A, ldon'tknow.

12 A, There are milestones, | found out 12 Q. Do you know if the agreement is in

13 yesterday, or there was some - 13 writing?

14 MS. DANDENEAU: Okay. I'm just 14 A Idon'tknow.

15 going to object to the extent that you 15 Q. Howdid you leam of the existence

16 leamed anything in conversations with 16 of the agreement?

17 counsel, please don't reveal — that is 17 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
18  privileged, and don't reveal any privileged 18 Again-

19 communications. 19 A. ldon't—1don't recall who told
20 THE WITNESS: Okay. 20 me.
21 A, So I'm not aware of anything else. 21 Q. You have no recollection of who told
22 Q. Do you know what the milestones 22 you about this agreement between Jim and Nancy
23 were? 23 Dondero?
24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 24 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
25 A. ldon't. 25 form.
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2 A. Idon'trecall. 2 where you understood that certain milestones
3 Q. Do you recall how you leamed of the 3 hadto be reached. Okay?

4 agreement? 4 A. Uh-huh.

5 Was itin a meeting? Wasitina 5 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection.

6 phonecall? Was itin an email? 6 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the
7 A. ldon'trecall 7 form.

8 Q. Do you recall when you leamed of 8 MR. MORRIS: Just defining a term,

9 the agreement? 9  whatis the objection.

10 A, Notspecifically. 10 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: The objection -
11 Q. Do you recall what year you leamed 1 MR.MORRIS: | will move on. [ wil

12 of the agreement? 12 move on.

13 A In-look, | mean, there are so 13 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: John -

14 many notes. | may be getting - | believe it 14 Q. Sir, are you okay with that

15 was 2020. 15 definition of agreement?

16 Q. Allright. I'm not asking about 16 A Okay.

17 notes, sir. I'masking about the agreement 17 Q. Okay. Soyou don'trecall who -

18 that you testified you knew about between Jim 18 who informed you of the existence of the

19 and Don- — Nancy Dondero. Okay. 19 agreement; is that right?
20 Do you understand my question now? 20 A. Idon'trecall.
21 Should | ask my question again? 21 Q. You don'trecall who told you the
22 A Yeah,sure. Goahead. 22 terms of the agreement.
23 Q. I'mgoing to use the word 23 Do | have that right?
24 "agreement" to refer to the agreement that 24 A. Correct.
25 Mr. Dondero and Nancy Dondero entered into 25 Q. And you don't recall if you leamed
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2 about the agreement in a meeting, through an 2 A Idon'trememberthe - | mean, it
3 email, or through a phone call. 3 was sometime in 2021. | don't remember when.
4 Do | have that right? 4 Q. Allright. So to the best of your
5 A ldon'trecall 5 recollection, it was in 2021 but you don't
6 Q. Canyou tell me when you leamed of 6 recallif it was before or after you ceased to
7 the agreement? 7 be aHighland employee.
8 A Idon't-Idon't—Idon't 8 Do | have that right?
9 remember specifically. 9 A.  Yeah,Imean, itwas — it was
10 Q. Canyoutell meifyou leamed of 10 likely after | was — after | left Highland
11 the agreement before or after the petition 11 because, if | put myself back into the last
12 date? 12 days of - of 2021, it was — you know, the
13 A.  ltwould have been — it would have 13 communications with Mr. Dondero were — were -
14 been after. 14 were - there weren't as many communications
15 Q. Canyoutellmeifyou leamed of 15 because of the circumstances.
16 the agreement before or after January 9th, 16 Q. And so based on that you believe
17 20207 17 thatitis most likely that you leamed of this
18 A ltwould have been after. 18 agreement sometime after you left Highland
19 Q. Canyou tell me if you leamed of 19 employment?
20 the agreement before or after you left Highland 20 A lwouldn'tuse the term "most
21 Capital Management in February of 20217 21 likely." | don't recall specifically. |don't
22 A, ldon't-Idon't—1don'tknow. 22 recall.
23 Q ltis possible that you leamed of 23 Q. Do you recall ever telling Jim Seery
24 it while you were a Highland employee. 24 about this agreement?
25 Do | have that right? 25 A. No, ldon't-Ididn't tell
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2 Jim Seery. 2 at 11:02 your time. Let's come back, |
3 Q. Did you tell anybody at DSI about 3 guess,at15-at 11:15 your time.
4 this agreement? 4 VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the
5 A. No. 5 record at 11:02 a.m.
6 Q. Did you tell any of Highland's 6 (Recess taken 11:02 am. to 11:20 a.m.)
7 independent directors about this agreement? 7 VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the
8 A. No. 8 record at 11:20 am.
9 Q. Did you tell anybody at Pachulski 9 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, did you speak with
10 Stang Ziehl & Jones about this agreement? 10 anybody during the break about this deposition?
1 A. No. 1 A. No.
12 Q. Didyou tellany employee of 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Other than — other
13 Highland about this agreement? 13 than his counsel.
14 A No. 14 Q. Did you speak to your counsel about
15 MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Morris, it has 15 the substance of your deposition today?
16 been an hour and a half. Is this a good 16 A No,ldidn't bring it up.
17 time for a break? 17 Q. Ididn'task you if you brought it
18 MR.MORRIS: Sure. 18 up. lasked you if you had any conversation
19 Q. Mr.Waterhouse, | will just remind 19 with your lawyer about the substance of your
20 you that during the break please don't speak 20 deposition.
21 with anybody about the deposition, the 21 MS. DANDENEAU: Yes, he did.
22 substance of your testimony or anything else 22 Q. Canyou tell me whatthe - you
23 conceming the deposition. Okay? 23 discussed?
24 A Yes. 24 MS. DANDENEAU: No, | object to
25 MR.MORRIS: Soitis 11:02. We're 25 that. He's not going to answer. Thatis a
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2 privileged conversation. 2 have to.

3 MR. MORRIS: So | just want to make 3 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, after leaming about

4 sure that | understand. During the break 4 the agreement, did you ask anybody if the

5 you spoke with your client about the 5 agreement was reflected in a writing?

6 substance of this deposition; is that 6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
7 right? 7 A No

8 MS. DANDENEAU: Yes, John. 8 Q. Didyou askanybody if the terms of

9 MR. MORRIS: And you refuse - you 9 the agreement were memorialized anywhere?
10 refuse to let your client tell me what was 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
11 discussed; is that right? 1 MR. MORRIS: Whatis the -

12 MS. DANDENEAU: That's correct. 12 A No.

13 MR.MORRIS: You know, | had given 13 MS. DANDENEAU: Well, because you
14 the instruction prior to the break not to 14 keep talking about this agreement and | -
15 speak with counsel. | would have 15 [ - 1think, Mr. Monis, that is really

16 appreciated - 16 not clear what you mean by "the agreement."
17 MS. DANDENEAU: No, you didn't - 17 And maybe you can just go back and restate
18 actually, that is not true, Mr. Morris. 18 what that is.

19 You said not to speak with anyone. We 19 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Your client has
20 never have interpreted that to mean 20  agreed with me twice on the definition, but
21 conversations with counsel. That's never 21 | will try one more time.
22 been -1 have never, ever heard that 22 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, do you understand
23 instruction. 23 thatwhen | use the term "agreement,” I'm
24 MR. MORRIS: Okay. We will - we 24 referming to the agreement between Jim and
25 will - we will deal with it when and if we 25 Nancy Dondero conceming certain promissory
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2 notes where you leamed that one of the terms 2 MR. MORRIS: You know what, you

3 ofthe agreement was milestones reached? 3 guys, this is really wrong. Itis really,

4 A Okay. 4 really wrong. Okay?

5 Q. And did you understand that that was 5 | had the witness agree not once,

6 the - the agreement that we were referring to 6 but twice to the definition of agreement.

7 every time we used the word "agreement" in this 7 Okay? I'm going to fry and do it a third

8 deposition? 8 time.

9 A Idon'tknow anything about this 9 MS. DANDENEAU: No, but, please,

10 agreement. So, look, | do —it — I don't 10 John, really -

11 know whether — 11 MR. MORRIS: No, please stop

12 Q. Let's—letstry this again. 12 talking. Please. Itis my deposition.

13 A. Yeah. Look, | don't know what this 13 Object to questions.

14 agreement relates. 14 MS. DANDENEAU: No, but also you
15 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: John, John - 15 instructed him that - that if you were

16 Q. Letmetry- 16 going - if you were interrupting him, that

17 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: John, please let 17 he should remind you that you're

18 the witness finish. 18 interrupting him and - and -

19 MR.MORRIS: Please stop. Please 19 MR.MORRIS: Lethim dothat. Let
20 stop. Please stop talking. 20 him do that.
21 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: No, you stop. 21 MS. DANDENEAU: Okay. Well, you -
22 Let the witness —- 22 MR.MORRIS: Please stop talking.
23 MR. MORRIS: Stop talking. 23 A.  Okay. |don'tknow any of the
24 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: - finish —you 24 details of these agreements. | don't know
25 interrupted him. 25 anything about them. | heard - someone — |
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2 don't know who, | don't know when, as you 2 milestones that had to be reached; is that
3 asked, sometime in 21, someone told me about 3 right?
4 this - or | don't honestly know — | don't 4 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
5 even recall exactly how | was made aware of 5 A Thatwas one of the words that was
6 this, but | was. |don'tknow - | don't know 6 used when | heard about it, yes.
7 any of these details, and I'm getting - again, 7 Q. Andwhen you heard about this
8 thereis, you know, | - I —1had a passing 8 agreement that had a term in it conceming
9 conversation with - with Jim at some point 9 milestones reached, did you ask the person who
10 on - on some - on the executive comp, and I'm 10 was telling you about the agreement whether or
11 getting confused of what is what, because 11 notitwas in writing?
12 again, | don't know any of these details. 12 A. Ididnot.
13 Q. Okay. Letmetryagain, 13 Q. Did you ask any questions at all?
14 Mr. Waterhouse, and | apologize. 14 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
15 Are you aware of any agreement 15 A Notthatlrecall.
16 between Jim Dondero and Nancy Dondero 16 Q. Butdo you understand that going
17 conceming any promissory note that was given 17 forward, we're going to refer to the agreement
18 to Highland by any affiiate or Mr. Dondero? 18 as the agreement that you just described that
19 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 19 youwere —
20 form. 20 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form.
21 A. I've heard of an agreement. That 21 A Yes.
22 is-thatis - mean, if you are using aware 22 Q. Okay. You don't have any personal
23 asheard, sure. 23 knowledge concemning the terms of the
24 Q. And you understand that one of the 24 agreement; correct?
25 terms of the agreement is that it was based on 25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
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2 form. 2 wantto be clear that | never would have asked
3 Q. Youcananswer. 3 you to appear at this deposition if your name
4 A ldon't-Iheard aboutthe 4 hadn't been included in responses to discovery
5 agreement. | don't know anything - | heard 5 asto somebody with knowledge about the — who
6 there was an agreement. Thatis — again, as| 6 was told about the existence of the agreement.
7 testified before — | said before, heard about 7 That is what prompted me do this,
8 it, don't know the details. |believe it was 8 and I really do feel compelled to tell you that
9 sometime this year. 9 I otherwise would never have called you as a
10 Q. Do you have any personal knowledge 10 witness. So | regret that you're being put
11 about the terms of the agreement, sir? 11 through this today. | had no intention of
12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 12 burdening you or taking your time, but that is
13 A.  Other than what | have previously 13 the reason that we issued the subpoena is
14 discussed, | don't - | don't know. 14 because certain of the defendants identified
15 Q. Did - did Mr. Dondero tell you 15 you as somebody -
16 about the existence of the agreement? 16 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Mr. Morris, you
17 A. Idon'trecall. 17 are here to ask questions, not to have —
18 Q. Do you recall the source of your 18 MR. MORRIS: | feel badly for the
19 information when you leamed about the 19 guy. |really do.
20 agreement? 20 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: I'm sure you do.
21 A, No, | don't— I don't recall. | 21 MR. MORRIS: Ido. Stop.
22 don'tremember. |just— | heard about it 22 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: You stop.
23 generally. | don'tremember — | don't 23 MR. MORRIS: I'm allowed.
24 remember who, how, if, how. | don't remember. 24 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: No, you're not
25 Q. You know, Mr. Waterhouse, | just 25 allowed to have a chat with the witness.
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2 Q. Okay. Well | hope that you 2 Q. Didyouevermake -

3 appreciate what I'm saying here, 3 A Idon'tknow anything about these

4 Mr. Waterhouse. 4 agreements.

5 MS. DANDENEAU: Allright. Let's go 5 Q. Didyou ever make any effort to

6 ahead and ask questions, and again, you're 6 determine which promissory notes are subject to
7 entitied to probe his — his knowledge 7 this agreement?

8 of — whatever knowledge he has about 8 A No.

9 this — this agreement and — 9 Q. Did you ever ask anybody which

10 MR.MORRIS: Thatis what I'm doing. 10 promissory notes are subject to this agreement?
1 MS. DANDENEAU: - he will answer 1 A. No.

12 the questions to the best that he can. 12 Q. Do you know if there is a list

13 MR.MORRIS: That is what I'm doing. 13 anywhere of the promissory notes that are

14 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, | take it you do not 14 subject to this agreement?

15 know which promissory notes issued by which 15 A I'mnotaware.

16 affiliates or Mr. Dondero are the subject of 16 Q. Have you ever seen the terms of the
17 this agreement; do | have that right? 17 agreement written down anywhere?

18  A. Yes, Idon't-Idon'tknow. 18 A No.

19 Q. Do you know of any way to determine 19 Q. Have you ever asked anybody whether
20 which promissory notes issued by the affiliates 20 the terms of the agreement were written down
21 and Mr. Dondero are the subject of this 21 anywhere?
22 agreement other than asking Jim or Nancy 22 A. Ihave not.
23 Dondero? 23 Q. Did leaming about the agreement
24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 24 cause you to do anything in response?
25 A. Idon'tknow. 25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
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2 A. No. 2 as to the reason why Highland had its annual
3 Q. Did anybody ever describe to you the 3 financial statements audited each year.

4 nature of the milestones that you referred to 4 A. From - from time to time, they were

5 earlier? 5 used - or asked for, as part of diligence or

6 A.  No, I don't-Idon'thave any 6 transactions or - or things of that nature.

7 details of this. 7 Q. Andwere they given to third parties

8 Q. Thatisfine. 8 for purposes of diligence or transactions from

9 PricewaterhouseCoopers served as 9 time to time?

10 Highland's outside auditors prior to the 10 A.  Asfaras I'maware, yes.

11 petition date; correct? 1 Q. Andwas it your understanding as the
12 A Yes. 12 CFO that the third parties who received the

13 Q. You refer to PricewaterhouseCoopers 13 financial statements in diligence or

14 as PwC? 14 transactions was going to rely on those?

15 A Yes. 15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
16 Q. PricewaterhouseCoopers audited 16 A Idon'tknow -1don'tknow gen -

17 Highland's financial statements on an annual 17 Idon't know specifically what they were going
18 basis; correct? 18 torely on. You know, we would get requests
19 A During my -- during my time as - as 19 for audited financial statements. |don't know
20 CFO, yes, PricewaterhouseCoopers was the 20 what they were relying on.

21 auditor. 21 Q And-

22 Q. Do you know why Highland had its 22 A Youwould have to ask them.

23 annual financial statements audited each year? 23 Q. Did you personally play a role in

24 A Generally. 24 PwC's annual audit and the conduct of the

25 Q. Tellme your general understanding 25 audit?
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2 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 2 was a - there was a point - it varies. It
3 A During my tenure as CFO, | played a 3 varies by year, in function, in time and, you
4 very minimal role. 4 know, depending on the request, but yes, |
5 Q. Whatwas the minimal role that you 5 mean, there is - there is — there is
6 played? 6 generally a point person of communication.
7 A. You know, again, it was — it was to 7 Q. And who was the point person from
8 check in with the team, to make sure that, you 8 2016 until the time you left Highland?
9 know, audit — the deadlines were being hit, 9 A. Idon't—Idon't know
10 information was being presented to the auditors 10 specifically, but it would have been, you
11 ina-inatimely fashion, but, you know, 11 know — you know, someone on the corporate
12 other than that, it was a very capable team 12 accounting team.
13 that are still current employees of Highland 13 Q. Andwasthere a head of the
14 and, you know, they - they conducted 99 14 corporate accounting team?
15 percent of — look, | don't want to give 15 A Yes,so-yes.
16 percentages. | mean, thisis —but|-1-- 16 Q. Who was the head of corporate
17 | played a minimal role towards the end. 17 accounting for the five years prior to the time
18 Before during my earlier years as 18 you left Highland?
19 CFO, | did more, and then as time went on, | 19 A. Idon't—if you're asking from
20 didlessinit. 20 2016 on, | don't - it was Dave Klos, but,
21 Q. Okay. Was there a person at 21 again, there was — there was changes to the
22 Highland who was responsible for overseeing 22 team and the reporting structure. | don't
23 Highland's participation in PwC's audit during 23 remember exactly when that happened during -
24 the time that you were the CFO? 24 you know, over the last - since 2016.
25 A.  Yeah. I mean, there was - there 25 Q. Did the folks who participated and
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2 ran the audit all report to you, directly or 2 Ifyou —if you talk to my team members, I'm
3 indirectly? 3 not micromanaging people. | want people to
4 A. Yes. 4 leam and grow in their function so they can go
5 Q. And did you have any responsibility 5 onand do bigger and better things with their
6 for making sure that the audit report was 6 careers.
7 accurate before it was finalized? 7 And so, yes, generally | was
8 A.  Yeah. I mean, you know, that - 8 responsible for it, but | wanted the team to
9 thatis — my responsibility to the auditors 9 leam and grow and be responsible for the bulk
10 was - again, is —and the CFO is to - we are 10 ofthe audit.
11 providing accurate financial statements; right? 1 Q. Did you personally review each audit
12 And - and — and as part of any 12 report before it was finalized to satisfy
13 audit, we disclose all relevant information as 13 yourself that it was accurate?
14 part of any audit. 14 A Idon't—Idon'trecall, you know,
15 Q. Okay. And as the CFO, did you take 15 for every single — we're talking 2016, there
16 steps to make sure that the audit report was 16 would have been three years, 2016 to '17,'18.
17 accurate? 17 1don't--we're — we're going back
18 A.  Imean, | would say in a general 18 five years-plus. | don't—you know, | don't
19 sense, yes. But, again, | mean, | had a 19 recall.
20 very —1had a very capable and competent 20 Q. Did you have a practice that you
21 team. Iwasn't managing them. 21 employed to make sure that you were satisfied
22 You know, part of what I dois | let 22 that Highland's audit reports were true and
23 the team — | want managers to grow. | want 23 accurate to the best of your knowledge?
24 managers to have rope. And thatis - you 24 A Imean, our - the practice was set
25 know, I'm not a stand-behind-you type of guy. 25 up with our - the - the practice to put
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2 together accurate audited or accurate financial 2 reporting and disclosures of loans to

3 statements is to your control environment. 3 dffiliates and Mr. Dondero?

4 So, you know, the — so the practice 4 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
5 was to maintain a stable control environment 5 A. ldon't—1don'recall -

6 which then the output is — is accurate 6 Q. Soyou don'trecall -

7 financial statements. 7 A -—-the-

8 So - so, you know, if | was 8 MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Morris —

9 comfortable that the control environment was 9 A. | don'trecall being uncomfortable.

10 operating, then, you know, that would dictate 10 But, again, we're going back several years. |
11 how | would - you know, what | might or might 11 don't— you know, the practice in an audit is
12 notdoin agiven year. 12 to disclose all information to the auditors.

13 Q. Okay. Do you recall ever being 13 And|don't—1don'trecall.

14 uncomfortable with the control environment 14 Q. Aspartof the process of the audit,

15 during the period that you served as CFO? 15 did you sign what is sometimes referred to as a
16 A.  Yeah. I mean, look, yes, there are 16 management representation letter?

17 times — you know, nothing is perfect. So 17 A Yes.

18 there were — there were times when, yes, you 18 MR.MORRIS: Can we put up on the
19 know - there are times | leamed | was 19 screen a document that we have premarked as
20 uncomfortable with the control environment, and 20 Exhibit 33.
21 thatis part of the management of the process 21 (Exhibit 33 marked.)
22 and having, you know - and — and working 22 MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Morris, that is
23 through whatever obstacles present themselves. 23 notin the binder; correct?
24 Q. Okay. Were you ever uncomfortable 24 MR. MORRIS: Correct.
25 with the control process as it related to 25 Q. So you wil see, Mr. Waterhouse,
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2 thisis a letter dated June 3rd. And if we 2 materiality?

3 could go to the signature page. 3 A, Yes.

4 And do you see that you and 4 Q. Andforpurposes of the audit, did

5 Mr. Dondero signed this document? 5 PwC set the level of materiality each year?

6 A Yes. 6 A Yes.

7 Q. Thatis your signature; right? 7 Q. Did that number change over time?

8 A Yes. 8 A.  I'm not aware of what materiality is

9 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Can you go back 9 every single year, so - but, you know, this

10 to the top. 10 number would likely fluctuate.

1" MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Morris, can you 1 Q. Okay. I'mgoingtogobacktoa

12 have somebody post this in the chat so that 12 question | asked you earlier today. And that
13 we have can have a copy of this, please. 13 isin connection — this letter is issued in

14 MR. MORRIS: Yeah, sure. Asia, can 14 connection with the audit for the period ending
15 you do that, please. 15 12/31/2018; correct?

16 Q. Okay. Do you see at the bottom of 16 A Yes.

17 the second paragraph there is a reference to 17 Q. Okay. Andis it fair to say that if

18 materiality? 18 any - actually, withdrawn. I'm going to take
19 A Yes. 19 itoutside of this.
20 Q. Okay. Itsays, Materiality used for 20 If Highland ever forgave the loan to
21 purposes of these representations is 21 any affiliate or any of its officers or
22 $1.7 million. 22 employees, in whole or in part, to the best of
23 Do you see that? 23 your knowledge, would that forgiveness have
24 A ldo. 24 been disclosed in the audited financial
25 Q. And did PwC set that level of 25 statements if it exceeded the level of
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2 materiality that PwC established? 2 signedaswell. |don't—1don'trecall.
3 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 3 Q. Buttothe best of your knowledge,
4 A So,again, during my tenure as CFO, 4 you, personally, signed a management
5 and - Highland - it was — it is required to 5 representation letter in connection with
6 disclose any affiliate loans that are in excess 6 Highland's audit each year that you served as
7 of materiality. 7 the CFO; correct?
8 Now, the forgiveness of those loans 8 A |would say generally speaking,
9 may or may not — | mean, since materiality 9 Mr. Morris. | don't recall for every single
10 fluctuates every year, a - you know, if a loan 10 year, you know, generally, but | would want to
11 was forgiven, it may or may not, you know — 11 refer o all the rep letters and see who signed
12 and, look, | would want to consult the guidance 12 them.
13 around this. 13 Q. Doyou recall Highland having its
14 Itis not something we do - you 14 financial statements audited in any year during
15 know, itis not — you know, GAAP can be and 15 the period that you were a CFO where you didn't
16 disclosures can be very specialized so, again, 16 sign the management representation letter?
17 we want to consult the guidance. But we would 17 A. Idon'trecall. But, John, we're
18 see if and what would need to be disclosed if 18 going back five, six, seven, eight, nine,
19 it were deemed immaterial. 19 decade. |don't—Idon't remember.
20 Q. Didyouand Mr. Dondero sign 20 Q. Idon'twanttogo back that many
21 management representation letters of this type 21 decades, but I'm just asking you if you recall
22 in each year in which you served as Highland's 22 that there was you didn't sign it?
23 CFO? 23 A I-I-Idon', butmy memory
24 A. | —=1-Iwil speak for myself. 24 is-again, | -1 -1 can't tell you what |
25 |signed them. There may have been others that 25 didin2012. I mean, | think generally, yes,
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2 butldon't-Idon'tknow for sure, and | 2 management to sign management representation
3 would want to rely on the document. 3 letters?
4 Q. Letme ask the question a little bit 4 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the
5 differently then. 5  form.
6 Do you have any reason to believe 6 A Idon'tknowwhy PwC's - what PwC's
7 that Highland had its annual financial audit 7 specific practice is. | know generally what
8 and you did not sign a management 8 management representation letters are.
9 representation letter in connection with that 9 Q. Okay. Do you personally - I'm not
10 audit? 10 asking about PwC. I'm asking for you - I'm
1 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 11 asking about you, do you have an understanding
12 A. Idon'tbelieve it would, but, 12 as to why the auditor asks for management
13 again, | would want to — | don't recall and | 13 representation letters?
14 would want to confirm it to — to make, you 14 A Okay. Soyou're asking me in my
15 know, an affirmative - to give an affirmative 15 personal capacity, yes, | have a general
16 answer. 16 understanding of why.
17 Q. Do you know whether PwC required 17 Q. Canyou give me the general
18 management to sign management representation 18 understanding that you have as to why
19 letters? 19 management representation letters are required?
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 A. They are — they are required to -
21 A.  Yes. I mean, it - management 21 they are - they are one of the items required
22 representation letters are signed by 22 inan audit to help verify completeness.
23 management. 23 Q. Do you have any — any other
24 Q. Okay. Anddo you know —do you 24 understanding as to why management
25 have any understanding as to why PwC requires 25 representation letters are required?
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2 A. Thatis —that is - other than 2 letter - representation letter, yes.
3 whatlsaid, itis - itis - it is required 3 Q. Okay. Did you discuss this letter
4 so-to ensure that the -- you know, there 4 with Mr. Dondero before you signed it?
5 is —there is completeness in what is being 5 A ldontrecall
6 audited. 6 Q. Do you recall if Mr. Dondero asked
7 Q. Did you - did you have a practice 7 you any questions before he signed the letter?
8 whereby you and Mr. Dondero conferred about the 8 A ldontrecall
9 management representation letters before you 9 Q. Do you recall if you asked
10 signed them? 10 Mr. Dondero any questions before you signed
1 A. No. 11 this letter?
12 Q. Did you have a practice - 12 A. Idon'trecall.
13 withdrawn. 13 Q. Isitfairto say that Mr. Dondero
14 Do you see just the next sentence 14 did not disclose to you the existence of the
15 after the materiality, there is a sentence that 15 agreement that we have — as we've defined that
16 states: We confirm, to the best of our 16 term prior to the time you signed this letter?
17 knowledge and belief, as of June 3rd, 2019, the 17 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
18 date of your report, the following 18 A, Idon'tthink | understand the
19 representations made to you during your audit. 19 question. So, again, you are saying, did
20 Do you see that sentence? 20 Mr. Dondero not disclose to me the existence of
21 A. Yes. 21 this letter?
22 Q. Okay. Did you understand when you 22 Q. No, | apologize.
23 signed this letter that you were confirming the 23 Did Mr. Dondero disclose to you the
24 representations that followed? 24 existence of the agreement prior to the time
25 A When|signed this management 25 you signed this letter on June 3rd, 20197
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2 A.  The agreement — the agreement that 2 again, | mean, | haven't looked at ASC 850 in
3 we talked about earlier? 3 quite some time, but, you know, if - if there
4 Q. Correct. 4 is a control language, you know, ASC 850, would
5 A Look,as|said earlier, the first 5 that - that section in GAAP would - would
6 time | heard of this agreement was sometime 6 pick up and define what are related parties.
7 this year. 7 So, you know, like | said, if — one
8 Q. Okay. Canwe tum —let's just 8 of the four entities | just described, if — if
9 look at a couple of items on the list. If we 9 they are in that control definition of ASC 850,
10 cangoto page 33416. Do you see in Number 35 10 they would be picked up in 35D.
11 it talks about the proper recording or 1 Q. Do you -do you have any reason to
12 disclosure in the financial statements of ND 12 believe that they would be picked up in that
13 relationships and transactions with related 13 definition, based on your knowledge and
14 parties. 14 experience?
15 Do you see that? 15 A. | -Ibelieve that entities
16 A ldo. 16 controlled under GAAP are - are affiliates.
17 Q. Asthe CFO, do you have any 17 Q. Okay. Would Mr. Dondero also
18 understanding as to whether Dugaboy is a 18 qualify as a related party for purposes of
19 related party? 19 Section 35D, to the best of your knowledge?
20 A ldon'trecall 20 A Yeah,ldon't-Idon'tknow. |
21 Q. Do you know whether any of the 21 would think - | would have to read the code
22 dffiliates are related parties? 22 section to see if someone personally — s it
23 A. If—-if it was NexPoint, HCMFA, 23 talking about related parties. So, look, if
24 HCMS, HCRE, yeah, if - if that is the 24 your own in control, yeah, | mean, | would have
25 dffiliate definition, and there. In ASC 850 — 25 toread the section.

TSG Reporting - Worldwide

877-702-9580

Appx. 02074




Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 91 of 200 PagelD 41084

Page 102 Page 103

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 Q. Tothe bestof your knowledge, was 2 June 3rd, 2019, did Highland disclose to PwC

3 the existence of the agreement ever disclosed 3 the identity of the partnership's related
4 toPwC? 4 parties and all the related party relationships

5 A I'mnot-I'mnotaware. 5 and transactions of which it was aware?

6 Q. Do you recall if the agreement was 6 A Imean, |can speak for myself as

7 everdisclosed in Highland's audited financial 7 signer of this representation letter. |

8 statements? 8 disclosed what — what, you know, what —

9 A. Idon't—1don't remember if it 9 what-what | knew. Sorry, look, yes, so | -
10 was in every Highland's audited financial 10 Idisclosed what | knew.

11 statements during my tenure. We would have to 11 Q. Okay. Canwe gotopage419. Do
12 read the financial statements to see what was 12 you see at the end there is a reference to
13 disclosed, but I'm not — I mean, as | sit here 13 events that occurred since the end of the
14 today, I'm not aware. 14 fiscal year and the date of the letter?
15 Q. Thatis all 'm asking for. 15 A Yes.
16 A I'mnotaware. 16 Q. And were you aware of that — of
17 Q. Canwe go to the next page, please, 17 that provision of the management representation
18 andlook at 36. 36 says, we have disclosed to 18 letter before you signed the document?
19 you the identity of the partnership's related 19 A Yes.
20 party relationships and all the related party 20 Q. Do you have an understanding as to
21 relationships and transactions of which we are 21 why PwC asked for that confirmation of that
22 aware. 22 particular part of the management
23 Do you see that? 23 representation letter?
24 A Yes. 24 A ltis—itis—itisjust—it
25 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge, as of 25 is atypical audit request.
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2 Q. And do you understand - do you have 2 Canty could please put that in the chat

3 an understanding that PwC wanted to know that 3 room, that would be great.

4 as of the date of the audit whether any 4 MR. MORRIS: | will assure you we

5 material changes had occurred since the end of 5 will put every document in the chat room.

6 thefiscal year, using the definition of 6 Q. Now, I'mjust going to ask you

7 materiality that is in this particular 7 questions that are related to the provisions of

8 management representation letter? 8 this report that concem the affiliate loans,

9 A lt-itis—itis—itisa— 9 but again, Mr. Waterhouse, if there is any part
10 itis as described. Itis justa poorly worded 10 of the document that you need to see or that
11 question, so it is hard for me to say yes. 11 you think you might need to see in order to
12 Q. [flaskedyou this, | apologize, 12 refresh your recollection to answer any of my
13 but did you ever leam when the agreement was 13 questions, will you let me know that?

14 entered into? 14 A Yes.

15 A Idon't-Idon't-like I said 15 Q. Becausethisis a pretty lengthy

16 before, | don't know or have any details of the 16 document, but do you see that the cover page
17 agreement. 17 here is the Highland consolidated financial

18 Q. Okay. Did you ever ask anybody when 18 statements for the period ending December 31st,
19 the agreement was entered into? 19 20187

20 A Ididnot 20 A Yes.

21 Q. Let'slook at the audited financial 21 Q. Ifwecangoto-Ithinkitis the

22 statements. We will put up on the screen a 22 nextone, looking for PwC's signature line.

23 document that has been premarked as Exhibit 34. 23 MS. CANTY: I'm sorry, John, did you
24 (Exhibit 34 marked.) 24 say something?

25 MS. DANDENEAU: And again, if Ms. La 25 MR. MORRIS: Yes, can we tum the
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2 page. |thinkitis 215. Yes, stop right 2 under the affiliate under the notes signed by

3 there, justabove - I'm sorry, | want to 3 the effiliates and Mr. Dondero?

4 see just the date of the report. 4 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection to the

5 Q. Okay. Do you see at the bottom of 5 extent that calls for a legal conclusion.

6 that page there, Mr. Waterhouse, 6 A.  Imean, | would want to see the

7 PricewaterhouseCoopers has signed this audit 7 detail and the build to this $173,398,000, but,

8 report? 8 yes, I mean, if - if - given what we

9 A.  Yes, | see their signature. 9 discussed before, you know, it — it should

10 Q. Okay. Anditis the dated same day 10 capture that.

11 as your management representation letter; is 11 Q. And - and while you were the CFO of
12 thatright? 12 Highland, were all notes held by Highland that
13 A ltis—yes, itis the same day. 13 were issued by an affiliate or Mr. Dondero

14 Q. Was that the practice to sign the 14 carried as assets on Highland's balance sheets?
15 management representation letter on the same 15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
16 day that the audit report was signed? 16 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to form.
17 A.  Yes, thatis typical in every audit. 17 A. Idon't—-1don't know how else

18 Q. Canwe justscroll down to the 18 they would be carried.

19 balance sheet on the next page. 19 Q. Okay. Can you think of any - are
20 Do you see that there is aline 20 you aware of any promissory note issued by an
21 there that says, Notes and Other Amounts Due 21 affiliate or Mr. Dondero that was not carried
22 from Affiliates? 22 on Highland's audited financial balance sheets?
23 A Yes. 23 A, I'm—I'm-I'm notaware.
24 Q. Does thatline, to the best of your 24 Q. Okay. Are you aware of any category
25 knowledge, include the amounts that were due 25 of asset on Highland's balance sheet in which
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2 any of the promissory notes issued by an 2 Now, does that mean absolute? |

3 dffiliate or Mr. Dondero would have been 3 don'tknow.

4 included? 4 Q. Do you have any reason to believe

5 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 5 that the promissory notes would have been

6 A Sory,am|aware of any asset of an 6 carried on the balance sheet in a category

7 affiiate being included - 7 other than Notes and Other Amounts Due from
8 Q. That-letme —let me try again. 8 Affiliates?

9 Do you see there is a number of 9 A Iftheywere deemed - no. Ifthey

10 different assets that are described on this 10 were deemed an affiliate, you know, under GAAP,
11 balance sheet? 11 they should be carried in that line.

12 A Yes. 12 Otherwise, it would go into another line.

13 Q. Oneofthe assets that is described 13 Q. Okay. Anddo you see the total

14 is Notes and Other Amounts Due from Affiliates; 14 asset base as of December 31st, 2018, was
15 right? 15 approximately $1.04 billion?

16 A Yes. 16 A Yes.

17 Q. Anditisreasonable to conclude 17 Q. Is my math correct that the Notes

18 that the notes from the affiliates and 18 and Other Amounts Due from Affiliates

19 Mr. Dondero are included in that line item; 19 constituted approximately 17 percent of
20 right? 20 Highland's assets as of the end of 20187
21 A.  Yes, based on this description. 21 A. WEell, so how are you defining
22 Again, | would want to see a build of this to 22 Highland?
23 100 percent confirm, but based on the 23  Q Highland Capital Management, L.P.,
24 description, the asset description, it is - it 24 the entity that this audit is subject to — or
25 islikely. 25 the subject of.
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2 A Onaconsolidated or unconsolidated 2 Other Amounts Due from Affiliates?

3 basis? 3 A Somy,lcan'tseethe -the -

4 Q. I'mlooking at the balance sheet. 4 Q. ltisatthetop.

5 ltis a consolidated balance sheet. Okay? 5 A Notesand Other Amounts Due from

6 Does the Notes and Other Amounts Due 6 Affiliates, yes, | see that. 1don't—1|

7 from Affiliates constitute approximately 7 don't have a page number, but I'm on a page

8 17 percent of the total assets of Highland 8 thatsays atthe top: Notes and Other Amounts
9 Capital Management, L.P., on a consolidated 9 Due from Affiliates.

10 basis? 10 Q. Okay. Andthatis the same title of

11 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 11 the line item on the balance sheet that we just
12 A. I don't have a calculator in front 12 looked at; right? Notes and Other Amounts Due
13 of me but | will take your math, if you are 13 from Affiliates?

14 taking the 173 divided by the billion. 14 A Yes.

15 Q. Okay. 15 Q. Andisit your understanding, based

16 A. Ifthatis accurate, yes. But, 16 on your experience and knowledge as the CFO,
17 again, on a consolidated basis. 17 that this is the section of the narrative that

18 Q. Andonanunconsolidated basis the 18 ties into the line item that we just looked at?

19 percentage would be higher; correct? 19 A Yes.
20 A |-no. Idon'tknow. 20 Q. Andis this section of the audit
21 Q. Well, okay. Thatis fair. 21 report intended to describe and disclose all of
22 MR. MORRIS: Canwe tumto 22 the material facts conceming the Notes and
23 page 241, please. 23 Other Amounts Due from Affiliates?
24 Q. Do you see that this is a section of 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection, form.
25 the audit report that is entitled Notes and 25 A This—-these notes - these notes
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2 of the financial statements are — the purpose 2 reliable?

3 isto disclose any material items in relation 3 A. Ididn't-1had concems about,

4 tothat balance sheet line item. 4 you know, like | talked about before, of there

5 Q. Okay. And all of the information, 5 were - there were potentially issues in the

6 tothe best of your knowledge, that is set 6 control environment. But as far as it relates

7 forth in this section of the audit report was 7 tothe audited financial statements, any — the

8 provided by Highland; correct? 8 team would work with the auditors to disclose

9 A Yes,itwould have been provided by 9 all-all notes in Highland's possession.

10 the corporate accounting team. 10 And any - any notes that were

1 Q. Okay. And the corporate accounting 11 deemed material by the auditor, right, these

12 team, did that team report to you in the 12 were disclosed in these — in this section, you
13 organizational structure? 13 know, in — in the notes to the consolidated

14 A Yes. 14 financial statements as you presented.

15 Q. Anddid you have any concerns about 15 Q. Doyourecall ever havinga

16 the controls that were in place to make sure 16 conversation with anybody at any time

17 that the information provided with respect to 17 conceming the accuracy of the section of audit
18 Notes and Other Amounts Due from Affiliates was 18 reports that relates to Notes and Other Amounts
19 accurate and complete? 19 Due from Affiliates?
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
21 A. Notthat| recall. 21 A.  Youknow, as —as — | didn't have
22 Q. Okay. Do you recall ever being 22 direct conversations with
23 concemed that any portion of the Notes and 23 PricewaterhouseCoopers as | had, you know —
24 Other Amounts Due from Affiliates in any audit 24 | -1had the team that managed this.
25 report was inaccurate, incomplete, or not 25 Again, | wasn't anywhere chose to
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2 being the point person of this audit. And | 2 accuracy of the section of the audit reports
3 can'trecall, you know, when - you know, | 3 called Notes and Other Amounts Due from
4 don'teven know if | was ever the point person 4 Affiliates; correct?
5 during my tenure as CFO. 5 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form.
6 [ don't know if PwC had any concems 6 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to
7 when they were performing those audit 7 form.
8 procedures. They may have and they may have - 8 A Idon'trecall having any
9 and it may not have been communicated to me. | 9 conversations. But, again, | mean, this is —
10 don'tknow. 10 thisis two years ago.
1 MR.MORRIS: Allright. I move to 1 Q. I'mjustasking for your
12 strike. 12 recollection, sir.
13 Q. AndI'mgoing to ask you fo listen 13 A Yes.
14 carefully to my question. 14 Q. Ifyou don't recall, this will -
15 Did you -- do you recall ever having 15 A Yeah.
16 a conversation with anybody at any time 16 Q. (Overspeak) —if you don't
17 conceming the accuracy of the reporting 17 recall -
18 provided in the audited financial statement on 18 A. Yeah, | don't—1don't recall.
19 the topic of Notes and Other Amounts Due? 19 Q. Do you know who was responsible for
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 drafting the audit report?
21 A. | don't recall for this, but that 21 A.  Are you asking the actual Highland
22 doesn't mean that it didn't exist. 22 employee responsible? | mean, it was
23 Q. Okay. Butyou have noreasonto 23 Highland's responsibility, so, | mean, that
24 believe, as you sit here right now, that you 24 is—
25 ever discussed with anybody concems over the 25 Q. Right.
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2 A.  —Highland's responsibility. 2 audit report is incomplete or inaccurate in any
3 Highland's responsibility. 3 way?
4 Q. Who, atHighland, was responsible 4 And I'm happy to give you a moment
5 for drafting this section of the audit report? 5 to-tolook atit, if you would like.
6 A. |-1don'tknow the answer to 6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
7 that. Again, there was a team who worked on 7 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Same.
8 this. And | don't know, you know, whether it 8 A. Imean, | would have to look at - |
9 was the staff or the manager. 9 would have to look at the bill to the note
10 Again, this is where | let the teams 10 schedule to make sure | know you presented me
11 manage. And, you know, there may be a 11 with materiality, but again, there might be a
12 corporate accountant who worked on this. | 12 note as of 12/31/18 that somehow was — was
13 just—you know, | wasn't part of that process 13 under materiality not disclosed. 1don't—|
14 to give that person experience. | don't know. 14 don'tknow. | would need more information.
15 Q. Do you recall having any 15 Q. Okay. Butwithout more information,
16 communications with anybody at any time 16 you have no reason to believe anything this
17 conceming this section of the report? 17 section is inaccurate; correct?
18 A Yeah,|don'trecall 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
19 Q. Do you recall whether you ever told 19 A Idon't. Imean,you know, this was
20 anybody at any time that any aspect of this 20 part of the audit.
21 section of the report was inaccurate or 21 Q. Thankyou. Now, you will see if we
22 incomplete? 22 could scroll just a little bit more that each
23 A. Idon'trecall. 23 of the first five paragraphs concems
24 Q. Asyousithere today, do you have 24 specifically the four affiliates that we've
25 any reason to believe that this section of the 25 been discussing and Mr. Dondero.
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2 MR. MORRIS: If we could go the 2 value is the line item that you showed me

3 other way, La Asia. We don't need Okada. 3 earlier that is in Notes and Other Amounts Due

4 We're going to have to thread the needle. 4 from Affiliates.

5  Okay. Good, perfect. 5 Q. Okay. Isanotherway to say this is

6 Q. Do you see those five paragraphs 6 that the fair market value of the notes equals

7 certain the four affiiates and Mr. Dondero as 7 the principal amount and -- withdrawn.

8 we've been referring to today? 8 Is the fair way to interpret this

9 A Yes 9 that the fair market value of the notes equals

10 Q. Okay. And do you see at the end of 10 all remaining unpaid principal and interest due
11 every paragraph it states, quote: A fair value 11 under the notes?

12 of a partnership's outstanding notes receivable 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form.
13 approximates the carrying value of the notes 13 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection, form.
14 receivable? 14 A. | don't know the answer to that,

15 A Yes,|seethat. 15 because | don't recall where — where any —

16 Q. Do you have an understanding of what 16 where - in what line item was the interest

17 thatmeans? 17 component reported.

18 A Yes. 18 Q. Allright. Well, if we look in this

19 Q. Whatis your understanding of that 19 audit report, you will see in the middle of the
20 sentence? 20 first paragraph, for example, it states that as
21 A. ltis the — again, the — the fair 21 of December 31st, 2018, total interest and
22 value, right, which is - which is what the - 22 principal due on outstanding promissory notes
23 what Highland could sell that asset for. This 23 was approximately $5.3 million.
24 statement is comparing the fair value of the 24 Do you see that?
25 notes to the carrying value, so the carrying 25 A ldo.
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2 Q. Isthatthe carrying value or the 2 look, | mean, if you — I mean, if you are

3 fairvalue? 3 saying the 5.3 million is in the notes and

4 A Thatwould be the carrying value - 4 other amounts due from affiliates, then the

5 Q. Andisthelast - 5 last statement is saying the fair value

6 A. —inmy opinion. 6 approximates 5.3 million. That is what that

7 Q. Okay. Anditis in your opinion as 7 last sentence is saying.

8 the chief financial officer of Highland during 8 Q. Do you see in the middle of the

9 the period of time that you described; right? 9 first paragraph - not in the middle, the next

10 Itis an educated opinion? 10 tolast sentence there is a statement that the

11 A.  I'mreading this at face value. I'm 11 partnership will not demand payment on amounts
12 taking that as that is carrying value. 12 that exceed HCMFA's excess cash availability
13 Q. Okay. And does the last sentence 13 prior to May 31st, 2021.

14 say that the carrying value is roughly 14 Do you see that?

15 approximate to the fair market value? 15 A. ldo.

16 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 16 Q. Do you know when Highland agreed not
17 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection, form. 17 todemand payment as described in that

18 A.  Again, this note to the financial 18 sentence?

19 statement is specific to notes and other 19 A Idon'tknow specifically.
20 amounts due from affiliates. 20 Q. Do you know why Highland agreed not
21 Q. Correct. 21 to demand payment on HCMFA's notes until May
22 A.  Ifthe interest component is 22 20217
23 reported elsewhere on the balance sheet, you 23 A Yes.
24 know, it — it — it could be off. Again, | 24 Q. Why was that decision made?
25 don'thave the detail. |don't know, but yes, 25 A.  You know, well, it - it — that
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2 decision was made as to not put HCMFA into a 2 remember exactly - | don't remember if it was
3 position where it didn't have sufficient assets 3 myself or — or Jim Dondero who - who — there
4 to pay for the demand note. 4 was - there was something signed, from what |
5 Q. And at the time the agreement was 5 recall, that - that - that backed up this
6 entered into, pursuant to which the partnership 6 line item in the - in the notes I'm — ook,
7 wouldn't demand payment, did HCMFA have 7 I'm,I'm-
8 insufficient assets to satisfy the notes ifa 8 Q Wewillgettothat.
9 demand had been made? 9 A You-
10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 10 Q I'mjust-
1 A. | don'thave HCMFA's financial 11 A. Youhave — I mean -
12 statements in front of me as of 12/31/18. 12 Q. We're going to give that to you.
13 Q. Was there a concem that HCMFA would 13 I'mgoing to give that to you.
14 be unable to satisfy its demands under the 14 A.  You-you - you have all the
15 notes if demand was made? 15 documents. | don't have the documents, and
16 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 16 thatis what makes it so hard. | don't have
17 A, Well, there is - | don't recall - 17 any documents to prepare for this deposition;
18 I mean, there is something, right, in place to 18 right? You have all - 1don't—1don't-|
19 basically not demand payment until May 31, 2021 19 don't remember, but, you know, again, it would
20 asdetailed here. 20 probably be myself or Jim.
21 Q. And who made the decision to enter 21 Q. Do you know if Highland received
22 into — who made the decision on behalf of 22 anything in retum for its agreement not to
23 Highland not to demand payment until May 31st, 23 make a demand for two years?
24 20217 24 A, ldon't—Idon'tthink it referred
25 A, I'mtrying to remember. |don't 25 anything.
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2 Q. And did you and Mr. Dondero discuss 2 Allocation Fund, which was a - a fund managed
3 HCMFA's ability to satisfy the notes if a 3 by Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors.
4 demand was made at the time this agreement was 4 There was a—we - I'm just telling you,
5 enteredinto? 5 there was — there was - there was a—-a
6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 6 ultimately a NAV error found in this fund while
7 A. Idon't—Idon't-Idon'trecall 7 itwas an open-ended fund and, you know, there
8 having a specific conversation, if | did, or - 8 were amounts owed by the advisor in —in
9 orDavid Klos. 9 relation to that NAV error.
10 Q. Okay. I'mjustasking if you recall 10 There were also, for the same fund,
11 any conversations that you had. 11 that same fund was ongoing an
12 A. Idon'trecall 12  open-end-to-close-end conversion, and as part
13 Q. Okay. Do you know why Highland 13 of that proposal, shareholders who voted for
14 loaned the money to HCMFA that is the subject 14 the conversion received compensation from the
15 of the notes described in this paragraph? 15 advisor.
16 A. ldon'tremember specifically why 16 Q. Allright. Now, the events that
17 5.3 million was loaned. | mean, | - it would 17 you're describing occurred in the spring of
18 have to be putin the context. 18 2019; right?
19 Q. Do you have any recollection at all 19 A These started back - | think, |
20 as to why Highland ever loaned any money to 20 mean -
21 HCMFA? 21 Q. lapologize.
22 A, Yes. 22 A. —that-Imean, the answer to
23 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 23 thatis no.
24 Q. Whatdo you remember about that? 24 Q. lapologize, the loans that were
25 A.  There was a Highland Global 25 made in connection with the events that you're
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2 describing occurred in May 2019; right? 2 what s the reason you recall Highland lending
3 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection to the 3 money to NexPoint?
4 extent that calls for a legal conclusion. 4 A.  Imean, |wasjust—|just—I
5 A Idon'trecall specifically what 5 justrecall. I mean, Ijust—Idon't
6 amounts of money were moved when, for what 6 remember why.
7 purpose. 7 Q. lunderstand. AndI'm asking you if
8 Q. Okay. Fairenough. Going to the 8 yourecall -
9 next paragraph, do you recall that NexPoint 9 A.  Oh, why - thought you say —
10 Advisors had obtained a number of loans from 10 NexPoint Advisors was launching a fund which
11 Highland, and they rolled up those loans into 11 is - believe that the legal name is NexPoint
12 one note in approximately 201772 12 Capital, Inc. Andit— it provided a
13 A.  This s for NexPoint Advisors? 13 co-invest into that fund.
14 Q. Yes. 14 And, from what | remember, the -
15 A, |-Imean,|don't—-Idon't 15 the - that NexPoint borrowed money from
16 recall the NexPoint Advisors loan being a 16 Highland at the time to make that co-invest.
17 roll-up loan, but - 17 Q. So this was an investment that
18 Q. Do you know why? 18 NexPoint was required to make; is that right?
19 A But, look, if you have documents 19 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
20 thatshow - mean, look, | just don't recall. 20 A ldon'tknow if it was required to
21 Q. Okay. Thatis fair. Do you know 21 make, | don't recall that, or if it just made
22 why —do you have any recollection as to why 22 it
23 Highland loaned money to NexPoint? 23 Q. Okay. Butyourrecollection is that
24 A Yes. 24 NexPoint made an investment and they borrowed
25 Q. Why did High - why do you recall - 25 money from Highland to finance the investment.
Page 128 Page 129
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2 Do | have that right? 2 to why HCMS borrowed money from Highland?
3 A Yes. 3 A.  For - for investment purposes.
4 Q. HowaboutHCRE? Do you know why 4 Q. Soitisthe same thing, HCMS wanted
5 HCRE borrowed money from Highland? 5 to make investments and it borrowed money from
6 A. 1 don't remember specifically. 6 Highland in order to finance those investments;
7 Q. Do you remember generally? 7 isthatright?
8 A.  Generally, yeah - I mean, yes. 8 A. Imean, yes, generally. | mean, |
9 Q. Canyoutellme yourgeneral 9 can't—-1don't—on the services, there —
10 recollection as to why Highland loaned money to 10 there are several loans in these schedules.
11 HCRE? 11 You know, | can't remember why every single one
12 A.  For - for — for investment 12 ofthese were made, but | would say, yeah, |
13 purposes. 13 mean, generally.
14 Q. So HCRE made the investment and it 14 Q. Okay. | appreciate that.
15 obtained a loan, or loans, from Highland in 15 MR. MORRIS: Let's go to the page
16 order to finance that investment or those 16 with Bates No. 251. La Asia, are you
17 investments. 17 there?
18 Do I have that right? 18 MS. CANTY: Sorry, John. It went
19 A Imean,|-youknow, generally. 19  outforaminute. Can you say that again.
20 Q. Okay. How about Highland Management 20 | don't know what is going on.
21 Senvices, Inc.? 21 MR. MORRIS: The page with Bates
22 Do you have any recollection as to 22 No. 251, can we go to that.
23  why HCMS borrowed money from Highland? 23 MS. CANTY: Yes, sorry.
24 A. Generally. 24 MR. MORRIS: Keep going to the
25 Q. Whatis your general recollection as 25 bottom. Yeah, there you go.
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2 Q. Doyousee, Mr. Waterhouse, that 2 subsequent event relating to affiliate loans be
3 there is a section there called Subsequent 3 captured in this section if they were — if
4 Events? 4 they were made after the end of the fiscal year
5 A ldo 5 and prior to the issuance of the audit report?
6 Q. And does this relate to the last 6 A. Yes, if they were deemed material or
7 sentence above the signature line on the 7 disclosable.
8 management representation letter that we talked 8 Q. Okay. | appreciate that.
9 about earlier where you made the representation 9 Do you see the next to the last
10 that you disclosed subsequent events? 10 entry there? It says, Over the course of 2019
11 A.  Imean,itrelates toit, but notin 11 through the report date, HCMFA issued
12 its entirety. 12 promissory notes to the partnership in the
13 Q Okay. 13 aggregate amount of $7.4 million?
14 MR. MORRIS: If we can scroll up to 14 A Yes.
15 capture the entirety of this section right 15 Q. Anddoes that refresh your
16 here. 16 recollection that those are the notes that
17 Q. And what do you mean by that, sir? 17 related to the NAV eror that you mentioned
18 MR.MORRIS: Yeah, right there. 18 earlier?
19 Perfect. 19 A, ldon't—1don't remember the
20 A.  There are - there are different 20 exact. Again, there are -- | mentioned two
21 subsequent events in — under GAAP. So there 21 line items; right?
22 are-and--and — so what we see in the 22 Q. Yes.
23 notes to the financial statements are one type 23 A Imean,itwas the GAAP conversion
24 of subevent. 24 process plus the - the NAV error. | don't
25 Q Okay. And - and would the type of 25 have the details. | don't recall specifically
Page 132 Page 133
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2 if - you know, what — if that 7.4 million was 2 date, right, if - if my memory serves me
3 solely attributable to the NAV error. 3 right.
4 Q. Okay. Butthere is no question that 4 Q. Yes, | will represent to you that
5 Highland told PricewaterhouseCoopers that over 5 your memory is accurate in that regard.
6 the course of 2019 HCMFA issued promissory 6 Did anybody ever instruct you as the
7 notes to the partnership in the aggregate 7 CFO to correct this statement that we're
8 amount of $7.4 million; correct? 8 looking atin subsequent events?
9 A Inthe course of the audit, we would 9 A Soletmeunderstand. You're saying
10 have produced all promissory notes in our 10 when | was CFO at Highland Capital did anyone
11 possession, including the ones that are 11 ever ask me to correct the - over the course
12 detailed here. 12 of 2019 through the report date HCMFA issued
13 Q. Do you recall that you signed the 13 promissory notes, this statement?
14 two promissory notes that are referenced in 14 Q. Right
15 that provision? 15 A.  Notthat I'm aware.
16 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 16 Q. While you were the CFO of Highland,
17 A. | didn't recallinitially but I've 17 did anybody ever tell you that that sentence
18 been reminded. 18 was wrong?
19 Q. Okay. And—-and do you recall that 19 A NotthatI'maware.
20 those notes are dated May 2nd and May 3rd, 20 Q. Highland — withdrawn.
21 20197 21 HCMFA disclosed these notes in its
22 A Yes. 22 own audited financial statements; right?
23 Q. Sothatwas justa month before the 23 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, form.
24 audit was completed; correct? 24 A. lassume that these would be
25 A, Yes. |think we had a June 3rd 25 material - if these are material financial
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2 statements, yes, they — they — they should be 2 June 3rd. It could have been done on June 4th.
3 and they were likely disclosed. 3 Idon't-Ildon't-1don'recall
4 Q. Now,thereis no statement 4 Q. Okay.
5 conceming the 2019 notes about the forbearance 5 MR. MORRIS: Can we put up on the
6 that we looked at in the affiliated note 6 screen the HCMFA audit report. And while
7 section of the report; right? 7 were-—
8 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 8 MS. DANDENEAU: What exhibit is
9 Q. [llwithdraw. Thatwas bad. 9  this?
10 Do you recall when we were looking 10 MR.MORRIS: La Asia, what number is
11 atthe paragraph conceming HCMFA earlier it 11 that?
12 had that disclosure about the agreement whereby 12 MS. CANTY: 45.
13 Highland wouldn't ask for demand on the — on 13 MR. MORRIS: So this will be marked
14 the HCMFA notes? 14 asExhibit45.
15 A Yes. 15 (Exhibit 45 marked.)
16 Q. Thatforbearance disclosure is not 16 MS. CANTY: Yeah, and | will put it
17 made with respect to the 2019 notes; right? 17 in the chat.
18  A. Not-look, notthat I can recall, 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Thank you.
19 unless - unless it was done at a subsequent 19 Q. Okay. Allright. Do you see that
20 day. 20 thisiis the consolidated financial statements
21 Q. Right. Anditis notinthe 21 for HCMFA for the period ending 12/31/18?
22 subsequent event section that we're looking at 22 A Yes.
23 right now where the 2019 notes are described; 23 Q. Asthe treasurer of HCMFA at the
24 right? 24 time, did you have to sign a management
25 A Right. Butthisis through 25 representation letter similar to the one that
Page 136 Page 137
1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21
2 we looked at earlier for Highland? 2 Q. Okay. PricewaterhouseCoopers served
3 A. Iwould imagine | would have been 3 as HCMFA's outside auditors as well; correct?
4 askedto. I don'trecallif| did. 4 A, Yes.
5 Q. Do you recall ever being asked by an 5 Q. Do you see that this audit report is
6 auditor to sign a management representation 6 signed on June 3rd, 2019, just like the
7 letter and then not doing it? 7 Highland audit report?
8 A. No. 8 A Thatis comect.
9 MR. MORRIS: Can we just scroll down 9 Q. Anddid the process of - of
10 again. | just want to see the date of the 10 preparing HCMFA's audit report, was that the
1 document. 11 same process that Highland followed when it did
12 A Imean, let me - you know, there 12 its audit report at this time?
13 are different versions to management 13 A. I mean, itis a different entity.
14 representation letters | will qualify. 14 There are different assets. You know, it -
15 Yes, there are certain — from time 15 it—itis —as you saw, Highland's
16 to time auditors can make representations 16 financials are on a consolidated basis. This
17 that—in the rep letter that is being 17 is different, so it is under the same control
18 proposed that are inaccurate or out of scope or 18 environment and team.
19 things like that and they've asked for 19 Q. Okay. |appreciate that. Sothe
20 signature. 20 same control environment and team participated
21 In that context, yes. I mean, you 21 inthe preparation of the audit for Highland
22 know — I mean, if | have been asked to sign 22 and for HCMFA at around the same time; correct?
23 and make those representations and those 23 A Yes.
24 representations are invalid, yes, | would not, 24 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 17 of
25 Imean, | - wouldn't sign that. 25 the report. | don't have the Bates number.
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2 Q. Okay. Do you see thatjust like 2 Q. lapologize if | asked you this

3 Highland's audited financial report, HCMFA's 3 already, but has anybody ever told you at any

4 audited financial report also has a section 4 time that you are not authorized to sign the

5 related to subsequent events? 5 promissory notes that are the subject of the

6 A Yes. 6 sentence we're looking at?

7 Q. Andamlreading this correctly that 7 A Notthatl recall.

8 justas Highland had done, HCMFA disclosed in 8 Q. Didanybody ever tell you at any

9 its audited financial report a subsequent event 9 time that you had made a mistake when you

10 that related to the issuance of promissory 10 signed the promissory notes that are the

11 notes to Highland in the aggregate amount of 11 subject of this sentence?

12 $7.4 million in 20197 12 A Saythatagain. Did anyone ever say
13 A Thatis what| see in the report. 13 that| made a mistake?

14 Q. And you were the treasurer of HCMFA 14 Q. Let me ask the question again.

15 atthe time; right? 15 Did anybody ever tell you at any

16 A.  Yes, to the best of my knowledge. 16 time that you made a mistake when you signed
17 Q. And did anybody ever tell you prior 17 the two promissory notes in Highland's favor on
18 to the time of the issuance of this audit 18 behalf of HCMFA in 20197

19 report that that sentence relating to HCMFA's 19 A.  Notthat | recall.
20 2019 notes was inaccurate or wrong in any way? 20 MR.MORRIS: Let's just look at the
21 A.  Notthat | recall. 21 promissory notes quickly. Can we please
22 Q. Asyou sit here right now, has 22 put up Document Number 1, and so this is in
23 anybody ever told you that that sentence is 23 thepilethaty'all have. We'lljust go
24 inaccurate or wrong in any way? 24 for a few more minutes and we can take our
25 A. Notthat| recall. 25 lunch break.
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2 Q. Allright. Soldon'tknow if you 2 Q. Isthatyoursignature, sir?

3 have seen this before, sir. Do you see that 3 A Yes,itis.

4 this is a complaint against HCMFA? 4 Q. And did you sign this document on or

5 A.  Yes, | amlooking at it on the 5 around May 2nd, 20197

6 screen. 6 A Idon'trecall specifically signing

7 Q. Okay. And have you ever seen this 7 this, but this is my signature.

8 document before? 8 Q. Okay. And do you recall that

9 A Iwentthrough some of these 9 Highland transferred $2.4 million to HCMFA at
10 documents with my counsel here yesterday. 10 oraround the time you signed this document?
1" MR.MORRIS: Allright. Canwe go 1 A. I don'trecall specifically. |

12 to Exhibit 1 of this document. 12 would want to, as | sit here today, go back and
13 Q. Do you see Exhibit 1isa 13 confirm that, but again, presumably that -

14 $2.4 million promissory note back in 2019? 14 that — that did happen.

15 A Yeah, Ifounditin the book. Yes, 15 Q. Youwouldn't have signed this

16 Ihave it here in front of me. 16 document if you didn't believe that HCMFA

17 Q. Andthis is ademand note, right, if 17 either received or was going to receive

18 you look at Paragraph 27 18  $2.4 million from Highland; is that fair?

19 A. Yes. 19 A. Imean, it - if — if - if there
20 Q. And this is a note where the maker 20 wasn'ta transfer of value, yeah, | mean, you
21 isHCMFA, and Highland is the payee; right? 21 know, | would have no reason to — to sign a
22 A Yes. 22 note.
23 MR. MORRIS: And if we can scroll 23  Q And-and Highland wouldn't have
24 down, can we just see Mr. Waterhouse's 24 given this note to PricewaterhouseCoopers if -
25 signature. 25 withdrawn.
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2 HCMFA wouldn't have given this note 2 A Yes

3 to PricewaterhouseCoopers if it hadn't received 3 Q. Andifwe go to the bottom, can we

4 the principal value of — of the note in the 4 just confirm that that is your signature?

5 form of a loan; correct? 5 A Yes.

6 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal 6 Q. And together these notes are the

7 conclusion, speculation and form. 7 notes that are referred to both in Highland and
8  A. Again, we — what we provided to PwC 8 HCMFA's audited financial reports in the

9 were, as part of the audit, any promissory 9 subsequent event sections; correct?

10 notes executed and outstanding. You know, as a 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
11 part of the audit, they, you know, they - they 11 A.  They - they - they totaled

12 have copies of all the bank statements, 12 $7.4 million, so presumably, yes.

13 things — things of that sort. 13 Q. Okay. Andyou were authorized to

14 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Canwe goto 14 sign these two notes; correct?

15 Exhibit2. 15 MR. RUKAVINA: Objection, legal

16 (Exhibit 2 marked.) 16 conclusion.

17 Q. Do you see that this is a promissory 17 A. Yeah. Imean, 'm-|was the

18 note dated May 3rd, 2019 in the amount of 18 officer of — of HCMFA. You know, | - I'm not
19  $5 million? 19 the legal expert on — on what that — what
20 A Yes. 20 that confers to me or what it doesn't. I mean,
21 Q. Do you believe this is also a demand 21 thatis my signature on the notes.
22 note if you look at Paragraph 2? 22 Q. And you believed you were authorized
23 A Yes. 23 tosign the notes; is that fair?
24 Q. Anddo you see that HCMFA is the 24 A. |signed a lot of documents in my
25 maker, and Highland is the payee? 25 capacity, just because it is operational in
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2 nature. So, you know, to me this was just 2 form.

3 another document, to be perfectly honest. 3 A Youknow, from - from what | recall

4 Q. Sir, would you have signed 4 around these notes, you know, | don't recall

5 promissory notes with the principal amount of 5 specifically Mr. - Mr. Dondero saying to - to

6 $7.4 million if you didn't believe you were 6 make this aloan.

7 authorized to do so? 7 So my conversation with Mr. Dondero
8 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 8 around the culmination of the NAV error as

9 Q. Areyoufrozen? 9 related to TemeStar whichwasa-—-a -1

10 A. No. I'mjust-you know, itis - 10 think it was a year and a half process. |

11 you know, again, | typically don't sign 11 don't know, it was a multi-month process, very
12 promissory notes, and | don't recall why | 12 laborious, very difficult.

13 signed these, but - you know, but | did. 13 When we got to the end, I had a

14 Q. Allright. Solisten carefully to 14 conversation with Mr. Dondero on where to, you
15 my question. Would you have ever signed 15 know, basically get the funds to reimburse the
16 promissory notes with a face amount of 16 fund, and | recall him saying, get the money
17 $7.4 million without believing that you were 17 from Highland.

18 authorized to do so? 18 Q. Andso he told you to get the money
19 A No. Imean, I'm-I'm putting my 19 from Highland; is that right?
20 signature on there, so no. 20 A.  Thatis what I recall - in my
21 Q. Okay. And would you have signed two 21 conversation with him, that is - that is what
22 promissory notes obligating HCMFA to pay 22 |canrecall
23 Highland $7.4 milion without Mr. Dondero's 23 Q. Do you know who drafted these notes?
24 prior knowledge and approval? 24 A. ldon't.
25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 25 Q. Did you ask somebody to draft the
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2 notes? 2 would have been drafted by somebody in the

3 A ldidn'task - don't specifically 3 legal department?

4 ask people to draft notes really. | mean, 4 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
5 again, you know, the legal group at Highland is 5  form.

6 responsible and has always been responsible for 6 A Yes.

7 drafting promissory notes. 7 Q. Okay. And do you know who would

8 Q. Sobased on your - based on the 8 have instructed - do you have any knowledge as
9 practice, you believe that somebody from the 9 towho would have instructed the legal

10 Highland's legal department would have drafted 10 department to draft these notes?

11 these notes. Do | have that right? 11 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 12 form.

13 form. John, | also asked you for the Word 13 A Itwas whoever was working — |

14 versions of these notes so we could look at 14 mean, it was likely someone on the team. |

15 the properties, and you have not provided 15 mean, | don't remember exactly on every note or
16 them. Are you intending to? 16 every document, but, again, a lot of these

17 MR. MORRIS: No. 17 things of this nature — they're operational in

18 Q. Canyouanswer my question, sir? 18 nature — were handled by the team.

19 A, Again, | - 19 The team knows to - | mean, we
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Do you want him to 20 don'tdraft documents. We're not lawyers.
21 repeat it? 21 We're not attorneys. It is not what | do or
22 A.  Yeah, why don't you repeat it? 22 accountants do.
23 Q. Sure. Mr. Waterhouse, based on the 23 So they are always instructed to go
24 practice that you have described in your 24 and - and go to the legal team to get
25 understanding, do you believe that these notes 25 documents like this drafted. Also, when you go
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2 tothe legal team, the — you know, we always 2 corporate accounting group gave the two notes
3 loop in compliance. And compliance — when you 3 to PricewaterhouseCoopers in connection with
4 goto the legal team, compliance is part of 4 the audit; correct?

5 legal team. They're made aware of - of — of 5 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
6 these types of transactions. 6 A Yes. Imean,thatis-yeah,|

7 Q. And do you believe that you had 7 mean, they — unless the legal team can also

8 the - withdrawn. 8 retain copies of items like this. | mean, |

9 Did you ever tell Mr. Dondero — 9 don'tknow everything that they would retain as
10 (inaudible) - did you see those? 10 well.

1 A. Sory. 11 The legal team would also, if they

12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: | did not hear 12 had documents as part of audits, tum that over
13 the end of that question. 13 tothe auditors as well. So it could have been
14 Q. Didyou ever tell Mr. Dondero that 14 the corporate accounting team. It could be

15 you signed these two notes? 15 someone on the legal team.

16 A. Idon'trecall ever-no, | don't 16 Q. Allright. So you didn't-you

17 recall having a conversation with him. 17 didn't draft this note; right?

18 Q. Did you ever discuss these two notes 18 A, |-I-Idid not.

19  with him at any time? 19 Q. Butsomebody at Highland did; is
20 A. The conversation, | recall, was what 20 thatfair?
21 | described earlier. And thatis the only time 21 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
22 |recall ever discussing this. 22 form.
23 Q. Okay. Butthe corporate accounting 23 A. Idon'tknow. | mean, we cangoto
24 group had a copy of this - of these two notes. 24 the legal team. | don't—-I'm not sitting
25 And pursuant to the audit process, the 25 behind someone in legal. Maybe they went to
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2 outside counsel. | have noidea. 2 VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the
3 Q. Did you have any reason to believe 3 record at 1:49 p.m.

4 you weren't authorized to sign this note, 4 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, did you speak with

5 either of these two notes? 5 anybody during the break about the substance of
6 A. Ithink | have already answered that 6 this deposition?

7 question. 7 A. | spoke to - to Deb and Michelle.

8 Q. Okay. Youdidn'tgive these notes 8 Q. Aboutthe substance of the

9 to PricewaterhouseCoopers; correct? 9 deposition?

10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 10 A Yes

1 A. | don'trecall giving these to 1 Q. Canyou tell me what you talked

12 PricewaterhouseCoopers. 12 about?

13 Q. Andin the practice that you have 13 MS. DANDENEAU: No. We object on
14 described, somebody in the corporate accounting 14 the basis of privilege.

15 group would have given these two notes to 15 Q. Okay. You are going to follow your

16 PricewaterhouseCoopers; correct? 16 counsel's objection here?

17 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 17 A Yes.

18  A. Ithink I've answered that. | said 18 Q. Okay.

19 either the corporate accounting team or maybe 19 MR. MORRIS: Can we put up on the
20 thelegal team. 20 screen Exhibit 35.
21 MR. MORRIS: Okay. Why don't we 21 (Exhibit 35 marked.)
22 take our lunch break here. 22 Q. Areyou able to see that document,
23 VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the 23 sir?
24 record at 1:04 p.m. 24 A Yes.
25 (Recess taken 1:04 p.m. to 1:49 p.m.) 25  Q Have you ever seen an incumbency

Page 152 Page 153

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 certificate before? 2 A. Again, 'm not the legal - | don't

3 A, lhave. 3 know if this makes me the treasurer or the

4 Q. Do you have ageneral understanding 4 appointment. |don't know — I don't know

5 of whatan incumbency certificate is? 5 that, soldon't—1don't know if that

6 A [Ihaveageneral understanding. 6 document —-again, | think — again, I'm not

7 Q. Whatis your general understanding? 7 thelegal expert. |thinkisn'tthere —

8 A. You know, those — my general 8 aren'tthere other legal documents that detail

9 understanding is that the incumbency 9 who the officers are that could be incorporated
10 certificate basically lists folks that can - 10 orthings like that? Again, | don't want to

11 are like authorized signers. 11 play armchair attomey here.

12 Q. Okay. And do you see that this is 12 Q. I'mnot asking you for a legal

13 anincumbency certificate for Highland Capital 13 conclusion. I'm asking you for your knowledge
14 Management Fund Advisors, L.P.? 14 and understanding. When you signed this

15 A Yes. 15 document, did you understand that you were
16 Q. Okay. And if we could scroll down 16 accepting an appointment as the treasurer of
17 just a little bit, do you see that it's dated 17 HCMFA?

18 effective as of April 11th, 20197 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
19 A. Yes,|seethat. 19 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection, form.
20 Q. Okay. And is that your signature in 20 A.  Again, | don't think this — that
21 the middle of the signature block? 21 wasn't my understanding. | don't think this
22 A Yes,itis. 22 makes - this document makes me the treasurer.
23 Q Andbysigning it did you accept 23 Q. What do you think this document -
24 appointment as the treasurer of HCMFA effective 24 why did you sign this document?
25 asof April 11th, 2019? 25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to
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2 form. 2 Q. Did anybody tell you why they needed
3 MR.MORRIS: You're objecting to the 3 you to sign the document?

4 form of the question when | asked him why 4 A Notthatlcanrecall.

5  did you sign the document? What s the 5 Q. Youtestified earlier that you

6 basis for the objection? 6 understood that you served as the acting

7 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Because, John, | 7 treasurer for HCMFA; correct?

8  thinkthat it does call for a legal 8 A Yes.

9 conclusion other than - with him saying 9 Q. How did you become the acting

10 because somebody told me to sign this 10 treasurer of HCMFA?

11 document. But if you want to go there, 11 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
12 that is fine. 12 A. Idon't-1don't know the legal -

13 MR. MORRIS: Okay. 13 1 don't know the legal mechanic of how | became
14 MS. DANDENEAU: | don't think —- 14 the acting treasurer.

15 he's already said he's not a lawyer. 15 Q. I'mnotasking for the legal

16 MR. MORRIS: [l allow the witness 16 mechanic. I'm asking you as the person who
17 to answer this question. 17 is--

18 Q. Whydid you sign this document, sir? 18 MS. DANDENEAU: John, you said —
19 A.  I'mean, our - our legal group would 19 MR. MORRIS: Stop.
20 bring by these incumbency certificates from 20 MS. DANDENEAU: - how did you
21 timetotime. |have no idea why they're being 21 become the treasurer. Thatis —
22 updated, and | was asked to sign. 22 MR. MORRIS: Please stop.
23 Q. Did you ask anybody, what is this 23 MS. DANDENEAU: Thatis a legal
24 document? 24 question.
25 A No 25 MR.MORRIS: | am not asking any
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2 legal questions, to be clear. I'm asking 2 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection.

3 forthis witness' understanding as to how 3 MR. MORRIS: - withdrawn. You guys

4 he became the acting treasurer of HCMFA. 4 wanttodothis, | can'twait. |can't

5 If he doesn't know, he can say he doesn't 5 wait. Thisis the craziest stuff ever.

6 know, but this legal stuff is nonsense, and 6 MS. DANDENEAU: John, he said he's

7 | really object to it. 7 notalawyer, and you are asking him for a

8 Q. Sir, I'm asking you a very simple 8 legal conclusion, and he says he doesn't

9 question. 9 know, and you persist.

10 MS. DANDENEAU: Argumentative. 10 MR. MORRIS: Okay.

1 Q. You testified - you testified that 1" MS. DANDENEAU: So you can ask these
12 you became the acting treasurer of HCM — 12 questions -

13 HCMFA, correct? 13 MR. MORRIS: Did anyone - please

14 A Yes. 14 stop talking.

15 Q. How did that happen? 15 MS. DANDENEAU: - at another

16 MS. DANDENEAU: Again, object to 16 point - no, no, no, I'm entitled to talk,

17 form. 17 too; right? If you're going to make these

18 MR. MORRIS: | can't wait to do this 18 accusations as if we're trying to stonewall

19 in a courtroom. Good God. 19 you, this is not the witness to ask that
20 Q. Goahead, sir. 20 question.
21 A. | don't know the exact process of 21 MR.MORRIS: |can't—1Ican't
22 how that happened. 22 wait—1|can'twaitto dothisina
23 Q. Do you have any idea whether signing 23 courtroom. |will justleave it at that.
24 this document was part of the process? 24 MS. DANDENEAU: That's right, I'm
25 MR. MORRIS: You know what - 25 sure you can't.
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2 Q. Did anyone ever tell you, sir, that 2 A. Notthat| recall.
3 even though you were the acting treasurer of 3 Q. Did you ever tell anybody at any
4 HCMFA, that you were not authorized to sign the 4 time that you weren't authorized to sign the
5 two promissory notes that we looked at before 5 two promissory notes that we looked at before
6 lunch? 6 lunch?
7 A.  I'mnot sure | understand the 7 A.  Notthat | recall.
8 question. |wasn't—Imean, I'm-Imthe 8 Q. Didyou ever tell anybody at any
9 cument acting treasurer. 9 time that you made a mistake when you signed
10 Q. Didanybody ever tell you at any 10 the two promissory notes that we looked at
11 time that even though you were the acting 11 before lunch?
12 treasurer of HCMFA, that you were not 12 A Notthatlrecall.
13 authorized to sign the two promissory notes 13 Q. Asyou sit here right now, do you
14 that we looked at before lunch? 14 have any reason to believe that you were not
15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 15 authorized to sign the two documents that we
16 A, Notthat | recall. 16 looked at before lunch?
17 Q. Didanybody ever tell you at any 17 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
18 time that you were not authorized to sign the 18 A [f-ifthisis the —the valid
19 two promissory notes that we looked at before 19 incumbency certificate, | mean, this does --
20 lunch? 20 this does detail who the signers are.
21 A, Notthat I recall. 21 Q. Okay. And looking at that document,
22 Q. Did anybody ever tell you at any 22 does that give you comfort that you were
23 time that you should not have signed the two 23 authorized to sign the two promissory notes
24 promissory notes that we looked at before 24 that we looked at before lunch?
25 lunch? 25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
Page 160 Page 161
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2 form. 2 A.  Notthat I'm aware, no.
3 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection, form. 3 Q. Didyou have any reason to believe a
4 A Yes. 4 year ago that you made a mistake when you
5 Q. As of October 20th — withdrawn. 5 signed those two notes?
6 I'm trying to take your mind back to 6 A.  Notthat I'm aware.
7 ayearago, October 2020. Do you recall at 7 Q. Avyearago you believed that HCMFA
8 that time that the boards of the retail funds 8 owed Highland the unpaid principal amounts that
9 were making inquiries about obligations that 9 were due under those two notes; correct?
10 were owed by the advisors to Highland in 10 A.  They're — they're promissory notes
11 connection with their 15(c) review? 11 that were — as you presented, that were —
12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 12 that were executed. Whether they're valid or
13 A. ldon't-Idon'trecall 13 ifthere's other reasons, | didn't - | don't
14 Q. As of October 2020, you had no 14 know.
15 reason to believe you weren't authorized to 15 Q. I'mnotasking you whether they're
16 sign the two promissory notes that we just 16 valid or not. I'm asking you for your state of
17 looked at; correct? 17 mind. A year ago you believed that HCMFA
18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection, form. 18 was —was obligated to pay the unpaid
19 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 19 principal amount under the two notes that you
20 form. 20 signed; correct?
21 A. |didn't think about it in October 21 A. Yeah,I'm-I'm--yes.
22 0of 2020, but I mean - 22 Q. Thankyou. Are you aware -- you're
23 Q. Did you have any reason to believe 23 aware that - thatin 2017, NexPoint issued a
24 atthat ime that you weren't authorized to 24 note in favor of Highland in the approximate
25 sign the two notes that we just looked at? 25 amount of $30 million; correct?
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2 A I'm-I'm-I'mgenerally aware. 2 Q. Sometimein2021?
3 Q. Okay. And are you generally aware 3 A Yes.
4 that from time to time, after the note was 4 Q. Do you remember what payment he was
5 issued by NexPoint, that moneys were applied to 5 referring to?
6 principal and interest that were due under the 6 A. Itwas the - the payment made in
7 NexPoint note? 7 January of 2021 or - yeah, January of - of
8 A. Yes, I'm generally aware. 8 this — January of 2021.
9 Q. Okay. Anddid anybody ever tell you 9 Q. Okay. Sodidanybody ever tell you
10 that the payments that were made against the 10 atany time that any payment that was made
11 NexPoint notes were made by mistake? 11 against principal -
12 A Yes. 12 A. And-and-and -hold on, and it
13 Q. Andisitthe one payment that we 13 may have been other — again, it may have been
14 talked about earlier today? 14 that payment or - or there may have been what
15 A. We talked about a lot of things 15 he was explaining, a misapplication of prior
16 today. What payment are we talking about? 16 payments as well.
17 Q. Okay. Who told you that any payment 17 Q. Canyou - canyou give me any
18 made against the NexPoint note was made by 18 specificity — withdrawn.
19 mistake? 19 Withdrawn. Can you tell me
20 A D.C. Sauter. 20 everything that Mr. Sauter told you about -
21 Q. When did Mr. Sauter tell you that? 21 about errors in relation to payments made
22 A. Idon't—Idon't remember 22 against principal and interest due under the
23 specifically. 23 NexPoint note?
24 Q. Do you remember what payments -- 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Can | just -
25 A.  Sometime - sometime this year. 25 MR. RUKAVINA: Hold on. Hold on.
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2 I'm going to object here, and I'm going to 2 Highland's employment, or did it happen after
3 instruct the witness not to answer 3 you left Highland's employment?
4 depending on the discussion that you had - 4 A ldon't-Idon'trecallif-1
5 Mr. Waterhouse, I'm the lawyer for 5 don'trecall. | mean, it was sometime in 2021.
6 NexPoint, and as everyone here knows, D.C. 6 |don'tremember if it was before or after |
7 Sauter is in-house counsel. 7 was let go from Highland.
8 So if you and Mr. Sauter were having 8 Q. Okay. So--so nobody told you
9 afactual discussion and him preparing his 9 prior to 2021 that any error or mistake was
10 affidavit, et cetera, then go ahead and 10 made in the application of payments against
1 answer that. But if you were having a 11 principal and interest due on the NexPoint
12 discussion as to our legal strategy in this 12 note. Dol have that right?
13 lawsuit, or anything having to do with 13 A.  Yeah, I don't—1don't recall this
14 that, then do not answer that. 14 being in 2020.
15 And if you need to talk to either 15 Q. Okay. And itdidn'thappenin 2019;
16 your counsel or me about that, then we need 16 correct?
17 to have that discussion now. 17 A. | don'trecall that happened.
18 A Okay. Yeah,ldon't—Idon't 18 Q. Anditdidn't happen in 2018;
19 really know how to make that distinction, so 19 cormect?
20 maybe | need to talk to counsel before | 20 A. Idon't—Idon'trecall that
21 answer, or if | can answer. 21 happening.
22 Q. Letme justask you this question: 22 Q. Anditdidn't happenin 2017;
23 Did - did you have any conversation with 23 correct?
24 Mr. Sauter about any payment of principal and 24 A, Idon'trecall.
25 interest prior to the time that you left 25 Q. But-butyou believe the
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2 conversation took place in 2021. You just 2 Q. Did you tell any of the employees at

3 don'tremember if it was before or after you 3 Highland before you left Highland's employment
4 left Highland's employment. Do | have that 4 about this call that you had with Mr. Sauter?

5 right? 5 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
6 A.  ltwas sometime this year. | 6 A.  No, I don't-no, | don't recall.

7 don't—1don'tremember. 7 Q. NexPoint - to the best of your

8 Q. Okay. Did you report this 8 knowledge, did NexPoint ever file a proof of

9 conversation to Mr. Seery at any point? 9 claim against Highland to try to recover moneys
10 A. I don't believe so. 10 that were mistakenly paid against the principal
11 Q. Did you report this conversation to 11 and interest due under the note?

12 anybody at DSI at any time? 12 A Okay. Hold on. You are saying did
13 A. Idon'trecall 13 NexPoint Advisors file a proof of claim to

14 Q. Do you have —you don'thave a 14 Highland for errors related to payments under
15 recollection of ever doing that; correct? 15 the NexPoint note to Highland?

16 A Yeah, that'sright. | don'trecall 16 Q. Correct.

17 doing that. 17 A I'm-I'm-Imnot-I'mnot

18 Q. Doyou recall teling anybody at 18 aware.

19 Pachulski Stang about the conversation you 19 Q. Areyouaware -
20 recall with Mr. Sauter? 20 A I'mnotthe legal person here, |
21 A. No, | don't—1don't recall. 21 don't know.
22 Q. Did you tell any of the independent 22 Q. I'mjustasking for your knowledge,
23 board members about your conversation with 23 sir.
24 Mr. Sauter? 24 A. Yeah, | don'tknow. I'm not aware.
25 A ldon'trecall 25 Q. Areyouaware of any claim of any
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2 kind that NexPoint has ever made to try to 2 the same time each year?

3 recover the amounts that it contends were — or 3 A. Yes,itis—itis around the same

4 that Mr. Sauter contend were mistakenly applied 4 time every year.

5 against principal and interest due under the 5 Q. And what —what time period of the

6 NexPoint note? 6 year does the renewal process occur?

7 A, I'mnot aware. 7 A.  Approximately the September

8 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 8 timeframe.

9 Q. Okay. The advisors' agreements with 9 Q. During that process, in your

10 the retail funds are subject to annual renewal; 10 experience, does the board typically conduct
11 corect? 11 its own diligence and ask for information?

12 A Yes. 12 A Does the board ask for lots of - |

13 Q. Anddo you participate in the 13 mean, just - I mean, lots of information as a
14 renewal process each year? 14 part of that - that - as part of that board

15 A Yes. 15 meeting and that process.

16 Q. Whatrole do you play in the renewal 16 Q. Okay. Anddo you recall that the

17 process? 17 process in 2020 spilled into October?

18 A.  I'm-1I'm asked by the retail board 18 A, Yes. Yes.

19 to walk-through the advisors financials. 19 Q. Okay. And as part of the process in
20 Q. Anddo you do that in the context of 20 2020, the retail board asked — asked what are
21 aboard meeting? 21 referred to as 15(c) questions; right?
22 A Yes,itis—-yes,itis typically 22 A lguess|don'twanttobe —-they
23 donein aboard meeting. 23 asked 15(c) - are you saying they asked 15(c)
24 Q. Anddo you recall the time — 24 questions and this is why it went into October
25 does - does the renewal process happen around 25 or—
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2 Q. No, lapologize. 2 up-keepgoing justa little bit.
3 Do you have an understanding of 3 Q. You will see that there is an email
4 what - of what 15(c) refers to in the context 4 from Lauren Thedford to Thomas Surgent and
5 ofthe annual renewal process? 5 others where she reports that she was attaching
6 A Yes,generall. 6 and reproducing below additional 15(c)
7 Q. Allright. Whatis your general 7 follow-up questions from the board.
8 understanding of the term "15(c)" in the 8 Do you see that?
9 context of the annual renewal process? 9 A Yes.
10 A [-1think 15(c)is the section 10  Q Anddoyou see Question No. 2 asks
11 that - that — you know, that — that the 11 whether there are any material outstanding
12 board has to evaluate every year, the retail 12 amounts currently payable or due in the future
13 board. They have to, you know, go through, 13 (e.g., notes) to HCMLP by HCMFA or NexPoint
14 evaluate, and go through that approval process 14 Advisors or any other affiliate that provides
15 onayearly basis. 15 services to the funds?
16 Q. Okay. 16 Do you see that?
17 MR. MORRIS: Can we put up onthe 17 A Yes.
18  screen Exhibit 36, please. 18 Q. And-and did you — do you recall
19 (Exhibit 36 marked.) 19 thatin —in October of 2020 the retail boards
20 MR.MORRIS: |guess let's just 20 were asking for that information?
21 start at the bottom so Mr. Waterhouse can 21 A. ldon'trecallit, but there -
22 see what is here. 22 they're obviously asking in this email.
23 Q. Yousee this begins with an email 23 Q. Okay.
24 from Blank Rome to a number of people. 24 MR. MORRIS: Can we scroll up a
25 MR. MORRIS: And if we can scroll 25 little bit, please.
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2 Q. And then do you see that 2 funds as we defined that term?
3 Ms. Thedford includes you on the emaill string 3 A Yes.
4 on Tuesday, October 6th, at 5:527? 4 Q. Whatis your understanding of the
5 A Yes. 5 positions that Ms. Thedford held at the retail
6 Q. And she asks you and Dave Klos and 6 funds?
7 Kiistin Hendrix for advice on that particular 7 A. I-Irecall her being an officer.
8 Request No. 2 that | have just read; right? 8 Idon'trecall her title.
9 A Yes 9 Q. Okay. Isshe still an officer at
10 Q. Okay. Canyou tell me who 10 any of the retail funds today?
11 Ms. Thedford is? 1 A. No.
12 A Shewasan attomey that was in the 12 Q. Do you know when she ceased to be an
13 legal group. 13 officer of the retail funds?
14 Q. AtHighland Capital Management, 14 A Approximately.
15 LP.? 15 Q. Andwhen did she approximately cease
16 A I'm-=I'm-I'm-Idon' 16 to be an officer of the retail funds?
17 remember if she was an employee of Highland or 17 A ltwasin—itwasin early of
18 any of the advisors. 18 2021.
19 Q. Okay. Do you know if she served as 19 Q. Okay. Do you know when she became
20 the corporate secretary for both HCMFA and 20 an officer of the retail funds?
21 NexPoint? 21 A. Idon'trecall.
22 A Yes. 22 Q. Tothe best of your recollection,
23 Q. And--okay. 23 was she an officer of the retail funds in
24 Do you know whether Ms. Thedford 24 October of 20207
25 held any positions in relation to the retail 25 A. Ibelieve so.
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2 Q. Okay. Do you know what title she 2 refer her to the balance sheet that was

3 held in her capacity as an officer, if any? 3 provided to the board as part of the 15(c)

4 A. Itold you | don't remember. 4 materials.

5 Q. Okay. Soshe sends this email to 5 Do you see that?

6 you at5:52 p.m. on October 6th. 6 A Yes.

7 And if we can scroll up to the 7 Q. And--and did the advisors provide

8 response, you responded a minute later with a 8 tothe board certain balance sheets in 2020 in
9 one-word answer: Yes. 9 connection with the 15(c) review?

10 Do you see that? 10 A Yes, theydid.

1 A Yes. 1 Q. Okay. And were the amounts that
12 Q. And-andyesis-yeswasin 12 were outstanding or that were to be due in the
13 response to the retail board's Question No. 2, 13 future by the advisors to Highland included in
14 right, whether there are any material 14 the liability section of the balance sheet that
15 outstanding amounts currently payable or due in 15 was given to the retail board?

16 the future? 16 A, Yes. Notes would be reflected as

17 A Yes. 17 liabilities.

18 MR. MORRIS: And can we scroll up to 18 Q. Okay. And -

19 see what happened next. 19 A.  IfI'm understanding your question
20 Q. SoMs. Thedford writes back to you a 20 correctly.
21 few minutes later and she asks whether you 21 Q. Youare. And—and —-and those
22 could provide the amounts. 22 liabilities you - you were — you believed
23 Do you see that? 23 were responsive to the retail board's question;
24 A Yes. 24 correct?
25 Q. And then you respond further and you 25 A Yes.
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2 Q. Okay. And then if we can scroll up, 2 questions?

3 you see Ms. Thedford responds to you 3 Q. Yes.

4 nine minutes later with a draft response. 4 A, Yes.

5 Do you see that? 5 Q. Thankyou.

6 A Yes 6 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: John, it is not
7 Q. And she says that she is taking from 7 in the chat yet. Can you just make sure it
8 the 6/30 financials certain information about 8  getsputinthere.

9 amounts that were due to HCMLP and affiliates 9 MR.MORRIS: Sure.

10 as of June 30th, 2020. 10 MS. CANTY: | putitin there. |

1 Do you see that? 1 think maybe | just sent it directly, so let

12 A ldo. 12 me make sure it says to everyone. Buit|
13 Q. Okay. And did you believe, as the 13 did put itin there. | will try again.

14 treasurer of NexPoint and HCMFA and as the CFO 14 MR. MORRIS: Thank you, La Asia.
15 of Highland, that the information that 15 MS. DANDENEAU: What numberis it.
16 Ms. Thedford obtained from the 6/30 financials 16 MR. MORRIS: What, the Bates number?
17 was accurate and responsive in relation to the 17 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: No, the -

18 retail fund board's question? 18 this - yeah, 36 is not in the chat.

19 A. Ijustwantto make sure | 19 MR.MORRIS: Okay. We'll get it.
20 understand the question. 20 MS. DANDENEAU: | think that
21 Are you saying that the financial 21 Ms. Canty just sent it to me originally.
22 information provided to the retail board as 22 Sorry.
23 part of the 15(c) process, which included 23 MR. MORRIS: Okay. We will get it
24 financial statements as of June 30th of 2021, 24 there.
25 did | feel like those were responsive to their 25 MS. CANTY: Okay. ltis there now
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2 foreveryone. 2 Did - do you know if anybody ever

3 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Gotit. Thank 3 answered the retail board's question that was

4 you. 4 Number 2?

5 Q. Do you recall if the proposed 5 A. ldon't—1can'tsay for sure.

6 response that Ms. Thedford crafted was 6 Q. Okay. Do you recall - | think you

7 delivered to the retail board with the - with 7 testified earlier that you walked through the

8 the yellow dates having been completed? 8 advisors' financials with the retail board;

9 A Idon'tknow. 9 cormect?

10 MR. MORRIS: Davor, I'm going to ask 10 A Yes

1 that the advisors and — the advisors of 1 Q. And as part of that process, did you

12 both HCMFA and NexPoint produce to me any 12 disclose to the retail board the obligations

13 report that was given to the retail board 13 that NexPoint and HCMFA had to Highland under
14 conceming the promissory notes at issue, 14 promissory notes?

15 including the obligations under the notes. 15 A Theretail board, as | stated

16 Q. Do you know - do you know if 16 earlier, receives financial information,

17 ultimately NexPoint informed the retail board 17 balance sheet, income statement information
18 inresponse o its question that NexPoint owed 18 from the advisors. That information is

19 Highland approximately 23 or $24 million? 19 provided to the retail board in connection with
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to the 20 the 15(c) process.
21 form. 21 So any notes between the advisors
22 A.  Sorry, are you asking, did NexPoint 22 and the Highland would be — anything would be
23 tell the retail board that it owed Highland? 23 detailed in those financial statements.
24 Q. Letme ask a better question, 24 Q. Do you recall in 2020 ever speaking
25 Mr. Waterhouse. 25 with the retail board about the advisors'
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2 obligations under the notes to Highland? 2 behalf of HCMFA ever told the retail boards

3 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 3 that you weren't authorized to sign either of

4 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 4 the two 2019 notes?

5  form. 5 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
6 A. I don't recall specifically. 6 A, I'mnotaware.

7 Q. Do you have any general recollection 7 Q. Areyou aware of anybody on behalf

8 of discussing with the retail board the 8 of HCMFA ever telling the retail boards that

9 advisors' obligations to Highland under the 9 your execution of the two 2019 notes was a

10 notes that they issued? 10 mistake?

1 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form. 11 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 12 A I'mnotaware.

13 form. 13 Q. Are you aware of anybody on behalf
14 A ljustrecall generally just - it 14 of HCMFA ever teliing the retail boards that

15 isjust - | present the financial statements, 15 HCMFA did not have to pay the amounts reflected
16 and if they have questions, | answer their 16 in the two notes that you signed in 20197

17 questions and walk them through. 17 A. I'mnotaware.

18 | don't recall what they asked. | 18 Q. Do you know whether anybody ever
19 don't recall where the discussion went. | 19 told the retail boards - withdrawn.
20 don't recall anything of that nature. 20 Do you know whether anybody ever
21 Q. Okay. Do you know if anybody on 21 told the retail boards that Highland has
22 behalf of HCMF — HCMFA ever told the retail 22 commenced a lawsuit to recover on the two notes
23 board that HCMFA had no obligations under the 23 that you signed in 20197
24 two 2019 notes that you signed? Withdrawn. 24 A I'mnotaware.
25 Do you know whether anybody on 25 Q. Are you aware of anybody informing
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2 the retail boards that Highland has sued to 2 Q. Okay. And do you see that Dustin

3 recover on the NexPoint note? 3 Norris is copied on this email?

4 A, I'mnotaware. 4 A. Yes heis.

5 Q. Do you know whether anybody ever 5 Q. Great. Do you know whether

6 told the retail board that Highland had 6 Mr. Norris held any positions at either of the

7 declared a default with respect to the two 7 advisors as of October 6, 20207

8 HCMFA notes that you signed in 20197 8 A. I willgo back to - I'm not the

9 A. I'mnot aware. 9 legal expert of what appoints you or how or

10 Q. Areyou aware of anybody ever 10 why, but you did see Dustin's name on the

11 informing the retail boards that Highland had 11 incumbency certificate that you produced

12 declared a default under the NexPoint note? 12 earlier.

13 A I'mnotaware. 13 Q. Do youknow what his itle was in

14 Q. Are you aware of anybody telling the 14 October of 20207

15 retail board that Highland made a demand for 15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
16 payment under the 2019 notes that you signed on 16 A. Idon't—Idon'trecall.

17 behalf of HCMFA? 17 Q. Was he —-did he have a tile with

18 A I'mnotaware. 18 each of the advisors, to the best of your

19 Q. Lets—letsseeifthereisa 19 recollection?
20 response to Ms. Thedford's email, if we can 20 A. Idon'trecall.
21 scroll up. 21 Q. Do you know why he is included on
22 Do you see you responded to 22 this email string?
23 Ms. Thedford five minutes after she provided 23 A. Ididn'tadd Dustin. It looks like
24 the draft response to you? 24 Laurendid. |don'tknow why she added him or
25 A Yes. 25 not. You would have to ask her.

Page 184 Page 185

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 Q. Does Mr. Norris play a role in 2 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
3 formulating the advisors' responses to the 3 A.  That would be Jason as well.

4 questions asked by the retail board in 4 Q. Okay. Now, looking at your

5 connection with the 15(c) annual review? 5 response, you noted initially that nothing was

6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 6 owed under shared services. Do | have that

7 A.  He - Dustin Norris is there in the 7 rightin substance?

8 board meetings. But—so he has arole, yes. 8 A. Yeah. |think I'm being responsive

9 Q. Okay. And does Mr. Norris hold any 9 toLauren's question here, whether any of the
10 positions, to the best of your knowledge, in 10 shared service invoices are outstanding.

11 relation to any of the retail funds? 1" Q. Right.

12 A. ldon't—1don'tbelieve he does. 12 A Yes.

13 Q. How about Mr. Post, do you know 13 Q. Andthatis because - and thatis

14 whether Mr. Post holds any position in either 14 because the retail the retail board has asked
15 ofthe advisors? 15 for the disclosure of all material obligations

16 A Imean, he-he-yes. 16 that were owed to HCMLP either then or in the
17 Q. Whatis your understanding of the 17 future; isn't that right?

18 positions that Mr. Post holds in relation to 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
19 the advisors? 19 Q. Wecango back down and look.
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 A. Look, | don't know if that's a
21 A.  Heis an employee of NexPoint 21 material item, | mean, again, but sure.
22 Advisors. He is also the chief compliance 22 Q. Okay. Butthere were no shared
23 officer for - for NexPoint. 23 services outstanding; correct?
24 Q. Who s the chief compliance officer 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
25 for HCMFA, if you know? 25 A. Thatis what this email seems to
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2 indicate. 2 financials about Highland's agreement not to
3 Q. And you wouldn't have written it if 3 make demand upon HCMFA until May 2021; correct?
4 you didn't believe it to be true at the time; 4 A. Corect.
5 correct? 5 Q. Andthen-and then the next thing
6 A. Correct. 6 you write is that the attoreys think that BK
7 Q. Andwhen you referred to shared 7 doesn't change that, but don't know for sure at
8 services outstanding, what you meant there was 8 the end of the day.
9 that neither NexPoint nor HCMFA owed Highland 9 Do you see that sentence?
10 any money under the shared services agreements 10 A Yes.
11 that they had with Highland as of October 6th, 1 Q. Which attorneys were you referring
12 2020; right? 12 to?
13 A. ldon'tknow ifitis as of October 13 A. ldon'tremember.
14 6, 2020 orif it was from - like through the 14 Q. Did you have a conversation with
15 financials - through the date of the 15 attoreys conceming whether the bankruptcy
16 financials as of June 30. 16 would change or alter in any way the agreement
17 Q. Okay. And then you noted that 17 not to make a demand under the HCMFA note?
18 HCMA - the HCMFA note is a demand note; right? 18 A Look, yeah, | mean, | don't
19 A Yes. 19 specifically remember, but generally, | mean,
20 Q. Andthen you referred Ms. Thedford 20 itisinthis email. 1don't—1don't—|
21 to Kristin Hendrix for the term of the NexPoint 21 don't—Idon't remember who | talked to or,
22 note. Do | have that right? 22 you know, was it inside counsel, outside
23 A, Yes. 23 counsel, but obviously | talked to somebody.
24 Q. And then you refer to that agreement 24 Q. Do you have any recollection -
25 thatis referenced in the 2018 audited 25 A Well, Idon'teven know if it's -
Page 188 Page 189
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2 actually, it may not even have been me. | say 2 process didn't change the agreement?
3 the attomeys in, you know, a lot of - like | 3 A. Idon'trecall.
4 talked about the team. 4 Q. Okay. Perfect.
5 It could have been someone on the 5 And then let's look at the last
6 team, like, hey, we need to run this down, and 6 sentence. Itsays, quote: The response should
7 maybe they talked to attomeys again and 7 include, as | covered in the board meeting,
8 relayed that information to me. 8 that both entities have the full faith and
9 So | really don't know if | spoke or 9 backing from Jim Dondero, and to my knowledge
10 someone else did or - or, | mean, and maybe it 10 that hasn't changed.
11 wasn't even from corporate accounting. Maybe 1 Do you see that?
12 itwas, you know, other — I'm kind of 12 A Yes.
13 summarizing, you know, again, so | don't really 13 Q. Okay. Prior to October 6th, 2020,
14 know - | can't really say for sure. | don't 14 had you told the retail board that HCMFA and
15 remember how | came about of this knowledge. 15 NexPoint have the full faith and backing from
16 Q. |appreciate your efforts, 16 Jim Dondero?
17 Mr. Waterhouse, but | will just tell you that 17 A Yes
18 if  ask a question and you don't know the 18 Q. Do you remember in the context in
19 answer or you don't recall, 'm happy to accept 19 which you told the retail board that?
20 that. ldon't—Idon'twantyou to 20 A. I mean, generally, yes.
21 speculate, so | want to be clear about that. 21 Q. Tellme what you recall.
22 So | appreciate it. 22 A Sowe were walking through the
23 Let me just ask you simply: Do you 23 financials from the advisors; right? Soas |
24 know what attorneys - can you identify any of 24 described to you, you have got HCMFA and NPA.
25 the attomeys who thought that the bankruptcy 25 And these - the financials, you know, show
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2 they have liabilities on them that exceed 2 refail board that the advisors had the full
3 assets. 3 faith and backing of Mr. — Mr. Dondero?
4 So the retail board has asked, okay, 4 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
5 you know, how — you know, if — if these 5 form.
6 liabilities come due or they're payable, you 6 A. I don'trecall discussing that with
7 know, how does that come about? 7 him at the time.
8 And, you know, the response is, 8 Q. When you told this to the board, was
9 well, the advisors have the - the full faith 9 Mr. Dondero participating in the discussion?
10 and backing from — from Jim Dondero. 10  A. Notthatlrecall.
1 Q. And how did you know that the 11 Q. Withdrawn. Was it not - withdrawn.
12 advisors had the full faith and backing from 12 Do you recall whether - when you
13 Jim Dondero? What was the basis for that 13 covered this issue with the board, was that in
14 statement that you made to the retail board? 14 a-aZoom call or a Webex call? Wasita
15 A ltalked to Jim about it at some 15 telephone call? Was itin-person? Like where
16 pointin the past. 16 were you physically in relation to the board?
17 Q. And did you tell Mr. Dondero that 17 A. Ibelieve | was at home.
18 you were going to inform the retail board that 18 Q. Okay. Can you identify every person
19 the advisors had his full faith and backing 19 that you recall who was present for this
20 before you actually told that to the retail 20 disclosure other than — other than the board
21 board? 21 members themselves?
22 A ldon'trecall having that 22 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
23 conversation. 23 form.
24 Q. Do you recall if you ever informed 24 A. | don'trecall everyone on the call.
25 Mr. Dondero that you had disclosed or told the 25  Q Canyou identify anybody who was on
Page 192 Page 193
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2 thecall? 2 Q. Okay. Do you know if either of them
3 A Otherthan the board members? 3 have a position with the retail board — with
4 Q. Yes. 4 the retail funds?
5 A. Lauren Thedford. | mean, there 5 A. ldon'tbelieve Mr. Norris has a
6 are - there are many - my section is just one 6 position with the retail funds.
7 of many sections that are just — you know, as 7 Q. Allright. What about Mr. Post?
8 you can appreciate, this is a long board 8 A.  Mr. Postis the CCO of the advisors.
9 meeting. 9 Q. Okay. Does he hold any position -
10 | can't recall specifically, really 10 A. |don't believe so.
11 even generally, or who was on when this was 11 Q. - with the retail funds?
12 discussed. ButLauren was typically on for the 12 A. ldon'tbelieve so.
13 entire time. 13 Q. Okay.
14 Q. lapologize if | asked you this, but 14 A Idon'tknow if being the CCO for
15 do either of Mr. Norris or Mr. Post hold any 15 the advisor conveys something for the retall
16 positions relative to the retail funds? 16 funds. Again, | am not - that is the legal
17 A, Ithink you asked me this already, 17 compliance part of it. | don't know.
18 John. 18 Q. Whydid you tell the retail board
19 Q. Okay. ljustdon'trecall. Canyou 19 that the advisors have the full faith and
20 just refresh my recollection if | did, in fact, 20 backing from Mr. Dondero?
21 ask you the question? 21 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
22 A ldon'tbelieve —ifwe cango 22 A ltis—itis—itiswhathas
23 back. | don'tbelieve Mr. Norris has a title 23 been discussed with them prior.
24 atthe refail funds. Mr. —and Mr. Postis 24 Q. And were you - were you trying to
25 the CCO of the advisor, the advisors. 25 give them comfort that even though the
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2 liabilities exceeded the assets that the 2 Q. Okay.
3 advisors would still be able to meet their 3 A Andldon'treally - don'treally
4 obligations as they become due? 4 remember generally either.
5 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 5 Q. Okay.
6 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object form. 6 MR. MORRIS: So - so, again, I'm
7 A. |-Ican't-1don't remember 7 justgoing to ask Mr. Rukavina if your
8 specifically the conversation, but generally — 8 clients can produce as soon as possible the
9 you know, generally, yes. And that is why — 9 15(c) response, the written response that
10 but, you know, again, in this email saying, you 10 the advisors made, if any, to the board's
11 know, | am sure | qualified it with the retail 11 Question No. 2.
12 board, you know, as | said | like — you know, 12 I'm not looking for the whole
13 to my knowledge, that hasn't changed. But, 13 response, but | certainly want the response
14 again, generally - generally that is what | 14 to Question No. 2.
15 remember. 15 Q. Doyou have a general understanding
16 Q. Okay. Do yourecallifinthe 16  as to the amount by which - withdrawn.
17 advisors' response to the retail board's 17 Did - did the assets of -
18 question if the response included any statement 18 withdrawn.
19 conceming Mr. Dondero and — and the full 19 Did the liabilities of HCMFA exceed
20 faith and backing that he was giving to the 20 itsassetsin 20207
21 advisors? 21 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
22 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 22 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection, form.
23 fom. 23 A Ibelieve | have already answered
24 A. Idon't—Idon't remember 24 that question earlier, | think. | believe |
25 specifically what was provided. 25 said yes.
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2 Q. Okay. And did the liabilities of 2 for those documents too.
3 NexPoint exceed its assets in 20207 3 Q. Let's go to the next exhibit, which
4 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 4 is Number 10. So I thinkiitis in your stack,
5 form. 5 Mr. Waterhouse.
6 A. I don'tbelieve so. 6 MR. MORRIS: And we can take the one
7 Q. Okay. So-soitwas only one of 7 down from the screen and put up Number 10
8 the two advisors who had liabilities that 8 for everybody.
9 exceeded the value of the assets. 9 (Exhibit 10 marked.)
10 Do | have that right? 10 Q. AndIdon'tknow if you have ever
1 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 11 seen this before, but I'm really putting it up
12 form. 12 on the screen for purposes of tuming to the
13 MS. DANDENEAU: Form. 13 very last page of the document.
14 A Yes. 14 So this is a document that we have
15 Q. And do you know, ballpark, the 15 been — that we premarked as Exhibit 10. And
16 amount by which the value of HCMFA's 16 we're tuming to the last page of the document,
17 liabilities exceeded their assets in 20207 17 which is a document that was filed in the
18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 18 adversary proceeding 21-3004. And —-no, |
19 A. Idon't—Idon'trecall. 19 apologize, | think we - right there. Perfect.
20 MR. MORRIS: | had specifically 20 Anditis page 31 of 31.
21 requested in discovery the audited 21 MR. MORRIS: | think there may have
22 financial reports for both advisors and 22 been some something erroneously stapled to
23 NexPoint. |think | may have gotten one 23 the hard copy that | gave you folks, but
24 for NexPoint but I'm still waiting for the 24 I'm looking for page 31 of 31 in the
25 balance. And I'm going to renew my request 25 document that begins with the first page of

TSG Reporting - Worldwide

877-702-9580

Appx. 02098




Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 115 of 200 PagelD 41108

Page 198 Page 199
1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21
2 Exhibit 10. 2 A ltissomething like this, but |
3 Q. Do you have that, Mr. Waterhouse? 3 don'tthink it was this specific document.
4 A. Idon'thaveityet. I'mlooking. 4 Q. WEell, but this document does say in
5 Q. Allright. If you look at the top 5 thelast sentence that Highland agreed not to
6 right-hand comer, you will see it says page 6 seek - not to demand payment from HCMFA prior
7 hopefully something of 317 7 toMay 31, 2021; right?
8 A.  Yes, I've gotit now. 8 A, Yes.
9 Q. Okay. Youhavegot31of31. You 9 Q. Andare you aware of any other
10 can take a moment to read that, if you would 10 document that was ever created pursuant to
11 like. 11 which Highland agreed not to demand payment on
12 A (Reviewing document.) Okay. 12 amounts owed by HCMFA before May 31, 20217
13 Q. Have you ever seen this before? 13 A Holdon. Areyou asking, am | aware
14 A, Idon'tknow if | have seen this 14 of a document that by HCMFA that basically says
15 specific document, but, you know, I've - 15 otherwise?
16 I'm—I'maware of it. 16 Q. No. Letme try again.
17 Q. Andis this the document that you 17 Are you aware of any other document
18 had in mind when you sent that email to 18 pursuant to which - pursuant to which Highland
19 Ms. Thedford that we just looked at where you 19 agreed not to make a demand on HCMFA until May
20 said that Highland had agreed not to make a 20 31st 20217
21 demand upon HCMFA until May 20217? 21 A.  I'm—1think there was something
22 A.  Honestly, | don't — it wasn't this 22 in connection with — with the - with the
23 document. | mean, it's something like this, 23 audit that basically says the same thing.
24 yes. I mean, yes. 24 Q. Okay. And do you think that the
25 Q  Well- 25 auditis referring to this particular document?
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2 A. Idon'tknow. 2 A.  May 31 of 2021, excuse me.
3 Q. Allright. This documentis dated 3 Q. Andthis document states the
4 April 15,2019. Do you see that? 4 deferral that you just described; correct?
5 A. ldo. 5 A. ltdoes.
6 Q. And do you remember that the audit 6 Q. And this document states the
7 was completed on June 3rd, 2019? 7 deferral that was described in the audited
8 A Yes. 8 financial statements that we looked at before;
9 Q. Anddo you recall that the audited 9 corect?
10 financials - and I'm happy to pull them up if 10 A. ltdoes.
11 you would like, but do you recall that the 1 MR.MORRIS: Okay. Can we scroll
12 audited financials included a reference to the 12 down just a little bit to see who signed on
13 agreement pursuant to which Highland agreed not 13 behalf of the acknowledgment there.
14 to make a demand until May 31st, 20217 14 Q. Okay. So Mr. Dondero signed this
15 A.  Yes, | remember. 15 document on behalf of both HCMFA and Highland;
16 Q. And as part of the process, would 16 do you see that?
17 you have expected the corporate accounting team 17 A. ldo.
18 to have provided a copy of this document to 18 Q. Okay. Did you discuss this document
19 PwC? 19 orthe - withdrawn.
20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 20 Did you discuss the concept of the
21 A.  Yes, | would have expected something 21 deferral with Mr. Dondero in the spring of
22 like this, or again, you know, some document 22 20197
23 that basically states — states the deferral 23 A. Ithink | testified | don't recall.
24 il May 31 of 2020. 24 Q. Okay. Do you know whose idea it was
25 Q. Okay. 25 toissue the acknowledgment in this form?
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2 A. Idon'trecall. 2 A.  Well, this — this document dated

3 MR. MORRIS: Can we scroll back up 3 April 15,2019 says they have been deferred to

4 to the document, please. 4 May 31,2021.

5 Q. Do you see in the beginning it says, 5 Q. Right. ButI'm just sticking to the

6 reference is made to certain outstanding 6 first paragraph where they refer to the

7 amounts loaned from Highland to HCMFA for 7 outstanding amounts. And in the end it says

8 funding ongoing operations. 8 the — it remained outstanding on December

9 Do you see that? 9 31st, 2018, and | think you told me that you

10 A Yes. 10 understood that, and then I'm just trying to

11 Q. And were you aware as the CFO of 11 capture the last piece of it.

12 Highland and as the treasurer of HCMFA that as 12 Did you understand that there were

13 of April 15, 2019, Highland had made certain 13 amounts outstanding from the loan that Highland
14 loans to HCMFA to fund HCMFA's ongoing 14  made to HCMFA to fund ongoing operations as of
15 operations? 15 April 15th, 20197

16 A Yes. 16 A Yes.

17 Q. And were you aware that those loans 17 Q. Thankyou. Let's look at the next

18 were payable on demand and remained outstanding 18 sentence. HCMFA expects that it may be unable
19 as of December 31st, 20187 19 to repay such amounts should they become due
20 A Yes. 20 for the period commencing today and continuing
21 Q. And were you aware that those 21 through May 31st, 2021.
22 amounts were payable on demand, and they 22 Do you see that?
23 remained outstanding as of April 15, 20197 23 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
24 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 24 A ldo.
25  fom. 25 Q. Asthe CFO - withdrawn.
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2 As the treasurer of HCMFA, did you 2 should they become due?

3 believe that - do you believe that statement 3 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.

4 was true and accurate at the time it was 4 A. Imean, | - when you look at that,

5 rendered? 5 to answer you, completely, you know, again,

6 A Imean,it—it—the answerto 6 if - the response | gave the retail board was,

7 thatis | really didn't have any — | didn't 7 you know, the — the advice - HCMFA advisors

8 have an opinion really. 8 have the - have the full faith and backing of

9 Q. Did you do anything to educate 9 Jim Dondero. So I didn't form an opinion of

10 yourselfin April of 2019 on the issue of 10 whether the advisor could pay it or not.

11 whether HCMFA could repay the amounts that it 1 Q. Did you form any view as to whether

12 owed to Highland should they become due? 12 the advisors could repay the amounts that it

13 A. | don't believe so. 13 owed to Highland should they become due without
14 Q. Didyou atany time form any 14 the full faith and backing of Mr. Dondero?

15 opinions as to HCMFA's ability to repay all 15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
16 amounts due to Highland should they become due? 16 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Form.

17 A. Notreally. Iguess|dont.. 17 A.  Imean, if you - if you — if you

18 Q. Well, you told the retail board that 18 take that last statement out, | mean, it would

19 HCMFA's liabilities exceeded their assets in 19  be difficult for HCMFA to pay back demand notes
20 2020; correct? 20 atthat time.
21 A, Yes. 21 Q. Anditwas precisely for that reason
22 Q. Based on the work that you did to 22 thatyou told the retail board that — that the
23 prepare for the retail board, did you form any 23 retail - that the advisors had the full faith
24 view as to whether HCMFA would be unable to 24 and backing of Mr. Dondero; correct?
25 repay the amounts that it owed to Highland 25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
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2 A.  Imean, yes, as the mouthpiece, | 2 solet's put the email back up.

3 was relaying information. 3 A ltis—itis—itisinthe

4 Q. Okay. Andyou relayed that 4 email.

5 information with the knowledge and approval of 5 Q. Let's put the email back up. You

6 Mr. Dondero; correct? 6 didn't say unless it has changed. You said you
7 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 7 believe it hasn't changed; right?

8  form. 8 A Okay. Andtomy knowledge that

9 A.  Aslstated in the email, | don't 9 hasn'tchanged, that is what it says.

10 believe, and | think | testified | don't 10 Q. That's right.

11 believe | had conversations with Mr. Dondero at 11 A. But, again, | mean, thatis — |

12 the time of that board meeting. 12 don't know everything. And I'm notin every
13 Q. Didyou tell the retail board that 13 conversation. I'm not - to presume that | am,
14 the advisors had the full faith and backing of 14 is —and you have to put myself — as you

15 Mr. Dondero without Mr. Dondero's prior 15 started this out, Mr. Morris, | was at home in
16 approval? 16 October of 2020 with COVID - or, you know,
17 A. Yeah,|-I-yes, I'm-likel 17 under these COVID times that we described is
18 said, | think | testified earlier, I'm sure | 18 very difficult.

19 qualified it as well. 19 We have all been working at home for
20 Q. Whatdoyou mean by that? 20 really the first time ever, undergoing
21 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 21 processes, procedures, control environments
22 A.  Again —-again, like | said in the 22 that have been untested, and there is poor
23 email, it has the full faith and backing of Jim 23 communication.
24 Dondero unless that has changed. 24 So | am relaying, as I'm telling you
25 Q. Actually that is not what you said, 25 now, whatis in the email. And unless
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2 something has changed - to my knowledge, it 2 promissory notes that your clients refuse

3 hasn't changed, but it could have changed. 3 to pay.

4 Q. When you say that the advisors have 4 So I'm going to continue to ask my

5 the full faith and backing from Mr. Dondero, 5 questions, and | would ask the court

6 did you intend to convey that, to the extent 6 reporter to read back my last question.

7 the advisors were unable to satisfy their 7 (Record read.)

8 obligations as they become due, Mr. Dondero 8 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Andthenl

9 would doiit for them? 9  believe there were objections to form.

10 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form. 10 Q. You can answer the question.

1 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 1 A. Yes.

12 form. 12 Q. Thank you very much, sir.

13 And, John, we have given you a lot 13 MR. MORRIS: Can we go back to the
14 ofleeway here but this does not seem 14 other document, please?

15 relevant to this case. You seem sort of 15 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, do you know if this
16 taking a complete sort of diversion into 16 document was ever shared with the retail board?
17 the allegations and the complaint just 17 A ldon'trecall.

18 filed on Friday, and so | would ask you to 18 Q. Didyou ever share it with the

19 move on because — 19 retail board?
20 MR. MORRIS: And | will tell you - 20 A ldon'trecall
21 | will tell you that | have never read that 21 Q. Did you ever tell the retail board
22 complaint cover-to-cover. | have nothing 22 about the substance of this document?
23 to do with the prosecution of those claims. 23 A. Idon'trecall.
24 Andthis issue that we're talking about 24 Q. Did you ever tell the retail board
25 right now is related solely to the 25 that Highland had agreed not to make a demand
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2 against HCMFA until May 20217 2 Q. Didyou everinform PwC that HCMFA's
3 A ldon'trecall 3 liabiliies exceeded its assets?
4 Q. Do you know whether anybody on 4 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form.
5 behalf of the advisors ever informed the retail 5 A ldon't-Idon'tthink I told
6 board that Highland had agreed on April 15, 6 them. I mean, they — they audited the
7 2019, not to make a demand against HCMFA under 7 financial statements.
8 the promissory notes? 8 Q. Did-do youknow if anybody on
9 A Idon'trecall 9 behalf of Highland ever informed
10 Q. Didyouinstruct Ms. Thedford or 10 PricewaterhouseCoopers that HCMFA may be unable
11 anybody else responding to the retail board's 11 to repay amounts owing to Highland, should they
12 15(c) inquiry to disclose this document? 12 become due?
13 A. Did linstruct Ms. Thedford or 13 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
14 anyone else to - to - to produce this, to 14 A, Yes. Again, | think | testified
15 disclose this document? Is that what you - | 15 earlier that - that this was communicated to
16 just want to make sure. 16 the auditors.
17 Q. Uh-huh. 17 Q. Idealy-
18  A. Yeah,ldon't-Idon'trecall. 18 A Idon'tknow who exactly did that.
19 Q. Did you instruct anybody to inform 19 I don'trecall doing it, but, yeah, it was -
20 the retail board, in response to their question 20 itwas communicated. And thatis why — |
21 as part of the 15(c) process, to — to tell the 21 mean, there is a disclosure in the financial
22 retail board about Highland's agreement not to 22 statements; right?
23 make a demand until 20217 23 Q. Thereis, and that disclosure
24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 24 relates to the last sentence of this document;
25 A ldon'trecall 25 correct?
Page 212 Page 213
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2 A Yes. 2 A. Ihave answered this question
3 Q. Do you recall looking in the 3 before.
4 document and seeing anything that was disclosed 4 Q. Andthe answer was no?
5 with respect to the sentence above that? 5 A.  I'mnotaware.
6 A No 6 Q. Now, this acknowledgment can't
7 Q. Do you know whether anybody on 7 possibly apply to the two notes that you signed
8 behalf of Highland ever informed 8 on behalf of HCMFA because those notes were
9 PricewaterhouseCoopers that HCMFA expects that 9 signed on May 2nd and May 3rd, 2019; is that
10 it may be unable to repay amounts due and owing 10 right?
11 to Highland should they become due? 1 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
12 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 12 A Unlessthereis a drafting error.
13 form. Ithink thatis the third time. 13 Q. Okay. Are you aware of a drafting
14 A. ldon'trecall. Again, as | said, 14 ermror?
15 we - all of this was given to the auditors. 15 A. I'mnotaware. |didn't—|wasn't
16 Q. Do youknow if Highland received 16 part of - | didn't sign this note or this
17 anything of value in exchange for its agreement 17 acknowledgment. |didn't draft it.
18 not to demand payment on amounts owed by HCMFA 18 Q. Butyou do seeitis dated April 15,
19 prior to May 31st, 20217 19 2019; right?
20 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objectto the 20 A Yes.
21 form. Thatis the second time. 21 Q. And this was a document that was
22 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form. 22 actually included by the advisors in a pleading
23 A. I'have answered this question. 23 they filed with the Court; right?
24 MR. RUKAVINA: Hold on. Objectto 24 MR. RUKAVINA: Well, I don't know
25 legal conclusion. Go ahead. 25 that so | object to form.
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2 Q. Okay. Let'sgoto the first page of 2 ofverifying that, we're just -
3 the document and just confirm that. 3 MR.MORRIS: You do, actually. You
4 MR. AIGEN: Mr. Morris, | just note 4 could just go to Docket No. 21-3004.
5  thatyou already said there was some emor 5 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: If you want to
6 with the document that is listed as 6 stop this deposition so we can go and pull
7 exhibit - 7 that document up, we're happy to do it. So
8 MR.MORRIS: No. No, no, no. 8 [ am just asking you for your
9 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Oh, okay. 9 representation.
10 MR. MORRIS: What | said is that 10 MR.MORRIS: Sure. |gave that.
11 there is a few pages that were mistakenly 1 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Okay.
12 stapled to the end of the document. 12 Q. Sodoyouseethatthisisa
13 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Okay. 13 document that was actually filed with the Court
14 MR. MORRIS: There is no problem 14 by Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors?
15 with this document. 15 A No. Igetwith thefirstpage in
16 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: And just so 16 the section. Maybe I'm looking at the wrong
17 we're clear that the document - the pages 17 thing. It says, Highland Capital Management.
18  that start with defendant's amended answer 18 Q. Don'tworry aboutit. Don't worry
19 are not intended to be part of this 19 aboutit.
20  document? 20 A Maybe | wentback - okay.
21 MR. MORRIS: That's correct. 21 MR. MORRIS: Allright. Can we put
22 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: And that the - 22 up on the screen Exhibit 2.
23 butitis your representation that the rest 23 (Exhibit 2 marked.)
24 of the document is — is — is correct 24 MR.MORRIS: Ithinkiitis
25 because we don't — we don't have any way 25 Exhibit 1.
Page 216 Page 217
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2 MS. DANDENEAU: I'm sorry, John, did 2 thisis an annual installment note?
3 yousay Exhibit 2 or Exhibit 1? 3 A Canyou scroll down.
4 MR. MORRIS: ltis Exhibit 2 in the 4 Q. Sure
5 binders so it is premarked Exhibit 2. And 5 MR. MORRIS: Can we scroll down —
6  now I'masking - right there - going to 6  yeah, there you go.
7 Exhibit 1 to the document that was marked 7 A. Rightthere, yeah. Yes.
8 as Exhibit 2. 8 MR. MORRIS: And can we scroll down
9 MS. DANDENEAU: Gotit. Inthe 9  tothesignature line.
10 binder there is no — 10 Q. And do you recognize that as
1 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Thereis no 11 Mr. Dondero's signature?
12 Exhibit 1. 12 A Yes.
13 MR. MORRIS: Allright. So look at 13 Q. Andis this the promissory note that
14 the one on the screen. 14 we talked about earlier where NexPoint had made
15 Q. Do you see, Mr. Waterhouse, that 15 certain payments in the aggregate amount of
16 this is a promissory note dated May 31st, 2017, 16 about 6 to $7 million against principal and
17 inthe approximate amount of $30.7 million? 17 interest?
18 A, Yes. 18 A. I don'trecall discussing the
19 Q. Anddo you see that the maker of the 19 aggregate principal amounts of 6 to $7 million,
20 note is NexPoint? 20 but-soldon't— I don't recall that prior
21 A Yes. 21 discussion with those amounts.
22 Q. And that Highland is the payee; is 22 Q. Allright. Let's take a look.
23 that right? 23 NexPoint always included this promissory note
24 A Yes. 24 as aliability on its audited financial
25 Q. Okay. And do you see in Paragraph 2 25 statements; right?

TSG Reporting - Worldwide

877-702-9580

Appx. 02103



https://txnb-ecf.sso.dcn/n/cmecfservices/rest/file/finddoc?caseYear=21&caseNum=03004&docNum=21&docSeq=3004
https://txnb-ecf.sso.dcn/n/cmecfservices/rest/file/finddoc?caseYear=21&caseNum=03004&docNum=21&docSeq=3004

Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 120 of 200 PagelD 41113

Page 218 Page 219
1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21
2 A Yes. 2 A. | didn't participate directly, as
3 Q. And NexPoint had its financial 3 I've described before, about the -- the team
4 statements audited; isn't that correct? 4 performing the audit.
5 A Yes 5 Q. Do you recall when the audit of
6 Q. Andwas the process of NexPoint's 6 NexPoint's financial statements for the period
7 audit similar to the process you described 7 ending December 31st, 2019 was completed?
8 earlier for Highland and HCMFA? 8 A, Yes.
9 A Yes, itis similar. 9 Q. And when do you recall it being
10  Q Okay. 10 completed?
11 MR. MORRIS: Can we put up 11 A. InJanuary of 2021.
12 NexPoint's audited financials and let 12 Q. Do you know why the 2019 audit
13 everybody know what exhibit number it is, 13 report wasn't completed until January of 20217
14 La Asia? 14 A Yes.
15 MS. CANTY: ltis going to be 15 Q. Whywas the NexPoint audit report
16 Exhibit 46. 16 for the period ending 12/31/19 not completed
17 (Exhibit 46 marked.) 17 until January 20217
18 Q. Anddo you see, sir, that we've put 18 A Because we had to deal with working
19 up NexPoint Advisors' consolidated financial 19 from home from — with COVID, and on top of all
20 statements and supplemental information for the 20 of our daily responsibilities and job duties
21 period ending December 31st, 20197 21 at-at providing - at Highland providing
22 A Yes. 22 services to NexPoint, we had to do all of this
23 Q. Did you participate in the process 23 extra work for a bankruptcy that was filed in
24 whereby these audited financial statements were 24 Qctober of 2019.
25 issued? 25 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to the
Page 220 Page 221
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2 balance sheet on page 3? Okay. Stop right 2 form.
3 there. 3 A.  Approximately.
4 Q. Do you see underthe liabilities 4 Q. Anddoes that refresh your
5 section, the last item is note payable to 5 recollection that between the time the note was
6 affiliate? 6 executed and the end of 2019, that NexPoint had
7 A Yes. 7 paid down approximately $7 million?
8 Q. Andis that the note that we just 8 A. Yes. Ifwe are just doing the math,
9 looked at? 9 vyes.
10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 10 Q. Okay. Did NexPoint complete its
1 Q. Withdrawn. 11 audit from 20207
12 Is that the approximately 12 A Sonmy, you kind of broke up. Do
13 $30 million note that we just looked at that 13 NexPoint complete?
14 was dated from 20177 14 Q. The audit of its financial
15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 15 statements for the period ending December 31st,
16 A. Ibelieve no. 16 20207
17 Q. Okay. You're not aware of any other 17 A No.
18 note that was outstanding from NexPoint to 18 Q. No, it's not complete?
19 Highland as of the end of the year 2019, other 19 A No,itis not complete.
20 than that one $30 million note; right? 20 Q. Did HCMFA complete its audit for the
21 A. Idon'trecall. 21 year ending December 31st, 20207
22 Q. Andas of the end of 2019, the 2 A No
23 principal amount that was due on the note was 23 MR. MORRIS: Can we go to page 15,
24 approximately $23 million; right? 24 please, the paragraph at the bottom.
25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 25 Q Doyou see that NexPoint has
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2 included under notes payable to Highland a 2 perfectly together.
3 reference to the amounts that were outstanding 3 Q. Okay. Butyou're not aware of any
4 as of the year-end 2019 under the note that we 4 note that was outstanding at the end of 2019
5 looked at justa moment ago? 5 from NexPoint to Highland other than whatever
6 A.  Yes. Are you talking about the 6 principal was still due and owing under the
7 second paragraph? 7 $30 million note issued in 2017; correct?
8 Q. I'mactually talking about first 8 A Wel,it—Ildon't-thereis
9 paragraph. Do you understand that the first 9 reference in the second paragraph. |don't-
10 paragraph is a reference to the 2017 note, and 10 Ildon't—-1don't recall what that is
11 the amounts that were — the principal amount 11 referring to, so | don't - | don't know.
12 that was outstanding as of the end of 20197 12 Q. WEell, if you listen carefully to my
13 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 13 question, right, I'm asking about notes that
14 John, do you mean the first paragraph of 14 were outstanding at the end of 2019, and if we
15 thatpage? 15 look at the paragraph you just referred to, it
16 MR. MORRIS: No, the first paragraph 16 says that during the year there were new notes
17 under notes payable to Highland. 17 issued totaling $1.5 million, but by the end of
18  A. Yeah,|see the paragraph, and 18 the year, no principal or interest was
19 again, this is what | answered earlier. | 19 outstanding on the notes.
20 believe so, just because | don't - again, this 20 Do you see that?
21 isanumberin a balance sheet, and without 21 A. Oh,ldo,yes.
22 matching it up and seeing the detail with the 22 Q. Sodoes that refresh your
23 schedule like | kind of talked about for 23 recollection that there were no notes
24 Highland's financial statements, it is a little 24 outstanding from NexPoint to Highland other
25  bit more difficult to tie everything in 25 than the principal remaining under the original
Page 224 Page 225
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2 $30 million 2017 note that we looked ata 2 the record at 3:39 p.m.
3 momentago? 3 Q. Allright. Mr. Waterhouse, we - |
4 A. Well, we're at the bottom of the 4 don'tthink we have a lot more here.
5 page. Isthere anything on page 16? 5 To the best of your knowledge and
6 Q. Thatis afair question, sure. That 6 recollection, were all affiliate loans and all
7 isit 7 loans made to Mr. Dondero recorded on
8 A Okay. Soitappears thatthatis 8 Highland's books and records as assets of
9 the only note that is detailed in the notes in 9 Highland?
10 the financial statement. 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form,
1 Q. And you don't have any memory of any 1 asked and answered.
12 other note other than the 2017 note, right, 12 A. Tomy knowledge, yes.
13 being outstanding as of the end of the year? 13 Q. Okay. Can you recall any loan to
14 A. | deal with thousands of 14 any affiliate or Mr. Dondero that was not
15 transactions every year. |don'treally have a 15 recorded on Highland's books and records as an
16 very specific memory for what exactly was 16 asset?
17 outstanding. 17 A. Like during my time as CFO? | don't
18 MR. MORRIS: Why don't we take a 18 recall.
19  break now. We've been going for a little 19 Q. How about after the time that you
20 while. It's 3:26. Let's come back at 20 were CFO? Did you recall that there was a loan
21 3:40. 21 by Highland to an affiliate or to Mr. Dondero
22 VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the 22 that hadn't been previously recorded on
23 record at 3:26 p.m. 23 Highland's books as an asset?
24 (Recess taken 3:26 p.m. to 3:39 p.m.) 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
25 VIDEOGRAPHER: We are going back on 25 A. Iguess | don't understand the
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2 question. |left Highland as of - I'm not 2 s called operating results?
3 aware of - | left Highland in February - 3 A.  Yeah, that's the title of it.
4 probably the last day of February of 2021. 4 Q. Okay. Andwas a report of operating
5 Q. Okay. 5 results prepared by Highland on a monthly basis
6 A I'mnot-I'm notaware of any - 6 during the time that you served as CFO?
7 I'm not aware of anything past that date. 7 A No
8 Q. Okay. While you were the CFO at 8 Q. Are you familiar with a document of
9 Highland, did Highland prepare in the ordinary 9 thistype? And we can certainly look at the
10 course of business a document that reported 10 next page or two to refresh your recollection.
11 operating results on a monthly basis? 11 A.  I'mjustlooking at the title. |
12 A, Yes. 12 don'treally — again, as | discussed before, |
13 Q. Andare you generally familiar with 13 don't have any records or documents or emails
14 the monthly operating reports? 14 or appointments or anything that | was able to
15 A.  Yeah. You are referring to the 15 use prior to — prior to this deposition, so
16 reports that we filed to the Court every month? 16 I'm doing the best | can.
17 Q. lapologize, 'm not. I'm taking 17 Q. Okay. Youdon't need to apologize.
18 you back to the pre-petition period. There was 18 I'mjust asking you if you are familiar with
19 areport that | have seen that I'm going to 19 the document called Operating Results that was
20 show you, but I'm just asking for your 20 prepared on a monthly basis at Highland?
21 knowledge. 21 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
22 MR.MORRIS: Let's putit up on the 22 form.
23 screen, Exhibit 39. 23 Q. [Ifyou're not, you're not.
24 (Exhibit 39 marked.) 24 A. | don't believe this was prepared on
25 Q. Do you see this is a document that 25 amonthly basis.
Page 228 Page 229
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2 Q. Okay. Do you see that this one 2 report that Highland prepared that identified
3 is—is dated February 20187 3 significant items impacting the balance sheet?
4 A Yes. 4 A.  Areport that was prepared.
5 Q. Doyouhave —-do you believe - 5 Q. Letmeaska better question: Did
6 have you ever seen a document that was 6 Highland prepare reports to the best of your
7 purporting to report operating results for 7 recollection that identified significant items
8 Highland? 8 thatimpacted its balance sheet?
9 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 9 A. Well, so Highland prepared a - a
10 A Yes. 10 monthly close package. And maybe I'm
1 Q. Okay. And when you say that you 11 getting - and — and maybe change names at one
12 don't believe it was produced on a monthly 12 time or maybe I'm just - again, just
13 basis, was it produced on any periodic bases to 13 misremembering — but in that, yes, there is a
14 the best of your recollection? 14 page that would detail just changes in — you
15 A. |believe it was — it was prepared 15 know, just changes month over month on the
16 on anannual basis. 16 balance sheet.
17 Q. Okay. 17 Q. Okay. And maybe itis my fault.
18 MR. MORRIS: Can we look at the next 18 Maybe | didn't know the proper name for it.
19 page. 19 Butlet's use the phrase "monthly close
20 Q. Do you see that there is a statement 20 package."
21 here called: Significant items impacting 21 Did Highland prepare a monthly close
22 HCMLP's balance sheet? 22 package in the ordinary course of business
23 And itis dated February 2018. 23 during the time that you served as CFO?
24 A, Yes. 24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
25 Q. Do you recall that there was a 25 A Yes.
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2 Q. Anddid the monthly close package 2 were exceptions to the practice?
3 that Highland prepared include information 3 A The practice meaning that they
4 conceming significant items that impacted 4 sometimes lured them to me?
5 Highland's balance sheet? 5 Q. Thatthat was the expectation even
6 A. Yes, it had a page like that is - 6 if circumstances prevented that from happening
7 thatis on the screen that detailed items 7 from time to time.
8 like - of that nature. 8 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
9 Q. Anddoyou know who - was there 9  form.
10 anybody at Highland who was responsible for 10 A. |-1would say it started out that
11 overseeing the preparation of the monthly 11 way but over the years it — it was not
12 reporting package? 12 enforced.
13 A Thatwould have been - again, it 13 Q. Okay. So you were - you reviewed
14 varies over time during my tenure as CFO. 14 and approved monthly - monthly reporting
15 It it varied over — over time, but — but 15 packages for a certain period of time and then
16 typically a — a corporate accounting manager. 16 over time you stopped doing that.
17 Q. And who were the corporate 17 Do | have that right?
18 accounting managers during your tenure as CFO? 18 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
19 A. Itwould have been Dave Klos and 19 A.  Yes, | mean, if you're talking about
20 Kristin Hendrix. 20 aformal meeting where we sit down and go
21 Q. And did the corporate accounting 21 through and approve it. | would say that was
22 manager deliver to you drafts of the monthly 22 standard practice a decade - you know, early
23 close package before it was finalized? 23 on. And as time went on that — that - that
24 A.  Sometimes. 24 practice wasn't followed.
25 Q. Wasthatthe practice even if there 25 Q. Okay.
Page 232 Page 233
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2 A.  And, quite frankly, | don't even 2 don'tknow because, again, | wasn't reviewing
3 know if these were - these were sent to me 3 them. I'hadn't reviewed a close package for -
4 even in any capacity. 4 foralongtime. Butl believe the standard
5 Q. Whatwas the purpose of preparing 5 practice that was still being carried out.
6 the monthly reporting package — withdrawn. 6 Q. Did you ever have any discussions
7 What was the purpose of preparing 7 with the debtor's independent board conceming
8 the monthly close package? 8 any promissory notes that were issued by any of
9 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 9 the effiliates or Mr. Dondero?
10 form. 10 A, lcan't-Ican't--1can'trecall
1 A. The —the original purpose was so 11 specifically.
12 thatit would just — it would be a report that 12 Q. Did you speak with the independent
13 was reviewed monthly with senior management. 13 board from time to time?
14 Q. Who was included in the idea of 14 A Yes, from-from - from time to
15 senior management? 15 time | had discussions with the independent
16 A You know, | think originally when 16 board members, you know, either — either, you
17 this was conceived that would have been like 17 know, by themselves or wholly, you know, as -
18 Jim Dondero and Mark Okada. 18 asa-as acombined work.
19 Q. Were monthly reporting - withdrawn. 19 Q. Okay. Before we talk about
20 Were monthly close packages prepared 20 Mr. Seery, do you recall ever having a
21 to the best of your knowledge until the time 21 conversation with Mr. Nelms or Mr. Dubel
22 you left Highland? 22 conceming any promissory note that was
23 A.  Tomy knowledge — | don't know, 23 rendered by one of the affiliates or
24 actually. 1 mean, to my knowledge, | believe 24 Mr. Dondero to Highland?
25 itwas being — that was still being done. | 25 A. I don'trecall any conversations
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2 specifically. 2 Q. Did you ever tell Mr. Seery that you

3 Q. Do you know if the topic was ever 3 had any reason to believe that the amounts

4 discussed, even if you don't remember it 4 reflected in the notes issued by the affiliates

5 specifically? 5 and Mr. Dondero were invalid for any reason?
6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 6 A Idon't-Idon'trecall

7 A lt-it—-itmayhave. | don't 7 Q. Did you tell Mr. Dondero - did you

8 know. Idon'trecall. 8 tell Mr. Seery that you thought the promissory
9 Q. Do you recall ever discussing any 9 notes issued by the advisors and Mr. Dondero
10 promissory note issued by any of the affiliates 10 that were outstanding as of the petition date

11 or Mr. Dondero with James Seery? 11 were assets of the estate?

12 A. Idon't-don'trecall 12 A. I don'trecall having a specific

13 specifically. 13 conversation about those - you know, those
14 Q. Do you recall generally ever 14 notes outstanding as -- as of the petition date
15 discussing the topic of promissory notes issued 15 being assets on the estate. | mean, we put

16 by any of the affiliates or Mr. Dondero to 16 together — you know, they're in the books and
17 Highland with Mr. Seery? 17 records of the financial statements. | don't

18 A. Nothing - nothing is really jumping 18 recall having a specific conversation.

19 outatme. 19 Q. Didyou ever prepare any documents
20 Q. Doyou recall if you ever told 20 that were delivered to Mr. Seery that concemed
21 Mr. Seery that any of the affiliates or 21 the promissory notes issued by any of the
22 Mr. Dondero didn't have an obligation to pay 22 ffiiates or Mr. Dondero?
23 allamounts due and owing under their notes? 23 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
24 A. I don'trecall having that 24 A. Did | produce any that concemed -
25 conversation. 25 youmeandid | just — did | give Mr. Seery

Page 236 Page 237
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2 anything that — that said | have concems over 2 were filed with the bankruptcy court?

3 these notes? 3 A. Ididn't-1didn't prepare them

4 Q. No. Letmetryagain. Maybe itwas 4 personally.

5 my question. 5 Q. Did people prepare them under your
6 Did you ever give Mr. Seery any 6 direction?

7 information concerning any of the notes that 7 A.  Yes. There were members of the team
8 were issued by any of the affiliates or 8 that prepared them, and they worked in - you
9 Mr. Dondero? 9 know, there were members of DSI that were
10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 10 involved in the process as well.

1 A. ldon'trecallif | did or not. | 1 Q. Tothe best of your knowledge, did

12 don't—1don'tremember. | mean, you have my 12 DSl rely on the employees of Highland for the
13 emails. You may have asked. Again, | don't - 13 information that they used to prepare the

14 | don't know. 14 bankruptcy filings?

15 MR. MORRIS: Can we put up the 15 A.  Yes. The books and records were

16 documentthat has been premarked as Exhibit 16  with the Highland personnel.

17 39? 17 Q. Okay. And do you see on the screen
18 MS. DANDENEAU: John, that is this 18 here, there is a document that we have marked
19  document, isn't it? 19 as Exhibit 40 that is - that is titled Summary
20 MR. MORRIS: Oh, yeah, it might be, 20 of Assets and Liabilities?
21 as a matter of fact. Let's go to Number 21 A.  Uh-huh.
22 40 22 Q. Okay. And do you recall reviewing
23 (Exhibit 40 marked.) 23 any summary of assets and liabilities before it
24 Q. During the bankruptcy, 24 was filed with the bankruptcy court?
25 Mr. Waterhouse, did you prepare documents that 25 A.  Yes, I recall reviewing this at a
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2 highlevel. 2 Mr. Dondero, among others; is that right?
3 Q. Anddid you believe that it was 3 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
4 accurate at the time it was filed? 4 A Yes. The dffiliate notes and the
5 A. |l didn't have any other reason to 5 Dondero notes were in this amount, but they
6 believe otherwise. 6 weren't— again, like you said, and among
7 Q. Okay. Do you see that the total 7 others.
8 value of all properties listed in Part 1 is 8 Q. Okay. We will look at the
9 approximately $410 million? 9 specificity because I'm not playing gaming
10 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to 10 here, but do you know if the $150 million of
1 form. 11 notes receivable was included within the
12 A Yes,itisin1c. 12 $410 million of total value of the debtor's
13 Q. Yes. 13 assets?
14 A, Yes,|seethat. 14 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
15 Q. Okay. Ifwe gotothe second page, 15 A |-I-Ibelieve so.
16 now | think I may just have excerpts here, just 16 Q. Right. Andsois it fair to say
17 so everybody is clear, but if we scroll down to 17 that as of the date this document was prepared,
18 the second page, you will see that there is 18 the notes receivable were more than one-third
19 a-alittle further. There you go. You wil 19 of the value of the debtor's assets?
20 seethere s areference to Item 71, notes 20 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
21 receivable. 21 form.
22 Do you see that? 22 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to the form.
23 A ldo. 23 A Again, if you are just taking the
24 Q. And that was a reference to the 24 math, 150 divided by whatever the $400 million
25 notes receivable from the affiliates and 25 number is above, then yes, you get there.
Page 240 Page 241
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2 Q. Okay. 2 Highland?
3 A.  You know, but as of the time of this 3 A.  Yes, we did do impairment analysis
4 fiing, that is what was put in this filing, 4 on-on assets.
5 right, but, you know, | mean, numbers - 5 Q. Okay. Did you ever do an impairment
6 numbers change, facts and circumstances change. 6 analysis on any of the promissory notes that
7 Q. Butasthe CFO of Highland, the 7 were given o Highland by any of the affiliates
8 debtorin bankruptcy, did you believe that this 8 orMr. Dondero?
9 number accurately reflected the total amount 9 A Notthatlrecall.
10 due under the notes receivable? 10 Q. Under what circumstances do you
11 A. Thatis what we had in our books and 11 prepare impairment analyses?
12 records. 12 A As-as-ifyou're preparing
13 Q. Okay. And did you believe as the 13 financials in accordance with GAAP, generally
14 CFO that the books and records accurately 14 accepted accounting principles, if you're
15 reported the then value of the debtor's assets? 15 preparing full GAAP financials, you should be
16 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 16 preparing — you should be undergoing on a
17 A. Wedidn't— as part of this filing, 17 periodic basis any fair market value
18 there was no fair value measurement or 18 adjustments to assets.
19 anything. These were just accounting entries 19 As | was instructed at the time of
20 for the promissory notes. There is no analysis 20 the petition date, we weren't producing GAAP
21 forimpairment or fair market value adjustments 21 financials. So this wasn't something | was
22 oranything of that nature. This is purely 22 worried about nor concemed about.
23 taking numbers and putting them in our form. 23 Q. Okay. Were NexPoint and HCMFA and
24 Q. Did you do any impairment analysis 24 Highland's audited financial statements
25 atany time while you were employed by 25 prepared in accordance with GAAP?
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2 A The audited financials - yes, 2 A Correct.
3 audited financial statements are prepared in 3 Q. Okay. To the best of your
4 accordance with GAAP. 4 knowledge, as Highland's CFO, did Highland ever
5 Q. Doyou recall whether any of 5 make any fair market value adjustments to any
6 Highland or HCMFA or NexPoint ever made a fair 6 of the promissory notes that were carried on
7 market value adjustment to any of the notes 7 its balance sheet and that were issued by any
8 issued by any of the affiliates or Mr. Dondero 8 ofthe affiliates or Mr. Dondero?
9 to Highland? 9 A. Ithink | answered that question
10 A. | do not recall that happening, but 10 earlier. | don't recall doing that for any of
11 the —itis because under — under GAAP, 11 the - those - those notes. So it would have
12 the — the treatment of liabilities is 12 included the audit for the - for the 2018
13 different than assets. 13 period.
14 Q. Okay. Sothen let's justfocus on 14 Q. Okay.
15 Highland's audited financial statements. 15 MR.MORRIS: Can we go to the next
16 The last audited financial 16 page.
17 statements were for the period ending December 17 Q. Do you see this is a note a list of
18 31st, 2018; correct? 18 notes receivable? Do you see that?
19 A.  Thatis my understanding. 19 A. Yes,|do.
20 Q. Andyou had - you had an obligation 20 Q. Anddo you see that this ties into
21 todisclose anything to PricewaterhouseCoopers 21 the page that we were just looking?
22 conceming any subsequent events between the 22 A. I'msorry, can we go back to the
23 end of 2018 and June 3rd, 2019; correct? 23 prior page? | mean, itwas at 150,331,222. It
24 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 24 was on the prior page. Next page. Yes, it
25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Form. 25 agrees.
Page 244 Page 245
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2 Q. Okay. Sonow let's look at that 2 involved in the decision to reserve the Hunter
3 schedule. So this was the face amount of all 3 Mountain Investment Trust note?
4 of the promissory notes that Highland held at 4 A Iwasnot.
5 the time this document was filed with the 5 Q. Do you know why Highland decided to
6 bankruptcy court; right? 6 reserve for the Hunter Mountain Investment
7 A Yes. 7 Trustnote?
8 Q. Thereis afootnote there that says, 8 A. I don'tknow yet decision was made.
9 doubtful or uncollectible accounts are 9 |believe it was made by someone at DSI.
10 evaluated at year-end. 10 Q. Okay. I'mjustasking if you know
1 Do you see that? 11 why.
12 A ldo. 12 Did you ever ask anyone why they
13 Q. Okay. Andis it fair to say that as 13 reserved for that particular note?
14 of the year-end 2018, the year before this, 14 A. Idon'trecall.
15 that to the extent any of these notes were 15 Q. Do you know whether the debtor
16 outstanding at that time, they weren't deemed 16 reserved for any other note on this list during
17 to be doubtful or uncollectible? 17 the bankruptcy?
18 A.  Yeah. Forthe 2018 audit, there 18 A. Again, | don'trecall. |wasn't
19 weren't any — there weren't any adjustments to 19 part of any process of — again, like any fair
20 fair value. 20 value adjustments or anything to that degree.
21 Q. Okay. And during the bankruptcy, do 21 Like | said, a lot of that was done by DSI and
22 you recall that Highland subsequently reserved 22 itwas kind of out of our court.
23 for the Hunter Mountain Investment Trust note? 23  Q Okay. Doyouknow if any note
24 A Yes. 24 receivable on this list was ever deemed by the
25 Q. Why did Highland — were you 25 debtor to be doubtful or uncollectible?
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2 A. ldon't—Idon'thavea 2 A. ldon'trecall. I mean, it may have

3 recollection of every filing, so | don't know. 3 happened, you know, again, when we initially
4 Q. Did you ever have a discussion with 4 getting DSI up to speed and going through

5 anybody at any time about whether any of the 5 financials, it may have happened, but | don't

6 notes receivable on this list should be deemed 6 recall specifically.

7 to be doubtful or uncollectible? 7 Q. While you were the CFO of Highland

8 A No. Aslpreviously stated, we were 8 during the time that the company was in

9 told we didn't have to keep GAAP financials. 9 bankruptcy, did you have any reason to believe
10 We weren't having - you know, there is no 10 thatany of the notes receivable on this list

11 underlying audits being performed, so | mean, 11 other than Hunter Mountain Investment Trust
12 it wasn't something | worried about. 12 should have been characterized as doubtful or
13 MR.MORRIS: | move to strike. 13 uncollectible?

14 Q. Did you ever have a conversation 14 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
15 with anybody about any of the notes receivable 15 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Form.

16 and whether they should be deemed to be 16 A. Ididn'tknow. |didn'tforman

17 doubtful or uncollectible? Did you have the 17 opinion. Bankruptcy was new to me. [t still

18 conversation, yes or no? 18 is new to me, even after going through this.

19 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 19 So | really didn't know what to expect nor
20 A ldon'trecall 20 really - you know, | didn't know.
21 Q. Do you recall ever telling anybody 21 MR. MORRIS: | move to strike.
22 that you believed any of the notes receivable 22 Q. During the period of Highland's
23 on this list should be doubtful - should be 23 bankruptcy when you were serving as CFO, did
24 deemed to be doubtful or uncollectible? 24 you have any reason to believe any of the notes
25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 25 on this list were doubtful or uncollectible?
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2 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Thisiis like the 2 receivable on this list were doubtful or

3 fitth time you've asked it. Object to the 3 uncollectible?

4  fom. 4 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
5 MR. MORRIS: I'm moving to strike, 5  form.

6  ifyouhaven't noticed, because he's not 6 A Potentially.

7 answering the question. 7 Q. Did you ever tell anybody that?

8 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: He was answering 8 A Asljuststated like five times,

9  thequestion, you just didn't like it, like 9 vyes, we —-at the beginning after fiing and we
10 the answer. 10 were getting DSI and others up to speed, you
1 MR. MORRIS: Good Lord. 11 know, we had a myriad of discussions of a lot
12 Q. Goahead, Mr. Waterhouse. 12 of things and this was likely one of them. |

13 A. Again, | don't - we brought up a 13 don't— but | don't recall specifically we

14 myriad of issues at the start of the bankruptcy 14 talked -

15 case. | don'trecall if this was one of them, 15 Q. Idon'twantto know — | don't want

16 but, again, there are a lot of things we 16 to know what was —

17 couldn't change. Even, you know, | was told 17 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Wait, wait.

18 status quo, blah, blah, blah, right, there is a 18 Excuse me. Mr. Moris, you did not let him
19 stay, you can't — you know, | don't recall 19 finish his answer.
20 specifically, but that doesn't mean it didn't 20 A. |spoke —we had - we were
21 happen. 21 bringing Fred Karesa and Brad Sharp (phonetic)
22 MR. MORRIS: | move to strike. 22 up to speed on all of these items, contracts,
23 Q. During the time that Highland was in 23 and investments and going through - we had
24 bankruptcy and you served as CFO, did you have 24 hours and hours and hours of discussion. And
25 any reason to believe that any of the notes 25 then notonly do | have to repeat this not
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2 once, twice, three, four times with — you 2 totellwhat you todo. Do you have -

3 know, | mean, we - | don't - | don't remember 3 MS. DANDENEAU: Good.

4 the sum culmination of all these discussions. 4 Q. Other than — other than telling

5 They all kind of blend together. 5 them that they should look at the values, do

6 MR. MORRIS: Okay. | move to strike 6 you have any recollection whatsoever of ever
7 and | will try one more time. 7 having told anybody at DSI that any of the

8 Q. Didyou evertellanybody at DSI 8 notes receivable on this page were doubtful or
9 that you believed any of the notes receivable 9 uncollectible?

10 on this list were doubtful or uncollectible? 10 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
1 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to form. 11 form.

12 A Potentially. 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection.

13 Q. Potentially you told them or 13 A lrecall having general discussions

14 potentially they were doubtful or 14 about everything on our balance sheet which
15 uncollectible? 15 would have included these - these notes

16 A. Potentially I told them that we 16 receivable.

17 needed to look at the value of these - of 17 Q. Okay.

18 these assets. 18 A Idon'trecall specifically where

19 Q. Okay. Didyou-okay. ltis 19 those discussions delved into.
20 potential that you told them and it is 20 Q. Do you recall any discussion at all
21 potentially that you didn't; right? 21 on the topic of whether any of these notes on
22 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 22 this list were doubtful or uncollectible?
23 A I'vegonethroughthat. Idon't 23 MR. AIGEN: Mr. Morris, how on earth
24 recall specifically. 24 is that question different from the
25 Q. Soyou should just— I don't want 25  question that you just asked for the last
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2 five times? I mean, really | thought you 2 suggests that he has not testified

3 were - (overspeak.) 3 truthfully.

4 MR. MORRIS: Because he never 4 MR. MORRIS: | will ask my question
5 answered it. 5 again. And if at any time you want to

6 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Are you 6 direct him not to answer, that is your

7 listening to him? 7 prerogative.

8 MR. MORRIS: You know - 8 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, do you have any

9 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: He basically 9 recollection at all of ever telling anybody

10 said that he had a conversation with DSI 10 from DSl that any of these notes were doubtful
11 that went over all of this stuff and that 11 oruncollectible?

12 conversation could have included the notes 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Object to form.
13 but he doesn't recall specifically. 13 A. | don't remember specifically.

14 What more do you want him - to ask 14 Q. Do you remember generally that

15 ofhim? 15 specific topic?

16 MR.MORRIS: | want him - [ would 16 A We generally talked about assets,

17 love him to say — | would like him to 17 values. If - we had discussions of that and
18 testify to the truth, and that is he has no 18 collectability in nature. | mean, of Highland,
19 recollection. 19 the funds, the CLOs, the entire complex. We
20 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Well, the truth 20 had discussions like that, which is, you know,
21 asyou would like to see it, but — but he 21 asyou look at a billion dollar consolidated
22 istestifying truthfully. And |- and, by 22 balance sheet.
23 the way, | move to strike that comment - 23 So | generally remember — this is
24 MR. MORRIS: Okay. 24 billions of dollars, including these assets —
25 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: -- because it 25 having discussions of this - of this type.

TSG Reporting - Worldwide

877-702-9580

Appx. 02112




Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 129 of 200 PagelD 41122

Page 254 Page 255

1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21

2 Q. Doyou believe that an affiliate 2 goes.

3 loan on this list was doubtful or 3 Q. Didyou point out that any of

4 uncollectible? Would you have told that to 4 these -

5 DSI? 5 A Idon'trecall specifically.

6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 6 Q. Okay. Atany time that you served

7 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to form. 7 as Highland's CFO, did you ever point out to

8 A [Ifwehad, like —again, if we - 8 DSl that any of these loans were doubtful or

9 if —if we weren't preparing financial 9 uncollectible?

10 statements in accordance with GAAP, and — you 10 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the
11 know, if DSI at that point — they were - 11 form.

12 again, [ was new to bankruptcy. 12 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection.

13 The CRO is - we are delegating 13 A Ifyoureaskingmeiflhada

14 everything to the CRO. All the decisionmaking. 14 conversation with DS, if any of these loans
15 Remember - remember when you and | went into 15 were doubtful or uncollectible, | don't recall

16 Delaware Court and we were saying DSI basically 16 specifically.

17 does everything, remember this, Mr. Morris? 17 Q. Do you recall that the debtor filed

18 You were my counsel at the time, and 18 on the docket monthly operating reports?

19 basically we're running everything through DSI. 19 A Yes.
20 Thatwas what this was like in the early part. 20 Q. You prepared those personally,
21 Everything was communicated through 21 didn'tyou?
22 DSI. SoDSlsays this. DSIsays that. That 22 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Objection to
23 is what we're doing, and we're pointing out 23 fom.
24 things to them. 24 A. Ididn't personally prepare them,
25 Now, they decide what direction this 25 the team did with DSI.
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2 Q. Butyou signed them; correct? 2 show. |followed their advice.

3 A Mysignature is on the MORs. 3 Q. Butyou assured yourself that

4 Q. And you signed them as the preparer 4 everything in the report was accurate before

5 of the document; correct? 5 you signed them; correct?

6 A. Yes, | did this pursuant to DSI's 6 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
7 instructions. 7 A. Itrusted the guidance from the CRO

8 Q. Okay. Youwouldn't have signed the 8 and their team and their experience and their
9 document if you didn't believe it to be 9 guidance for doing this for many, many, many
10 accurate; correct? 10 years to - to - to categorize and put things

1 A. IfI'had reason to believe it 11 inways on the form.

12 wasn't, presumably | wouldn't have signed it. 12 You know, my team had — had not

13 Q. Okay. And do you have any reason to 13 filled out these forms before and needed all of
14 believe right now that any monthly operating 14 this guidance. I'm notan expertin this. |

15 report that has your signature on it was 15 have oversight of it. | signed the form. DS
16 inaccurate in any way? 16 told me fo.

17 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 17 Q. And you and your team are the source
18 form. 18 of the information that DS used to create the
19 A My understanding of the monthly 19 reports; correct?
20 operating reports is we were filing them in 20 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
21 accordance with the standards set by the Court. 21 A. The books and records reside with
22 Itwasn't— you know, again, | don't - you 22 the — with — with the corporate accounting
23 know, it wasn't GAAP. It wasn't these other 23 team.
24 standards, so | testified | didn't have 24 Q. Okay. And the corporate accounting
25 experience in this. The CRO was running the 25 team was the corporate accounting team that was
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2 under your direction; correct? 2 Highland; correct?

3 A Yes. 3 A, Yes.

4 Q. So - so your team was responsible 4 Q. And you're the preparer — you're

5 for maintaining Highland's books and records; 5 identified as the preparer of the report;

6 correct? 6 cormect?

7 A I'msomy, myteam was responsible? 7 A Thatis correct.

8 Q. Cormect. 8 Q. Doyou recall participating in the

9 A.  Yes. They - they - they were 9 preparation of monthly operating reports?

10 the —the — the general ledger of Highland, 10 A Asltestified earlier, it was put

11 that responsibility was with the corporate 11 together, you know, with the team. The team
12 accounting team. 12 worked with DSI to put these monthly operating
13 Q. The corporate accounting group 13 reports together. We had no experience at this
14 reported to you; correct? 14 time of the monthly operating reports or things
15 A Yes. 15 of this nature.

16 MR. MORRIS: Can we putup 41, 16 MR. MORRIS: Can you tum to the

17 please. 17 next page, please.

18 (Exhibit 41 marked.) 18 Q. Doyouseealine item under assets
19 Q. Allright. You will see that this 19 due from affiliates?
20 isareportthatis dated January 31st, 2020, 200 A Yesldo.
21 butitis for the month ending December 2019. 21 Q. Okay. And to the best of your
22 Do you see that? 22 knowledge and understanding, as the person who
23 A ldo. 23 s identified as the preparer of this report,
24 Q. And you signed this report in your 24 does that line item include the affiliate loans
25 capacity as the chief financial officer of 25 that we've been talking about?
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2 A.  Again, | would have to see, just 2 A, Yes, thatis what this indicates.

3 like we did with the financial statements of 3 Q. Okay. And were you aware that the

4 Highland and NexPaint, | would have to see a 4 reserve was being taken on that it was?

5 detailed build, but, you know, if you look at 5 A. Iwas - | was aware, yeah, at some

6 the other line items, you know, the only other 6 point, yes.

7 place it could be would be in - in other 7 Q. Okay. And are you aware of any

8 assets. 8 reserve being taken with respect to any other

9 Q. Okay. And as a matter of 9 note that was issued in favor of Highland?

10 arithmetic, is it fair to say that is the value 10 A. Again, as | testified, we didn't go

11 of the assets due from affiliates was more than 11 through an analysis on — on — on the other

12 25 percent of the value of Highland's total 12 notes.

13 assets as of 12/31/2019? 13 Q Canwetun-

14 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 14 A |believe - believe it says that

15 A.  I'mreally not doing the mental math 15 in Footnote 1, fair value has not been

16 right now, so I've been going at this depo for 16 determined with respect to any of the notes.

17 hours, so I'm really not — you know — 17 So this footnote — footnotes, look,

18 Q. Allright. No problem. 18 there has been no determination.

19 A —these are milions of dollars. 19 Q. Okay. The determination was made in
20 Q. Let'slook at the Footnote 1, 20 the audited financial statements just six
21 please. Do you see there is a reference to the 21 months earlier; right? We saw that earlier?
22 Hunter Mountain note? 22 A.  Thatwas as of 12/31/18. I mean,
23 A.  Yes, | see thatin Footnote 1. 23 things — circumstances — there's a bank —-
24 Q. Okay. And that's the reserve that 24 circumstances change, things change — things
25 was taken against that note? 25 change over time, you know, facts and
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2 circumstances change. Again, you have to do an 2 Q. Okay. And there was nothing that
3 analysis. 3 caused PricewaterhouseCoopers to include in
4 Q. Okay. And you do recall thatin 4 subsequent events any adjustment to the
5 Highland's 2018 financial statement, all of the 5 conclusion that the fair value of the affiliate
6 notes issued by affiiates and Mr. Dondero that 6 notes and the notes issued by Mr. Dondero
7 were due at year-end had a fair value equal to 7 equaled the carrying value; correct?
8 the camrying value; correct? We looked at 8 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to the
9 that? 9  form.
10 A. Yes. Thatwasinthe ~inthe 10 A.  Thatis comect. Thatis what was
11 disclosure for the — for the &ffiliate notes, 11 inthe - in the — in the footnotes.
12 yes. 12 Q. Okay. So are you aware of anything
13 Q. And-andyou were obligated to 13 that occurred between June 3rd, 2019 and
14 share with PwC any subsequent events between 14 December 31st, 2019 that would have caused the
15 the end of 2018 and the date that you signed 15 fair value of the notes to differ from the
16 your management representation letter on June 16 camying value?
17 3rd, 2019; correct? 17 A Yeah. Highland filed for
18 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: Object to the 18 bankruptcy, things changed — | mean, there was
19 form. 19 abankruptey filed in October of - of - of
20 A, Yes. |-1-Isignedthe 20 2019, right, the petition date that we've
21 management, you know, my signature is in the 21 described earlier.
22 management representation letter - I hope I'm 22 I mean, | had a — | guess looking
23 answering your question — that is dated in 23 back naively, | thought we were going to get an
24 June with the representations made in that 24 audit from PwC for year-ended 2019, and when we
25 management representation letter. 25 had discussions with PwC, they were like, are
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2 you crazy, we're not auditing this. Values 2 canmying value during the seven-month period
3 change, all these things change, bankruptcy 3 between June 3rd and the end of the year, 20197
4 changes the entire scenario. | mean —and 4 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
5 they're like, we're not -- we're not touching 5 A.  No. I mean, 'm putting myself back
6 this. 6 atthattime, right. Hindsightis 2020, but we
7 And so, you know, | was like, okay, 7 didn't do an analysis, but we would have done a
8 somy, | getit, okay, no an audit. 8 fulsome analysis and looked at all of the facts
9 I mean, it is — you know, and - 9 and circumstances at the time, but asset values
10 you know, and we weren't preparing GAAP 10 change. You know, there could have been a
11 financial statements. 11 market crash in hindsight in 2020, which -
12 Again, | didn't know what we were 12 which affected entities' abilities.
13 doing in relation to our financial statements, 13 There could have been all of these
14 but these were the discussions | was having at 14 things, right, that - that happen. Itis —
15 thetime. And yeah, | mean, filing bankruptcy 15 itis easy to look back in hindsight, but when
16 from what | got from outside auditors and 16 you are looking at this in - in realtime, the
17 others involved changed things dramatically. 17 analysis is different, and again, we didn't do
18 Q. Okay. Highland wasn't the obligor 18 ananalysis.
19 under any of the notes that we're talking 19  Q Okay. Youdidn'tdo an analysis.
20 about; correct? 20 Do | have that right?
21 A. No. 21 A. Idon't—1don't recall doing one
2 Q So- 22 ormaybe — you know, | don't recall doing one.
23 A.  That's right. 23 MR. MORRIS: Okay. I'm going to
24 Q. Socanyou identify any fact that 24 takeabreak. I may be done, sothe time
25 would cause the fair value to deviate from the 25 now is — is 4:30 your time. Let's just
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2 take a short break until 4:40 your time. 2 had - | just think it's appropriate to —
3 MS. DANDENEAU: Okay. 3 todump documents on somebody 10 minutes
4 VIDEOGRAPHER: We're going off the 4 before the deposition. | just think
5 record, 4:31 p.m. 5 that's —
6 (Recess taken 4:31 p.m. to 4:43 p.m.) 6 MR. RUKAVINA: WEell, these are
7 VIDEOGRAPHER: We are back on the 7 documents Highland produced. I'm not aware
8  recordat4:43 p.m. 8  ofanyrule | have to give you advance
9 MR. MORRIS: | have no further 9 documents when | know for the record that
10 questions. 10 other than the exhibits that you sent to us
11 MR. RUKAVINA: Okay. 11 last week, most of the exhibits you used
12 Mr. Waterhouse, | will go next. 12 today you did not provide to me prior to
13 EXAMINATION 13 this deposition.
14 BY MR. RUKAVINA: 14 MR. MORRIS: No, but the documents
15 Q. Sir, mynameis Davor Rukavina. I'm 15 were produced by me in —in litigation,
16 the lawyer for —- 16 right?
17 MR. MORRIS: Hey, Davor, just before 17 MR. RUKAVINA: I'm going to use
18  you begin, I just want to put on the record 18 primarily, John, the documents that you
19 Highland's objection to documents that were 19 produced to me today, but you may.
20 produced to me 10 minutes before the 20 MR.MORRIS: Primarily. I've got—
21 deposition began. 21 I've got my objection. You have got your
22 MR. RUKAVINA: What the basis of 22 response. Proceed.
23 your objection? 23 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, again, | represent
24 MR. MORRIS: That they were due 24 the advisors, HCMFA and NexPoint Advisors.
25 quite some time ago, and the fact that you 25 Do you understand that?
Page 268 Page 269
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2 A Yes 2 Q. Were you ever the CFO of HCMFA?
3 Q. Youand I have never met or talked 3 A. ldon'trecall
4 before today, have we? 4 Q. Sotothe best of your recollection,
5 A.  No, | have — | have heard your 5 you were still an officer of HCMFA in 2019,
6 voice on calls before. 6 justthat your title was treasurer?
7 Q. Okay. 7 MR. MORRIS: Object to the form of
8 MR. RUKAVINA: Madam Court Reporter, 8 the question. There is no leading here.
9 [ will use a few exhibits today. My 9 He works for your client.
10 associate, Mr. Nguyen, will find some way 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Thatis not - that
1" to get them to you. | don't know how to do 1 is not true.
12 that, but it looks like you guys do. 12 MR.MORRIS: He's the treasurer -
13 | am going to use numbers as well. 13 he is the treasurer of your client. |
14 But to differentiate them from Mr. Morris 14 don't— I'm going to object every time you
15 we're going to mark mine with the prefix A 15 fry tolead, so...
16 foradvisors. 16 MR. RUKAVINA: Totally fine to
17 Do you understand? 17 object.
18 COURT REPORTER: Yes. 18 MR. MORRIS: Okay.
19 MR. RUKAVINA: Okay. Perfect. 19 Q. Please answer my question,
20 Q. Okay. So, Mr. Waterhouse, let's 20 Mr. Waterhouse.
21 start with those two HCMFA notes that you were 21 A.  I'msorry, could you repeat? There
22 asked about, one for 5 million and one for 22 was...
23 2.4 million. 23 Q. Yes. You were - you testified
24 Do you recall those notes? 24  earier thatin 2019 you were an officer of
25 A. Yes. 25 HCMFA; correct?
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2 A. Yes, | testified that | was the 2 chieffinancial officer of the debtor, Highland
3 treasurer and | didn't know if that incumbency 3 Capital Management, L.P., in May of 2019, did
4 certificate, you know, was one that appointed 4 you believe that you unilaterally, just Frank
5 meas atreasurer, but yes. 5 Waterhouse, had the authority to loan on behalf
6 Q. I'mjusttrying to confirm that 6 of the debtor to anyone $5 million and
7 sitting here today, to the best of your 7 $2.4 milion?
8 recollection, at that time you were - your 8 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
9 title was treasurer. It was not chief 9  ofthe question.
10 financial officer. 10 A. No.
1 A. | don'trecall that being my title. 11 Q. Isitbecause loans of that amount
12 Q. Okay. Andin May of 2019, however, 12 would have had to be approved by someone else?
13 Ithink you testified you were the chief 13 A Yes.
14 financial officer of the debtor; corect? 14 Q. Whoin'20 - in May of 2019, if
15 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 15 Highland wanted to loan 5 million or
16 of the question. 16 $2.4 million to someone, what would have been
17 A. Yes,|was - yes. 17 the internal approval procedure?
18 Q. Okay. Assuch,inMay of 2019, did 18 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
19 you have the authority, to your understanding, 19 of the question.
20 to unilaterally loan $5 million or $2.4 million 20 A If—ifwe had loans of that nature
21 to anyone on behalf of the debtor? 21 that needed to be made due to their size, we
22 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 22 would have gotten approval from the — the
23 ofthe question. 23 president of Highland.
24 A Sorry, can you repeat that? 24 Q. And who that was individual?
25 Q. Yes. Soinyourcapacity as the 25 A ltwas James Dondero.
Page 272 Page 273
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2 Q. Okay. Now, 'm going to ask you a 2 A.  Thatwas James — Jim Dondero.
3 similar question but for a different entity. 3 Q. Sodo | understand thatin May of
4 In May of 2019, as the treasurer of 4 2019, on behalf of both the lender, Highland,
5 HCMFA, did you believe that you unilaterally 5 and the borrower, HCMFA, Mr. Dondero would have
6 had the ability to cause HCMFA to become the 6 had to approve $7.4 million in loans?
7 borrower of a $5 million loan and a 7 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
8 $2.4 million loan? 8 of the question.
9 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 9 A, Yes.
10  ofthe question. 10 Q. You mentioned when Mr. Morris was
11 A. No. 11 asking you the NAV error, N-A-V error, with
12 Q. What would — what would the 12 respect to TerreStar, without writing us a
13 approval have taken place - strike that. 13 novel, unless you feel like you have to, can
14 What would the approval process have 14 you summarize what that NAV error was? What
15 been like in May of 2019 at HCMFA for HCMFA to 15 happened?
16 take out a $7.4 million loan? 16 A, Therewasa-inthe Highland
17 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 17 Global Allocation Fund, it owned at the time an
18 of the question. 18 equity interest in a company called TerreStar.
19 A.  The process would have been similar 19 And TerreStar is - at the time was a private
20 towhat we just discussed on - for Highland to 20 company, and it may still be today. Again, I'm
21 make aloan to others. So, again, you know, 21 putting myself back then as a private company.
22 we - we would have - either myself or someone 22 We had - sorry, | don't mean we —
23 on the team would have discussed this with 23 the fund and the advisor used Houlihan Lokey
24 the — the president and owner of - of HCMFA. 24 to-tovalue that investment. And during
25 Q. And who was that individual? 25 that time there was some trades that were

TSG Reporting - Worldwide

877-702-9580

Appx. 02117




Case 3:21-cv-00881-X Document 178-1 Filed 01/09/24 Page 134 of 200 PagelD 41127

Page 274 Page 275
1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21 1 WATERHOUSE - 10-19-21
2 executed at market levels that were much lower 2 And given that there was this fund
3 than the Houlihan Lokey model. 3 was, as we discussed — | don't know if we
4 And based on information and 4 discussed it, but it was an open-ended fund
5 discussions with the portfolio managers and, 5 thatwas going - that was converting to a
6 you know, principals that were very familiar 6 close-end fund.
7 with TerreStar, it was determined that those 7 Due to the fact that it was an
8 trades were non-orderly and they were not 8 open-ended fund, you had to recalculate NAV and
9 considered in the valuation as consulted with 9 see what the impact was on people —on
10 Houlihan Lokey and PricewaterhouseCoopers at 10 investors coming in and out of the fund and if
11 the time. 11 there is a defrimental impact and to calculate
12 Subsequent to a — | can't remember 12 what that — what that impact was and if there
13 the exact circumstances of why the SEC got 13 was any amounts owed to the fund pursuant to
14 involved. |think it was due to this — this 14 the error.
15 investment became a material position in the 15 Q. Were you personally involved
16 fund. Ittriggered an SEC, kind of, inquiry. 16 intemally at either Highland or HCMFA with
17 And as part of that inquiry, they questioned 17 these investigations and discussions with the
18 the valuation methodology. "They" meaning the 18 SEC?
19 SEC. 19 A lwas.
20 And at the culmination of that 20 Q. Which other key people or senior
21 process - this is all summarized — the value 21 people at Highland were involved, to your
22 that was — that ulimately had to be used in 22 recollection?
23 the fund's NAV was different than — materially 23 A Myself, Thomas Surgent, David Klos,
24 different than what the original valuation at 24 Lauren Thedford, Jason Post.
25 Houlihan Lokey provided. 25 Q. Mr. Dondero, was he —
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2 A. | believe Cliff Stoops. I'm trying 2 A. I don't recall specifically.
3 tothink. And maybe thatis - that is — that 3 Q. Do you recall whether HCMFA caused
4 is—thatis all kind | can recall at the 4 any funds to be paid to the investors and the
5 moment. 5 fund the subject of the NAV error?
6 Q. Do you recall whether it was 6 A Yes.
7 determined that the fund suffered losses as a 7 Q. Do you recall the approximate amount
8 result of this error? 8 of funds, moneys paid to the investors and the
9 A The-thefund - the - the - 9 fund?
10 because the open-ended nature of the fund, 10 A. ltwas - it was approximately
11 there were losses that were attributable to 11 $7 million.
12 investors. Meaning they — they would have 12 Q. [flwastosuggest 7.8 million,
13 redeemed and got a less money or - or they 13 would that ring more true or are you sticking
14 subscribed in and maybe because they didn't get 14 with your original answer?
15 enough shares and then they later sold and then 15 A. ltwas it was approximately 7 -
16 they were harmed in that fashion. 16 7 to $8 million. Again, | don't remember the
17 And there is - there is — there 17 exact number, but it was in that ballpark.
18 were very - there were very detailed 18 Q. Soregardless of whether HCMFA
19 calculations and, you know, all these different 19 accepted fault or liability, it caused some
20 scenarios that we had to — I'm sorry, | keep 20 $7 million or more to be paid out to affected
21 saying "we" - that the individuals involved 21 investors in the fund?
22 had to calculate and quantify. 22 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
23 Q. Well, do you recall whether HCMFA 23 of the question.
24 admitted certain fault and liability for this 24 A.  And|want to make sure I'm
25 error? 25 understanding your question because there is a
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2 ot of different entities that are going on to 2 itdepends on who you talk to, but yes,
3 my head. 3 generally, there were — there are multiple
4 I think what you are saying is based 4 agreements.
5 on this error, shareholders were harmed by this 5 Q. Pursuanttoone or more of those
6 approximately $7.8 million — by approximately 6 agreements, was the debtor providing certain
7 $7.8 million. Is that what you are asking? 7 services to HCMFA?
8 Q. Yes,si. 8 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
9 A, Yes, thatwas —again, | don't have 9 of the question.
10 the exactnumbers. If | take — it was — it 10 A Yes.
11 was in that ballpark, and there is a detail 11 Q. Andcan you ata very high level
12 calculation and write-up that could, that - 12 summarize in 2018 and 2019 what those services
13 that exists someplace. 13 were?
14 Q. Now, atthattime, at the time that 14 A.  Yes, there was a - yes.
15 the NAV error occurred, was there a contract in 15 Q. Okay. Please - please go-go
16 place between HCMFA and the debtor pursuant to 16 through a short summary.
17 which the debtor was providing services to 17 A. There was a - a cost reimbursement
18 HCMFA? 18 agreement between Highland Capital Management
19 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 19 Fund Advisors and Highland Capital Management,
20 of the question. 20 L.P. Thatagreementwas for what we referred
21 A Yes. 21 to as front office services, so investment
22 Q. Was that contract generally called a 22 management, things of that nature.
23 shared services agreement? 23 There was | think what most people
24 A. Itwas generally called that, but 24 refer to as the shared services agreement that
25 there were - there were — | mean, it - it - 25 was - that agreement was between Highland
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2 Capital Management Fund Advisors and Highland 2 Q. And then you mentioned that the fund
3 Capital Management for back office services. 3 was being closed and some compensation related
4 Q. Andcanyou summarize what you mean 4 tothat. Can you - can you elaborate? What
5 by back office services? 5 were you referring to?
6 A. Those services were for accounting, 6 A. Right. Sothe advisor, pursuant to
7 finance, tax, valuation, HR, IT, you know, 7 board approval, put a proposal in front of the
8 legal compliance, things of - things of those 8 shareholders of the Highland Global Allocation
9 nature — or things of that nature, excuse me. 9 Fund to convert it from an open-ended fund to a
10 Q. Sointhe spring of 2019, do you 10 closed-end fund.
11 recall whether HCMFA took the position that it 1 So an open-ended fund, when
12 was actually Highland that caused the NAV error 12 shareholders subscribe to the fund or redeem
13 to occur pursuant to the valuation services 13 into the fund, they do it at NAV.
14 that Highland was providing? 14 When itis - when you have a
15 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 15 closed-end fund, closed-end funds are - are
16 ofthe question. 16 publicly-traded, like on the New York Stock
17 A. Idonotrecall. 17 Exchange, exchanges like that, and — and
18 Q. Did you ever have any discussions 18 shareholders or investors, they're not -
19 with anyone, Jim Dondero or anyone in the first 19 they're - they're not subscribing and
20 half of 2019 as to whether Highland, the 20 redeeming with the fund. They are like shares
21 debtor, thatis, had any liability to HCMFA 21 of Apple.
22 related to the NAV error? 22 Those shares of the Highland Global
23 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 23 Allocation Fund trade on an exchange, and that
24 ofthe question. 24 is how you, you know, that is how, you know,
25 A. Idonot recall. 25 you become an equity owner in the fund or you
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2 sellyour shares and you are no longer an 2 for - for these amounts attributable to — it

3 equity owner. 3 was either the error - you know, the error,

4 As part of that proposal, the 4 and in that conversation he said, go get the

5 advisor told shareholders if you — if you vote 5 money from Highland. |believe thatis what |

6 for this proposal to — to convert it from an 6 testified earlier, and that - that is my

7 open-ended fund to a closed-end fund, we will 7 recollection.

8 pay you some amounts of money. |forgot—-a 8 Q. Do you recall if that was an

9 certain number of points. | think it was 9 inperson meeting or some other mode for the
10 like —itwas like two to three points or 10 meeting?

11 something -- something like that. 11 A. |-I-Irecallthat being

12 Q. Okay. You mentioned when Mr. Morris 12 inperson.

13 was asking you, going back to those two 13 Q. Doyourecallif anyone else was

14 promissory notes, you will recall the 5 million 14 present, or was it just you and Mr. Dondero?
15 and 2.4 million, you mentioned something to the 15 A, lrecalljustheand|.

16 effect that Mr. Dondero told - told you to pay 16 Q. And the moneys that he told you to

17 some moneys out of Highland. Do you remember 17 find from — or get from Highland, was that in

18 that discussion with Mr. Morris? 18 the amount of $5 million and $2.4 million?

19 A Ido. 19 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
20 Q. So, to the best of your 20 of the question.
21 recollection, did you have a discussion with 21 A. Ibelieve so, but | would have to go
22 Mr. Dondero about making some payments in May 22 back and look and see when those moneys were
23 0of 2019 out of Highland? 23 actually paid into the - into the fund and,
24 A. Irecall, as | testified earlier, 24 you know, when those fransfers were done. If
25 that | had a conversation with Mr. Dondero 25 they were all done around that same time, then
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2 yes, | would say it was — it was all related 2 Q. Isitpossible that you, having

3 tothat. 3 heard what Mr. Dondero said and seeing funds
4 Q. Did Mr. Dondero tell you that those 4 being transferred, assumed that that would be a
5 funds would be a loan from Highland to HCMFA? 5 loan without him actually telling you that

6 A ldon'trecall 6 would be aloan?

7 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 7 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form

8 of the question. 8 of the question.

9 Q. Now, and forgive me, I'm probably 9 A Sory, | wantto make sure - did |

10 the only non-American bom here, but | speak 10 ask the amounts that were transferred that | -
11 reasonably well in English. | don't recall, 11 that - that | assumed that that was a loan?

12 does that mean you don't remember or does that 12 Q. Wel, letme —let me take - let

13 mean it didn't happen? 13 metry again.

14 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 14 So you have established already that
15 of the question. 15 there were quite a number of promissory notes
16 A Ilt-itmeans|don't—Idon't 16 back and forth - I'm sorry, quite a number of
17 remember. 17 promissory notes with affiiated companies and
18 Q. Did Mr. Dondero tell you to have 18 individuals owing Highland money; right?

19 those two promissory notes prepared? 19 A Yes.
20 A ldon'trecall 20 Q. And you have established that there
21 Q. When you —again, when you say, | 21 were many transactions and transfers going back
22 don't recall today, that means that sitting 22 and forth over the years; right?
23 here today, you just don't remember one way or 23 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
24 the other. Is that accurate? 24 A In-yes,inmy capacity as CFO and
25 A Yes. 25 my employment, yes, that is - yes.
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2 Q. Andthat's part of the reason why 2  Q Andthatisfine. That-that-
3 youjust can't remember some of the details 3 thatis why | asked the question.
4 today because this — this happened years ago, 4 Is it possible in May of 2019 when
5 and there were a number of transactions. s 5 Mr. Dondero told you to transfer the funds from
6 thataccurate? 6 Highland, you just assumed on your own that
7 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to the 7 those would be loans without him actually
8  form. 8 telling you that those would be loans?
9 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 9 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
10 of the question. 10 of the question.
1 A. I mean, | deal with thousands of - 11 A, ldon'tknow.
12 of - of - of transactions, you know, whether 12 Q. I'msomy, you-—
13 ithas - the processing of fransactions, you 13 A Isaidldon'tknow.
14 know, if it has got, you know, more - more 14 Q. Okay. Well, as the — as the CFO
15 zeros, you know, behind it than others. 15 for Highland, if you saw $7.4 million going
16 When you look at thousands of 16 out, you would feel some responsibility to
17 transactions over the years for funds and 17 account for that, wouldn't you?
18 advisors and - and, you know, financial 18 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
19 statements, | mean, itis — it is very hard 19 of the question.
20 going back in —in —in my — you know, 20 A Yes.
21 14-ish year career at - at Highland to 21 Q. Isitfairto say that those would
22 remember a lot of those details, especially 22 be in the range large enough to rise up to your
23 when | don't have any records or books or 23 level?
24 anything like that, and — and going back many 24 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
25 years. 25  ofthe question.
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2 A.  [f—1don't know if | understand 2 of the question.
3 your question. Those amounts would arise to my 3 A. ldon'tknow. As ] testified
4 level where | would be involved or... 4 earlier, | had conversations with Mr. Dondero
5 Q. You would want to know what a 5 about - about the - the — the moneys that
6 transfer for that amount, $7.4 million, was all 6 were needed for the NAV error. And | recall
7 about, as the CFO of Highland, wouldn't you? 7 him saying go get it from Highland — or get it
8 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 8 from Highland.
9 of the question. 9 Q. Well, why did you sign those
10 A. Yes,Imakeit--1mean,|-I| 10 promissory notes and why didn't you have him
11 review all sorts of payments, | mean, even 11 sign them?
12 smaller dollar payments on a periodic basis, 12 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
13 you know, to — to — to understand and to make 13 of the question.
14 sure that we are paying things in a -- you 14 A. Idon'tknow. |don'tknow.
15 know, in —in —in an informed way. And, you 15 Q. Youmentioned earlier that you
16 know —and we're — and we're paying things 16 typically don't sign promissory notes. Am |
17 pursuant to vendor contracts and things like 17 remembering your testimony correctly?
18 that. 18 | mean, promissory notes on behalf
19 Q. Soaspartofthat, is it possible 19 ofthe entities. Not yourself, obviously.
20 that seeing $7.4 milion go out you would have 20 A. Yes, thatis what | said earlier.
21 promissory notes made in order to keep a paper 21 Q. Do you recall any other promissory
22 frail, assuming that those were loans, when 22 notes in the million-plus range that you had
23 perhaps they were never intended to be loans by 23 ever signed before on behalf of any entity?
24 Mr. Dondero? 24 A. Thereis —there has been a lot of
25 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 25 ftransactions over the years. |don't—1
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2 don't—1don'trecall generally. |don't— 2 Q. Strike that.
3 ldon'trecall. 3 Do you recall whether you sent an
4 Q. So - butto the best of your 4 email to anyone asking them to draft those two
5 recollection, it was on your initiative, 5 promissory notes?
6 following your discussion with Mr. Dondero, 6 A. Idon'trecall because, again,
7 that you had someone draft those two promissory 7 once - | would have instructed — likely
8 notes; is that correct? 8 instructed the team to — to work with the
9 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 9 legal group to draft these documents.
10 ofthe question. 10 [-1-1-yeah, ldidn't-1
11 A.  Yes, we would have - the team, as | 11 mean, that is more an operational-type
12 stated earlier, we don't draft promissory 12 procedure. So, you know, a manager or a
13 notes. "The team" meaning the accounting and 13 controller or working with legal. You know,
14 finance team. 14 they — they can certainly handle that task to
15 So the team would have worked with 15 getthat — you know, to request that from
16 the legal group at Highland to draft any notes. 16 legal.
17 Q. Do you believe or do you have any 17 Q. And who on your team do you think
18 recollection as to whether you would have done 18 you would have asked to do that?
19 that pursuant to an email or telephone call or 19 MR. MORRIS: Objection -
20 in-person meeting? 20 Q. Who would have been the logical
21 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 21 person or people, if you don't remember their
22 of the question. 22 name today?
23 A Areyouasking if | would have — if 23 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
24 those notes would have been drafted pursuant to 24 of the question.
25 an email or phone call? 25 A.  lt—it—thereis only two
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2 managers of the group. That would have been 2 go-ahead was to — you know, we see the light
3 Dave Klos or Kristin Hendrix. 3 atthe end of the tunnel with wrapping this up
4 Dave was the -- one of his duties 4 and making shareholders whole - sorry to say
5 was managing the valuation team, and so he was 5 "we" - you know, the - so the folks that are
6 intimately involved with this process. So, you 6 involvedinit.
7 know... 7 | like to talk to people
8 Q. Okay. 8 face-to-face and —and —and go to —and go
9 A Idon'trecall specifically but, | 9 totheir desk, because that shows if I'm going
10 mean, my general — you know, | — | | 10 to their desk that - that is something that |
11 likely would have talked to Dave first about it 11 want done, you know.
12 versus someone like Kristin who hadn't been 12 Q. And do you remember, Mr. Waterhouse,
13 intimately involved. 13 getting those two promissory notes in paper
14 Q. And--and do you have a view as to 14 format or by email before they were executed?
15 whether it is most likely that you would have 15 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
16 done that by email or in-person or how would 16 ofthe question.
17 you believe you would have communicated that to 17 A. ldon'trecall
18 Mr. Klos? 18 Q. Forwhatever was the ordinary course
19 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 19 back then in May 2019, would you expect to have
20 of the question. 20 received them only on paper or would you have
21 A. |likely would have done that in 21 expected to have received them in Word document
22 person. Again, if things of this nature 22 or PDF document by email?
23 that-again, you have to put ourselves back 23 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
24 to, we have been working on this very stressful 24 ofthe question.
25 project for many, many months. And once the 25 A. |-Ididn'tsign - I signed very
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2 few documents via email. | can'tsay that it 2 And my assistant, you know, if she

3 never happened, but people either stopped by my 3 was there, she would review that - you know,
4 office and physically walked in documents for 4 whatever was being dropped off. And if that

5 signature that we discussed face-to-face. 5 haslegal, you know, reviewed or - reviewed or
6 Or documents were — if - if - 6 approved it, if that wasn't — if that stuff

7 if-if —let's say | wasn't there or | 7 hadn't been done, it was like she would just

8 wasn'tavailable, documents were dropped off. 8 tellthem like, go — go — go to the legal

9 Ihad -1had some in- and outboxes in front 9 group, because -

10 of my —my office there at the Crescent. 10 Q Letme-Iletme pause -

11 Documents would be dropped off for 11 MS. DANDENEAU: Let him finish.

12 signature. There would be a cover sheet that 12 MR. MORRIS: Thank you. Go ahead.
13 would be — have been applied to those 13 A Itake-gotothe legal group

14 documents detailing, you know, who dropped it 14 because that - that was my — you know, |

15 off, the purpose, why, what time. 15 didn't - 1 didn't review anything that — that

16 And then, you know, as | stated, | 16 they weren't - you know, or there wasn't some
17 don't draft documents and | always go to the 17 representation made to me that they had

18 legal group and the compliance group to make 18 reviewed, approved in some capacity.

19 sure that they're in the loop. And there is 19 Again, my —my — my goal, as CFO,
20 a-abox orsection that says, Has legal 20 isto provide transparency and make sure that
21 reviewed or approved, or something to that 21 groups like compliance and other things - and
22 nature. 22 the other group in legal are - are in - you
23 Again, | don't— 1 don't have 23 know, their - they're made aware of
24 access to that cover sheet anymore, but it 24 fransactions of - you know, that are crossing
25 was it was something to that effect. 25 mydesk.
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2 Because I'm notin every 2 Q. Do you know —was there a file at

3 conversation. They're notin every 3 Highland kept anywhere with ink-signed

4 conversation - meaning legal compliance — and 4 originals of a promissory notes in general or

5 ljust want to make sure that — that everyone 5 these two promissory notes specifically?

6 isinsyncto, you know, to - to the extent 6 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form

7 possible. 7 of the question.

8 Q. So if we summarize, you don't 8 A Sormy, |justwantto make sure |

9 specifically remember signing these two notes, 9 understand your question. Are you saying is
10 but most likely it would have been that they 10 there a file somewhere that has ink-signed

11 would have presented - been presented to you 11 originals of these two promissory notes?

12 physically on paper? 12 Q. Yes.

13 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 13 A Iwould - would assume they're

14 of the question. 14 some place. | mean -

15 A Theywould - they would have been 15 Q. Wel,wasthere a—wasthere a

16 presented physically on paper most likely or 16 place where Highland generally kept originals
17 someone would have leftit. But, | mean, 17 of promissory notes owed to it?

18 again, I don't— I don't recall. 18 A. lwouldn't—-no.

19 Q. lunderstand. Understand. 19 MR. RUKAVINA: Mr. Nguyen, would you
20 When you signed - when you signed 20 please pull up my A7, alpha 7.
21 documents, when you personally signed 21 Q. These are the two promissory notes,
22 documents, did you typically use a ink pen or 22 Mr. Waterhouse.
23 did you use a stamp? 23 (Exhibit A7 marked.)
24 A. No,|-I-lusea-an-an 24 Q. And please - Mr. Waterhouse, please
25 ink pen. 25 command my associate to scroll down as you need
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2 to, but| wantyou to take a very close look at 2 did have a - an electronic signature, and that
3 your two signatures here and tell me whether 3 was used from time to time. [t wasn'tas
4 you believe, in fact, that you ink signed them 4 common practice back in 2019. It definitely
5 orwhether you - 5 was more common practice when we had to work
6 MS. DANDENEAU: Mr. Rukavina, 6 from home and remotely for COVID because it
7 Mr. Waterhouse has the copies. 7 that made it almost impossible to, right,
8 MR. RUKAVINA: Perfect. Then you 8 provide wet signatures since we're all working
9 can take this down, Mr. Nguyen. 9 from home remotely.
10 A These - these - these signatures 10 Q. Well, going just for these two
11 are identical, now that | stare at them, and | 11 promissory notes, Mr. Waterhouse, in light of
12 mean, they are so close —- | mean, they're 12 your inability to remember any details, are you
13 identical that, | mean, even with my chicken 13 sure you actually signed either or both of
14 scratch signature, | don't know if | can - you 14 those notes?
15 know, | do this 100 times, could | do that 15 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
16 as - as precisely as | see between the two 16 A. I don'trecall specifically
17 notes. 17 signing - actually physically signing these
18 Q. Well thatis why | ask. 18 notes. As | said before, | don't recall doing
19 Mr. Waterhouse, now that you have examined 19 that. This - this looks like my signature,
20 them, does it seem like it is more likely that 20 but yet these two signatures are identical.
21 you actually electronically signed these? 21 Q. So you don't recall physically
22 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 22 signing them, and | take it you don't recall
23 ofthe question. 23 electronically signing them either?
24 A. Is—Idon't—Idon't recall 24 A. Idon'trecall. You know, Highland
25 specifically. As | said before, my assistant 25 hasallmy emails. If that occurred, you know,
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2 you know, | don't have any of these records is 2 Mayof2019-
3 whatI'msaying. | don't have any of those 3 A And-andfromwhatIrecall, and
4 records. 4 the reason why | was by myselfis - is, you
5 Q. Thatis why I'm asking you these 5 know, | don't— | don't want to speculate, I'm
6 questions in great detail because | don't have 6 sormy.
7 those emails. I'm trying to — I'm hoping that 7 Q. Okay. We have established that by
8 you will give me some names or some details so 8 May of 2019, in your view, the liabilities of
9 | can go look for more emails, but again, you 9 HCMFA exceeded its assets; correct?
10 don't remember any - any individual, other 10 A.  Yeah. I mean, again, | don't have
11 than Mr. Dondero that we've discussed, you 11 financial statements in front of me, but |
12 don't remember any individual with whom you 12 think, if | recall, we'd have to go through the
13 discussed these promissory notes prior to their 13 testimony with Mr. Moris, | believe that was
14 execution? 14 the case.
15 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 15 Q. Infact, you will recall thatin
16 ofthe question. 16 April of 2019, Mr. Dondero signed a document
17 A, Idon'trecall discussing it with 17 that extended the demand feature of two prior
18 anybody else. 18 notes to May 31, 2019. Do you recall that?
19 Q. Okay. 19 MS. DEITSCH-PEREZ: | think you
20 A. I mean, prior - 20 might -- maybe have the court reporter read
21 Q. lunderstand. 21 that back. You might have misspoke.
22 A Youknow, there was no one else - 22 (Record read.)
23 there was no one else in that meeting that | 23 MR. RUKAVINA: And | did misspeak.
24 recall with Mr. Dondero. 24 Q. Imeantto say to May 31, 2021. Do
25 Q. Now, when you established that by 25 you recall that, sir?
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2 MR.MORRIS: Objection to the form 2 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form

3 of the question. 3 ofthe question.

4 A Yes. 4 A. Sorry, | just want to make sure -

5 MR. RUKAVINA: And, Mr. Nguyen, just 5 are you asking me, did you say, was it prudent
6 so thatthe record is clear, will you please 6 for Highland to loan $7.4 million to HCMFA a

7 pull up my Exhibit Alpha 10, A10. 7 few weeks after this document was executed?
8 (Exhibit A10 marked.) 8 Q. Yes, and atatime when HCMFA's

9 Q. You don'thave this one in front of 9 liabiliies exceeded its assets.

10 you, Mr. Waterhouse? This is the one that 10 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
11 Mr. Monis used earlier. Do you see that 11 of the question.

12 document, sir? 12 A. ldon't-itisodd. |don'tknow.

13 A. Yes,ldo. 13 MR. RUKAVINA: You can take this
14 Q. And this is what you were testifying 14 exhibit down, Mr. Nguyen.

15 about before when Mr. Morris was asking you. 15 Q. Do you recall asking anyone,

16 Do you remember that? 16 Mr. Dondero or - or anyone outside as to

17 A Yes. 17 whether Highland ought to be lending

18 Q. Sohere is my question for you, 18  $7.4 million to HCMF regarding HCMF's

19 Mr. Waterhouse: As the chief financial officer 19 creditworthiness?
20 of Highland, was it prudent for Highland less 20 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
21 than three weeks later to be lending 21 of the question.
22 $7.2 million to an insolvent entity that 22 A. Idon'trecall.
23 couldn't even then pay its debts back to 23 Q. Didyou receive personally any of
24 Highland? 24 that $7.4 million?
25 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form. 25 A No
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2 Q. Didyoueven- 2 MR. RUKAVINA: Pull up those notes
3 MR. MORRIS: |didn't hear that 3 again, Mr. Nguyen.

4 question, sir. 4 Q. You can have them in front of you,

5 MR. RUKAVINA: The one that he 5 Exhibit 7, Mr. Waterhouse, whatever is easier
6 answered, John, or my new one? 6 foryou. Ifyou go to your signature page, my
7 MR. MORRIS: No, no, your question, 7 question to you is, why did you not include

8 Davor. 8 your title as treasurer by your name, Frank

9 MR. RUKAVINA: | had asked him 9 Waterhouse?

10 whether he received any of the 10 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to form.
1 $7 4 milion. He said no. 1 A.  ldidn't—1didn't draft this

12 MR.MORRIS: Yeah. |thought there 12 document.

13 was aquestion after that. Maybe | was 13 Q. So you relied on whoever drafted it
14 mistaken. | apologize. 14 to draft it correctly?

15 MR. RUKAVINA: | had started a new 15 A Yes.

16 question, so here, let me start the new 16 Q. Okay. Butback then when you signed
17 question again. 17 this, did it ever cross your mind that you were
18 Q. Did you personally receive any 18 the maker on these notes?

19 direct benefit from those two notes for 19 A No
20 $7.4 milion? 20 Q. Back then when you signed this
21 A. No. 21 document, did it ever cross your mind that you
22 Q. Didyou ever personally consider 22 could be a co-obligor on these notes?
23 yourself obligated to repay either or both of 23 A. No. |didn't receive $7.4 million,
24 those notes? 24 |mean...
25 A No 25 Q. Butcanyou say that HCMFA received
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2 $7.4 milion? 2 MS. DANDENEAU: Objection to the
3 A lwould have to go back and look and 3  form.
4 check in, you know, the — the financial 4 A Yes.
5 records and the bank statements. 5 Q. Sodoyouagree with me that it's
6 MR. RUKAVINA: You can take this 6 odd - | think that is the word you used -
7 exhibit down, Mr. Nguyen. 7 that Highland would be loaning $7.4 million a
8 Q. Mr. Waterhouse, I'm not trying to be 8 few weeks after that extension to an entity
9 asmart-ass, but if the law says that because 9 whose liabilities exceeded its assets, and you
10 of the way that you signed this promissory 10 would agree with me that it was never your
11 note, if that is what the law says, that that 11 intention to be in any way liable for these two
12 made you personally — personally liable, then 12 promissory notes; correct?
13 you would agree with me that that was never 13 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
14 your intent? 14 of the question.
15 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 15 A Sormy, you - you asked a lot there.
16 of the question. 16 MR. RUKAVINA: | will strike it and
17 A.  Thatwas never - | wouldn't sign a 17 1 will move on.
18 note and not get consideration in retum. 18 Let's go to - pull up Exhibit 9,
19 Q. So putting all other issues aside, 19 please Mr. Nguyen — Alpha 9, I'm sorry, Alpha
20 ifthe law - if the law says that you were 20 9,A9.
21 liable for those notes because of how you 21 (Exhibit A9 marked.)
22 signed them, then would you agree with me that 22 Q. Sir, take a moment to look at this,
23 these notes are a mistake? 23 but this is an email, and you will see attached
24 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 24 July 31, 2020 affiliate notes.
25  ofthe question. 25 Do you see that attachment?
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2 A Yes. 2 schedule of assets. What exhibit is this
3 Q. Okay. And do you see an entry for 3 of ours, Mr. Nguyen?
4 Highland Capital Management Fund Advisors? 4 MR.NGUYEN: Thisis A11.
5 MR. MORRIS: I'm sorry, hold on. 5 MR. RUKAVINA: Oh, this will be A11.
6  Where are you looking? 6 (Exhibit A11 marked.)
7 MR. RUKAVINA: Last page, John. 7 Q. Youdon'thave this in front of you,
8 MR. MORRIS: Is it the page on the 8 Mr. Waterhouse?
9  screen? 9 A Okay.
10 MR. RUKAVINA: Oh, I'm sorry. 10 Q. This is what Mr. Morris used
1 Mr. Nguyen justdid it. Yes, the last page 11 earlier. Do you remember looking at this with
12 there. 12 Mr. Monis?
13 MR. MORRIS: Thank you. 13 A Yes.
14 Q. Do you see an entry there for HCMFA? 14 MR. RUKAVINA: You might have to
15 A Yes. 15 zoomin alitle. Okay.
16 Q. About$10.5 million. 16 Q. Now,|see Affiliate Note A, B, and
17 Do you see that? 17 C.
18 A. Ido. 18 Do you have any recollection as to
19 Q. And, now, do you have any 19 why the names of the affiliates are omitted?
20 explanation for why if HCMFA owed $7.4 miliion, 20 A. ldon't. |testified earlier that,
21 plus the 5.3 million that had been extended, 21 you know, the team worked with DSI in providing
22 why that amount was only 10.5 million? 22 these. |-1don't—Idon'tknow.
23 A ldontknow. Okay. 23 Q. Canwe deduce —is it logical to
24 MR. RUKAVINA: Close this one and 24 deduce that Affiliate Note A would be NexPoint
25 pull up, Mr. Nguyen, the schedules, 25 given its size of $24.5 million?
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2 MR.MORRIS: Objection to the form 2 Q [ltwould be $12.7 million. Is that

3 ofthe question. 3 generally comrect?

4 A Imean,it—itisa—itis—it 4 A. Sorry, the amounts were 7.4, 5.3.

5 is approximate. 5 Q. Yes.

6 Q. WEell, can we - can we deduce - or, 6 A.  Okay. Yeah, that—that—Ican

7 I'm sory, strike that. 7 do that math, yes.

8 Can you, sitting here today, 8 Q. Do you have any explanation or any
9 logically conclude that Affiliate Note B or C 9 understanding of why there is no similar entry
10 represents HCMFA? 10 listed here on the schedule of assets filed

1 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 11 with the bankruptcy court?

12 of the question. 12 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form
13 A. Idon'tknow. Idon'tknow. | 13 of the question.

14 can't 14 A. ldon'tknow. We have to look at

15 Q. Okay. As of the petition date, we 15 the supporting schedules, like | talked about
16 have established that HCMFA, under promissory 16 other — presumably there is — there is a

17 notes, owed $7.4 milion and $5.3 million to 17 build to the schedule that would provide the
18 the debtor; correct? 18 detail.

19 MR. MORRIS: Objection to the form 19 Q. Well that was going to be my next
20 of the question. 20 question. You anticipated it.
21 A Yes. 21 MR. RUKAVINA: Yo